
1

Democratic Services
White Cliffs Business Park
Dover
Kent  CT16 3PJ

Telephone: (01304) 821199
Fax: (01304) 872453
DX: 6312
Minicom: (01304) 820115
Website: www.dover.gov.uk
e-mail: democraticservices

@dover.gov.uk

18 September 2017

Dear Councillor

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a meeting of the GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE will be 
held in the HMS Brave Room at these Offices on Thursday 28 September 2017 at 6.00 pm 
when the following business will be transacted. 

Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Jemma Duffield 
on (01304) 872305 or by e-mail at jemma.duffield@dover.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive 

Governance Committee Membership:

P G Heath (Chairman)
D Hannent (Vice-Chairman)
B W Butcher
P I Carter
M I Cosin
M R Eddy
S J Jones

AGENDA

1   APOLOGIES  

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2   APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

To note appointments of Substitute Members.
 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Page 4)

Public Document Pack



2

To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 
transacted on the agenda. 
 

4   MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 8)

To confirm the attached Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 29 June 
2017.
 

5   QUARTERLY INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT  (Pages 9 - 28)

To consider the attached report of the Head of Audit Partnership.
 

6   TREASURY MANAGEMENT QUARTER ONE REPORT 2017/18  (Pages 29 - 45)

To consider the attached report of the Director of Finance, Housing and Community.
 

7   AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT  (Pages 46 - 78)

To consider the report from Grant Thornton (to follow).
 

8   FINANCIAL OUTTURN REPORT 2016/17  (Pages 79 - 91)

To consider the attached report of the Director of Finance, Housing and Community.
 

9   STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016/17  (Pages 92 - 196)

To consider the attached report of the Director of Finance, Housing and Community.
 

10   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  (Page 197)

The recommendation is attached.

MATTERS WHICH THE MANAGEMENT TEAM SUGGESTS SHOULD BE 
CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE AS THE REPORT CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION AS DEFINED WITHIN PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS INDICATED AND IN RESPECT OF WHICH 
THE PROPER OFFICER CONSIDERS THAT THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
MAINTAINING THE EXEMPTION OUTWEIGHS THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
DISCLOSING THE INFORMATION
 

11   ANNUAL DEBT COLLECTION REPORT - EAST KENT SERVICES  (Pages 198 - 
210)

To consider the report of the Director of Finance, Housing and Community and 
Dominic Whelan, Director of Shared Services, EKS (to follow).
 

12   ANNUAL DEBT COLLECTION REPORT - EAST KENT HOUSING  (Pages 211 - 
216)

To consider the report of the Director of Finance, Housing and Community and 
Deborah Upton, Chief Executive, East Kent Housing (to follow).
 



3

Access to Meetings and Information

 Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 
during the consideration of exempt or confidential information.

 All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is disabled access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and a disabled toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber.

 Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes are normally published within five working 
days of each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are available for public 
inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.  

 If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Jemma Duffield, 
Democratic Support Officer, telephone: (01304) 872305 or email: 
jemma.duffield@dover.gov.uk for details.

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request.



Declarations of Interest

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)

Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 

disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 

that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The 

Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 

matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 

vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 

do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 

DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 

dispensations, withdraw from the meeting.

Other Significant Interest (OSI)

Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 

nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 

commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 

must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 

granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 

permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 

same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 

taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 

procedure rules.

Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI)

Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 

transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 

under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 

the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration.

Note to the Code: 

Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 

bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 

involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 

affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 

financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 

Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 

relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 

some cases a DPI.

4

Agenda Item No 3



Minutes of the meeting of the GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE held at the Council 
Offices, Whitfield on Thursday, 29 June 2017 at 6.05 pm.

Present:

Chairman: Councillor P G Heath

Councillors: B W Butcher
P I Carter
M R Eddy
B Gardner (as substitute for Councillor M I Cosin)
D Hannent
S J Jones

Officers: Director of Governance
Director of Finance, Housing and Community
Head of Finance
Head of Audit Partnership (East Kent Audit Partnership)
Deputy Head of Audit Partnership (East Kent Audit Partnership)
Democratic Support Officer

1 APOLOGIES 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor M I Cosin.

2 APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 

It was noted that, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4, Councillor B 
Gardner had been appointed as substitute for Councillor M I Cosin.

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest made by Members.

4 MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 6 April 2017 were approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

5 QUARTERLY INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT 

The Deputy Header of Audit Partnership (East Kent Audit Partnership) introduced 
the Quarterly Internal Update report. There had been three internal audits 
undertaken during the period of which two were classified as providing Substantial 
Assurance and one as Substantial/Reasonable Assurance. 

Public Document Pack

5

Agenda Item No 4



Councillor Gardner queried the Planning Applications, Income and s106 
Agreements Audit and the figures reported for the number of applications received 
and income over the last three years. It was his understanding that higher figures for 
the same information were reported to the Scrutiny (Policy and Performance) 
Committee and would in turn impact on the performance indicators. The Deputy 
Head of Audit Partnership would query this with the planning officers and advise the 
committee of their response.

It was also noted that the percentage of appeals against planning decisions which 
were successful for the applicant had significantly increased and concerns were 
raised surrounding the cost and staffing implications of the increase. The Director of 
Governance advised Members that this had been discussed at some length at 
Scrutiny (Policy and Performance) Committee and Cabinet meetings and that the 
reports to those meetings provided those figures.

There had been seven follow-up reviews completed during the period of which none 
were re-classified as Limited. An update was provided to Members that EKS – PCI 
DDC, which had previously been classified as Limited Assurance, had recently been 
reviewed and finalised and received Reasonable Assurance.

RESOLVED: That the Quarterly Internal Audit Update reported be noted.

6 ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 

The Head of Audit Partnership reported to the Committee a summary of the work 
completed by the East Kent Audit Partnership (EKAP) together with details of the 
performance of the EKAP against its targets for the year ending 31 March 2017.

The original audit plan for 2016-17 included a total of 24 projects. A total of five 
projects were pushed back in the overall strategic plan to all allow four higher risk 
projects to come forward. The total number of projects undertaken was 23, with 
seven being work in progress at the year-end to be finalised in April.

There were no fundamental issues of note arising from the audits and follow ups 
undertaken in 2016-17 and no reviews were showing a limited assurance after 
follow up. From the work undertaken EKAP assessed the overall system of internal 
control in operation throughout 2016-17 as providing reasonable assurance.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

7 PROGRESS REPORT AND UPDATE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 

The Committee was asked to consider the Progress Report and Update - Year 
Ended 31 March 2017 of Grant Thornton (External Audit). In the absence of a 
representative from Grant Thornton the Director of Governance guided Members to 
the report and page 37 which provided a summary of their progress of work 
completed as at March 2017.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

6



8 TREASURY MANAGEMENT YEAR END REPORT 

The Head of Finance introduced the Treasury Management Year End report to the 
Committee which covered the outturn for the year ended March 2017. Members 
were advised that new treasury advisers had been appointed, Arlingclose Ltd, from 
1st April 2017 to explore alternative treasury management options. 

The Council’s in-house investment portfolio totalled £55.7m and the Council had 
remained within its Treasury Management and Prudential Code guidelines during 
the period. The Council’s investment return for the year was 0.50%, which 
outperformed the benchmark by 0.18%, and had remained within budget.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

9 2016/17 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE ASSURANCE STATEMENT AND REVISED 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE LOCAL CODE 

The Director of Governance presented the Annual Governance Assurance 
Statement 2016/17 and Revised Corporate Governance Local Code report to the 
Committee. 

The Annual Governance Assurance Statement was an annual review to look at the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control and the extent, to which the Council 
complied with its own Local Code of Corporate Governance. 

As a result of a recently published revised Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework (2016 Edition) a new Corporate Governance Local Code 
had been written to reaffirm the Council’s commitment to the principles of good 
governance which, with recommendations from the Governance committee, Cabinet 
and Council would be requested to adopt.

It was suggested by Councillor M R Eddy that a Reputational Risk should be 
included within the Risk Management Key Risk Areas as harm to the council’s 
reputation could impact on the running of the business and the ability to function 
effectively. In addition, inappropriate comments about councillors had been inputted 
by the public onto the planning portal website and that this could also harm the 
Council’s reputation. The Director of Governance advised that all departments ran 
training sessions on the holding of personal data and that the Head of Regeneration 
and Development would be asked to review this as part of the department’s training.

RESOLVED: (a) That the Annual Governance Assurance Statement alongside 
the 2016/17 Statement of Accounts be accepted.

(b) That the Committee recommend to Council that the revised 
Corporate Governance Local Code, which reflects the 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
Framework (2016 Edition), with the addition of the following 
text on page 29, be adopted: 

7



IMPACT
Key Risk 
Areas

High Medium Low

Reputational Council 
unable to 
function 
effectively as 
public and 
partners have 
lost trust 
and/or 
respect

Loss of 
confidence in 
the Council

Loss of 
confidence in 
individual 
services

The meeting ended at 6.40 pm.

8



Subject: QUARTERLY INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT

Meeting and Date: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28 SEPTEMBER 2017

Report of: Christine Parker – Head of Audit Partnership

Decision Type: Non-key

Classification: UNRESTRICTED

Purpose of the report: This report includes the summary of the work completed by the East 
Kent Audit Partnership since the last Governance Committee 
meeting, together with details of the performance of the EKAP to the 
30th June 2017

Recommendation: That Members note the update report.

1. Summary

This report includes the summary of the work completed by the East Kent Audit 
Partnership since the last Governance 30th June 2017.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 For each Audit review, management has agreed a report, and where appropriate, an 
Action Plan detailing proposed actions and implementation dates relating to each 
recommendation. Reports continue to be issued in full to each member of Corporate 
Management Team, as well as an appropriate manager for the service reviewed. 

2.2 Follow-up reviews are performed at an appropriate time, according to the status of 
the recommendation, timescales for implementation of any agreed actions and the 
risk to the Council.

2.3 An Assurance Statement is given to each area reviewed. The assurance statements 
are linked to the potential level of risk, as currently portrayed in the Council’s risk 
assessment process. The assurance rating given may be Substantial, Reasonable, 
Limited or No assurance.

2.4 Those services with either Limited or No Assurance are monitored, and brought back 
to Committee until a subsequent review shows sufficient improvement has been 
made to raise the level of Assurance to either Reasonable or Substantial. A list of 
those services currently with such levels of assurance is attached as Annex 2 to the 
EKAP report.

2.5 The purpose of the Council’s Governance Committee is to provide independent 
assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated 
control environment, independent review of the Authority’s financial and non-financial 
performance to the extent that it affects the Authority’s exposure to risk and weakens 
the control environment, and to oversee the financial reporting process.

2.6 To assist the Committee meet its terms of reference with regard to the internal 
control environment an update report is regularly produced on the work of internal 
audit. The purpose of this report is to detail the summary findings of completed audit 

9

Agenda Item No 5



reports and follow-up reviews since the report submitted to the last meeting of this 
Committee.

SUMMARY OF WORK

2.7 There have been six Internal Audit reports that have been completed during the 
period, of which three reviews were classified as providing Substantial assurance, 
one as Reasonable Assurance, and one with a split assurance level of 
Substantial/Limited. Additionally, there was one assignment for which an assurance 
level is not applicable as it comprised of quarterly housing benefit testing.

2.8 In addition six follow-up reviews have been completed during the period, which are 
detailed in section 3 of the quarterly update report.

2.9 For the three-month period to 30th June 2017, 58.6 chargeable days were delivered 
against the planned target of 260.95, which equates to 22% plan completion.

3 Resource Implications

3.1 There are no additional financial implications arising directly from this report.  The 
costs of the audit work will be met from the Financial Services 2017-18 revenue 
budgets.

3.2 The financial performance of the EKAP is currently on target at the present time.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Internal Audit update report from the Head of the East Kent Audit 
Partnership.

Background Papers

 Internal Audit Annual Plan 2017-18 - Previously presented to and approved at the 
6th April 2017 Governance Committee meeting.

 Internal Audit working papers - Held by the East Kent Audit Partnership.

Contact Officer:  Christine Parker, Head of Audit Partnership 

10



APPENDIX 1

 
INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT FROM THE HEAD OF THE EAST KENT AUDIT 

PARTNERSHIP. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
 
1.1 This report includes the summary of the work completed by the East Kent Audit 

Partnership since the last Governance Committee meeting, together with details of 
the performance of the EKAP to the 30th June 2017.

2. SUMMARY OF REPORTS:
  

             Service / Topic Assurance level No. of 
Recs.

2.1 Homelessness Substantial

C
H
M
L

0
0
1
1

2.2 EK Services - Housing Benefit Subsidy Substantial

C
H
M
L

0
0
0
0

2.3 EK Services - Housing Benefit Payments Substantial

C
H
M
L

0
0
0
1

2.4 EKHR – Payroll & Benefits in Kind Substantial / Limited

C
H
M
L

0
1
2
0

2.5 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Reasonable

C
H
M
L

0
0
1
2

2.6 EK Services – Housing Benefit Quarterly Testing 
(Quarter 4 of 2016-17 and Quarter 1 of 2017-18) Not Applicable

2.1 Homelessness – Substantial Assurance.
 
2.1.1 Audit Scope

To provide assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the procedures and 
controls established to ensure that the Council deals fairly and efficiently with all 
homelessness applications and provides advice and/or housing accommodation 

11



APPENDIX 1

where appropriate, whilst complying with the Council’s Homelessness Strategy and 
Policies.

2.1.2 Summary of Findings

Households experiencing, or threatened with homelessness are often trapped in 
cycles of deprivation that impact on their health, emotional well-being and life 
chances. The effects on children within households experiencing or threatened with 
homelessness can be life-long.  Many homeless households are ‘hidden’ as they may 
have access to some sort of shelter, but lack a stable, long term, settled home. 
Homelessness can also have significant cost implications for local housing authorities 
and their partners. 

During 2016-17 the Housing Options team made determinations on 268 homeless 
applications. This does not include the 274 households who presented themselves as 
homeless but with assistance from the Housing Options Team, were prevented from 
becoming so. This compares to the preceding years as follows:

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
No. of homelessness determinations 194 244 268

No. of households presenting 
themselves as homeless

209 243 274

Net cost of housing homeless families Actual 
£452k

Budget 
£400k

Actual 
£518k

Budget
£421k

Actual 
£751k

Budget
£522k

The primary findings giving rise to the Substantial Assurance opinion in this area are 
as follows:

 The Council has an approved homeless prevention strategy and a local action 
plan;

 There is an effective ‘Out of Hours’ service available;
 The Council has numerous options for assisting those making a homeless 

application including emergency accommodation, short term housing and the 
rent deposit bond scheme, and;

 Income and expenditure is monitored.

Scope for improvement was however identified in the following areas:

 Ensure the decision to not collect from the household the shortfall between 
housing benefit and the cost of the accommodation is correctly authorised, and;

 A relatively minor recommendation is to remove old strategies from the Council’s 
website.

2.2 EK Services – Housing Benefit Subsidy - Substantial Assurance

2.2.1 Audit Scope

To provide assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the processes and 
procedures in place to ensure that the Council completes the Housing Benefit 

12



APPENDIX 1

Subsidy return accurately and seeks to maximise the amount of re-imbursement 
payable to the authority in respect of the Housing Benefit payments which have been 
made to the benefit claimants within the district.

2.2.2 Summary of Findings

Housing Benefit Subsidy is the grant provided by the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) for the authorities to process and pay housing benefit to claimants 
across each of the three districts. An annual claim is submitted by each authority to 
the DWP that is verified and signed off by the external auditors. For 2016/17 the 
housing benefit subsidy claim for each authority was approximately: 

 Canterbury City Council £46.3 million pounds.
 Dover District Council £38.1 million pounds.
 Thanet District Council £64.2 million pounds.

The primary findings giving rise to the Substantial Assurance opinion in this area are 
as follows:

 Established four weekly processes are in place to monitor the subsidy claim and 
carry out any adjustments that are needed to ensure that the subsidy figures are 
fully maximised.

 Supporting guidance and training is in place for the officers responsible for 
carrying out the four weekly processes and preparing the annual subsidy claim at 
each of the authorities.

 The 2016/17 subsidy claims have been submitted to the DWP and will be verified 
by the external auditors.

 2.3 EK Services – Housing Benefit Payments – Substantial Assurance

2.3.1 Audit Scope

To ensure that the processes and procedures established by EK Services are 
sufficient to provide the level of service required by the partner authorities of 
Canterbury City Council, Dover District Council and Thanet District Council and 
incorporate relevant internal controls regarding the payments of Housing Benefit. 

2.3.2 Summary of Findings

EK Services provides housing benefit services to 37,285 claimants cross Canterbury, 
Dover and Thanet Councils. In 2016/17 a total of £148.8m of housing benefits 
payments were distributed to claimants and landlords in the private rent sector and 
public rent sector. 

The primary findings giving rise to the Substantial Assurance opinion in this area are 
as follows:

 Policies and procedures clearly set out roles and responsibilities in respect of 
housing benefit assessment and payment;

 A sample of 90 payments across the three Councils were correctly administered 
to a mixture of claimants, landlords and third parties;

 The coding and reconciliation controls were well established and correctly and 
consistently employed;

 System based controls and management reports were well utilised; and

13



APPENDIX 1

 No fraud or error was detected during the samples of walkthrough testing or 
substantive testing carried out.

Scope for improvement was however identified in the following areas:

 The physical security of claim forms stored before they are sent for shredding 
should be improved at CCC.

 
2.4 EKHR – Payroll & Benefits in Kind – Substantial Assurance

2.4.1 Audit Scope

To ensure that the payroll service administered by EKHR on behalf of Canterbury, 
Dover and Thanet Councils, including EK Services is adequately controlled to 
ensure;

Payroll 
that the right people are getting paid the right amounts at the right time. That all 
statutory requirements such as income tax and national insurance are complied with.   

Benefits In Kind
that the correct regulatory requirements are being adhered to in relation to the 
benefits in kind that are being provided to the officers and members.

2.4.2 Summary of Findings

The payroll process was brought in house in November 2015 when the contract with 
Kent County Council ended. EKHR provides the payroll service and currently pays on 
average 1770 employees and councillors approximately £2.6 million pounds net 
salaries for the three authorities each month.  

Payroll - Management can place Substantial Assurance on the system of internal 
controls in operation for payroll processing. 

The primary finding giving rise to the Substantial Assurance opinion in this area is as 
follows:

 Established processes are in place for the monthly payrolls to be carried out in a 
timely fashion thus ensuring that employees and councillors are paid on time. 

 Staff responsible for processing the monthly payrolls have a very good 
knowledge base of payroll and the supporting legislation and are able to provide 
responses to questions raised by employees and statutory bodies. 

 They have developed good relationships with the managers across the 
authorities for dealing with payroll issues.  

Scope for improvement was however identified in the following areas:

 To assist in performance management the number of payroll errors broken down 
into those that are due to incorrect information given by managers for processing 
and those that are due to incorrect payroll processing should be considered.

 The good practice for passwords to be regularly changed is not active for 
Managers and employees with access to the iTrent self-service system.   

 

14



APPENDIX 1

Benefits In Kind - Management can place Substantial Assurance on the system of 
internal controls in operation at Canterbury City Council and EKHR for the processing 
of the P11d`s and other supporting documentation and Limited Assurance for both 
Dover and Thanet District Councils in respect of ensuring that where applicable the 
payroll exemptions are now in place.

The primary finding giving rise to the Substantial Assurance opinion in this area is as 
follows:

 Established processes are in place at Canterbury City Council to ensure that 
payroll exemptions are reviewed on a regular basis and that P11d information 
has been submitted when applicable to HMRC.

 East Kent Human Resources have completed and submitted the applicable 
documentation for the P11d`s and Class 1A National Insurance Contributions in 
respect of Dover District Council. 

Scope for improvement was however identified in the following areas:

 The previous audit report in June 2014 highlighted an issue in ensuring that the 
payroll exemptions are reviewed on a regular basis. Resolution rests with it being 
determined who will carry this out for both Dover and Thanet councils.  

2.5 Anti-Fraud & Corruption – Reasonable Assurance:

2.5.1 Audit Scope

To provide assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the procedures and 
controls established to prevent fraud and corruption.

2.5.2 Summary of Findings

Local authorities are at risk from a wide range of fraud.  Known fraud risks that 
remain significant to local authorities are tenancy, procurement, payroll, council tax, 
grants, internal, and identity fraud.  Emerging and increasing fraud risks to local 
authorities are business rates, right to buy, money laundering, insurance, disabled 
facility grants, local enterprise partnerships, cyber dependent crime and cyber 
enabled fraud.  

CiPFA published its Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 
in October 2014. The five key elements of the code are to:

 Acknowledge the responsibility of the governing body for countering fraud and 
corruption;

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks;
 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy;
 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and
 Take action in response to fraud and corruption.

In early 2016 the Local Government Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy was 
updated to produce a forward look for 2016-2019.  This extends the earlier 
requirement to transform counter fraud and corruption performance over the next 
three years and introduces the six C’s; Culture, Capability; Capacity: Competence; 
Communication and Collaboration.

15



APPENDIX 1

The primary findings giving rise to the Reasonable Assurance opinion in this area are 
as follows:

 The Council has an Anti-Fraud and Corruption policy and supporting polices in 
place;

 Annual fraud reports are produced to monitor the level and types of fraud being 
investigated;

 Fraud is reported to the Section 151 and the Monitoring Officer;
 The Council participates in national and sectoral initiatives, such as data 

matching, to detect fraud and;
 The Council publicises successful fraud investigations. 

Scope for improvement was however identified as follows:

 More anti-fraud resource is required in common and emerging fraud related 
areas. One of the five CIPFA Code of Practice key principles is to provide 
resources to support the counter fraud policy; however this responsibility is not 
currently being discharged.

 Providing some relevant anti-fraud training for Officers, Members and Procuring 
Officers would be useful.

2.6   EK Services – Housing Benefit Quarterly Testing (Quarter 4 of 2016-17 and 
Quarter 1 of 2017-18):

2.6.1 Background:

Over the course of the 2016/17 and 2017-18 financial years the East Kent Audit 
Partnership has been completing a sample check of Council Tax, Rent Allowance 
and Rent Rebate and Local Housing Allowance benefit claims. 

2.6.2 Findings:

For the fourth quarter of the 2016/17 financial year (January to March 2017) and the 
first quarter of the 2017-18 financial year (April to June 2017) random samples of 
claims including new and change of circumstances of each benefit type were 
selected by randomly selecting the various claims for verification. 

A fail is categorised as an error that impacts on the benefit calculation. However, data 
quality errors are also shown but if they do not impact on the benefit calculation then 
for reporting purposes the claim will be recorded as a pass.      

2.6.3 Audit Conclusion:

2016/17 Quarter 4 - For this quarter twenty benefit claims were checked and of these 
one had a financial error that impacted on the benefit calculation (5%). In this 
instance the weekly rent figure had been calculated incorrectly. 

For 2016/17 a total of 80 benefit claims have been checked of which three (3.75%) 
had a financial error that impacted on the benefit calculation. In all three instances 
the rent figure had been calculated incorrectly.

16



APPENDIX 1

2017/18 Quarter 1 - For this quarter twenty benefit claims were checked and of these 
two had a financial error that impacted on the benefit calculation (10%) and three had 
a data quality error (15%) which did not impact on the financial calculation. 

3.0 FOLLOW UP OF AUDIT REPORT ACTION PLANS:

3.1 As part of the period’s work, six follow up reviews have been completed of those 
areas previously reported upon to ensure that the recommendations previously made 
have been implemented, and the internal control weaknesses leading to those 
recommendations have been mitigated.  Those completed during the period under 
review are shown in the following table.

Service/ Topic Original 
Assurance 

level

Revised 
Assurance 

level

Original 
Number 
of Recs

No of Recs 
Outstanding

a)
Data Protection, FOI 
and Records 
Management

Reasonable Substantial

C
H
M
L

0
3
3
1

C
H
M
L

0
0
0
0

b)

Budgetary Control, 
Main Accounting 
System & Treasury 
Management

Substantial Substantial

C
H
M
L

0
0
2
2

C
H
M
L

0
0
0
0

c)
Let Commercial 
Properties and 
Concessions

Reasonable Reasonable

C
H
M
L

0
1
1
0

C
H
M
L

0
1
0
0

d) Playgrounds Limited Reasonable

C
H
M
L

0
4
7
1

C
H
M
L

0
0
1
0

e) EK Services – PCI-
DSS Limited Reasonable 

C
H
M
L

0
3
1
0

C
H
M
L

0
1
0
0

f) EK Services ICT 
Disaster Recovery

Substantial/ 
Reasonable

Substantial/
Reasonable

C
H
M
L

0
5
1
1

C
H
M
L

0
0
1
0

3.2 Details of each of the individual high priority recommendations outstanding after 
follow-up are included at Annex 1 and on the grounds that these recommendations 
have not been implemented by the dates originally agreed with management, they 
are now being escalated for the attention of the s.151 Officer and Members of the 
Governance Committee.

17



APPENDIX 1

The purpose of escalating outstanding high-risk matters is to try to gain support for 
any additional resources (if required) to resolve the risk, or to ensure that risk 
acceptance or tolerance is approved at an appropriate level.  

 
4.0 WORK-IN-PROGRESS:

4.1 During the period under review, work has also been undertaken on the following 
topics, which will be reported to this Committee at future meetings:, Officer Code of 
Conduct, Local Code of Corporate Governance, Scheme of Officer Delegations, 
External Funding Protocol, CCTV, CSO Compliance, and Port Health.

5.0 CHANGES TO THE AGREED AUDIT PLAN:

5.1 The 2017-18 Audit plan was agreed by Members at the meeting of this Committee on 
6th April 2017.

5.2 The Head of the Audit Partnership meets on a quarterly basis with the Section 151 
Officer to discuss any amendments to the plan. Members of the Committee will be 
advised of any significant changes through these regular update reports. Minor 
amendments have been made to the plan during the course of the year as some high 
profile projects or high-risk areas have been requested to be prioritised at the 
expense of putting back or deferring to a future year some lower risk planned 
reviews. The detailed position regarding when resources have been applied and or 
changed are shown as Annex 3.

6.0 FRAUD AND CORRUPTION:
 
6.1 There were no other new or recently reported instances of suspected fraud or 

irregularity that required either additional audit resources or which warranted a 
revision of the audit plan at this point in time.

7.0 INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE 
 
7.1 For the three-month period to 30th June 2017, 58.6 chargeable days were delivered 

against the planned target of 260.95, which equates to 22% plan completion.
 
7.2 The financial performance of the EKAP is currently on target at the present time.
 
7.3 As part of its commitment to continuous improvement and following discussions with 

the s.151 Officer Client Group, the EKAP has improved on the range of performance 
indicators it records and measures. The performance against each of these 
indicators is attached as Annex 4. 

7.4 The EKAP introduced an electronic client satisfaction questionnaire, which is used 
across the partnership.  The satisfaction questionnaires are sent out at the 
conclusion of each audit to receive feedback on the quality of the service.  Current 
feedback arising from the customer satisfaction surveys is featured in the Balanced 
Scorecard attached as Annex 4.

.
Attachments
Annex 1 Summary of High priority recommendations outstanding after follow-up.
Annex 2 Summary of services with Limited / No Assurances
Annex 3  Progress to 30th June 2017 against the agreed 2017/18 Audit Plan.
Annex 4  EKAP Balanced Scorecard of Performance Indicators to 30th June 2017.
Annex 5   Assurance statements

18



SUMMARY OF HIGH PRIORITY RECOMMENDATIONS OUTSTANDING OR IN PROGRESS AFTER FOLLOW-UP – ANNEX 1

Original Recommendation Agreed Management Action, Responsibility 
and Target Date

Manager’s Comment on Progress Towards 
Implementation.

Let Commercial Properties and Concessions:
Ensure that the Asset Management Plan is 
updated, approved and published on the 
intranet as soon as practically possible but 
not later than December 2016. 

The AMP will be drafted and presented to 
Cabinet by November 2016.

Proposed Completion Date
December 2016

Responsibility
Estate Valuation Manager

Since agreeing these timescales, the focus of 
the Council AMP has changed and needs to be 
re-examined. We now need to look at why we 
hold buildings. This will require a radical rethink 
using the recently installed UNIFORM property 
management system. This system has a lot of 
potential to provide relevant information, but 
needs careful planning for the longer term.

The objectives of the AMP will need to emerge 
over time in order to create a useful working 
document. It is hoped that the AMP will be 
produced by April 2018.

Outstanding with intent to action.
EK Services – PCI-DSS:

Each Council should ensure it has the 
following controls in place to minimise the 
risk of non-compliance resulting from a 
member of staff not following protocols: -
 Regular training for all staff involved in 

taking payments;
 Compliance monitoring undertaken by 

line managers;
 Non-compliance reporting protocols to 

the Senior Information Risk Owner 
(SIRO) or PCI-DSS Compliance 

All Councils
SIROs via the CIGG will ensure suitable 
training is in place for all three Councils and 
EK Services. All remaining suggested actions 
will be considered by each of the SIROs as 
part of the consideration given to the wider 
governance arrangements suggested in the 
recommendation.
Proposed Completion Date
September 2016
Responsibility - 3x SIROs

All Councils
The CIGG is now responsible for information 
risk management. The recommendation 
contains a number of key controls that need to 
be in place once each Council has declared 
that it is compliant with the standards. 
However as each of the Councils is still 
working towards compliance this 
recommendation remains outstanding.

Recommendation Outstanding.

19



SUMMARY OF HIGH PRIORITY RECOMMENDATIONS OUTSTANDING OR IN PROGRESS AFTER FOLLOW-UP – ANNEX 1

Original Recommendation Agreed Management Action, Responsibility 
and Target Date

Manager’s Comment on Progress Towards 
Implementation.

Officer;
 Responsibilities of front line staff set 

out in job descriptions;
 Sufficient internal communication 

channels to communicate standards to 
staff;

 Use of staff briefings to raise 
awareness.

20



ANNEX 2

SERVICES GIVEN LIMITED / NO ASSURANCE LEVELS STILL TO BE REVIEWED

Service Reported to 
Committee Level of Assurance Follow-up Action Due

Performance Management March 2017 Reasonable/Limited Autumn 2017

Land Charges June 2017 Reasonable/Limited Autumn 2017

21



ANNEX 3
PROGRESS AGAINST THE AGREED 2017-18 AUDIT PLAN.

DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL:

Review
Original 
Planned 

Days

Revised 
Planned 

Days

Actual  
days to   
30-06-
2017

Status and Assurance 
Level

FINANCIAL SYSTEMS:

Car Parking & Enforcement 12 12 0.18 Work-in-Progress

Creditors & CIS 12 12 0 Work-in-Progress

External Funding Protocol 10 10 0.28 Work-in-Progress

Income 10 10 0 Quarter 3

GOVERNANCE RELATED:

Officers’ Code of Conduct 10 10 0.34 Work-in-Progress
Local Code of Corporate 
Governance 8 8 0.45 Work-in-Progress

Scheme of Officer Delegations 7 7 0.78 Work-in-Progress

Project Management 10 10 0 Work-in-Progress

Corporate Advice/CMT 2 2 1.48 Work-in-Progress 
throughout 2017-18

s.151 Meetings and support 9 9 3.19 Work-in-Progress 
throughout 2017-18

Governance Committee Meetings 
and Reports 12 12 3.73 Work-in-Progress 

throughout 2017-18
2018-19 Audit Plan Preparation and 
Meetings 9 9 0.14 Quarter 4

CONTRACT RELATED:

CSO Compliance 12 12 1.4 Work-in-Progress

Service Contract Monitoring 10 10 7.52 Work-in-Progress

SERVICE LEVEL:

Safeguarding Return to KCC 1 1 0 Quarter 3

Coastal Management 10 10 0 Quarter 4

CCTV 10 10 0 Work-in-Progress

Port Health 10 10 0.18 Work-in-Progress
Pollution, Contaminated Land, Air & 
Water Quality 10 10 0.26 Work-in-Progress

Health & Wellbeing 10 10 0 Quarter 4

22



Review
Original 
Planned 

Days

Revised 
Planned 

Days

Actual  
days to   
30-06-
2017

Status and Assurance 
Level

Grounds Maintenance 15 15 0 Quarter 4

Licensing 12 12 0 Quarter 4

Asset Management 15 15 0 Quarter 4

Phones, Mobiles & Utilities 8 8 0 Quarter 3

OTHER 

Liaison with External Auditors 1 1 0 Work-in-Progress 
throughout 2017-18

Follow-up Work 15 15 4.81 Work-in-Progress 
throughout 2017-18

FINALISATION OF 2016-17- AUDITS

Homelessness 5.93 Finalised - Substantial

Planning Applications, Income & 
s106 Agreements 3.51 Finalised – 

Substantial/Reasonable

Land Charges 7.81 Finalised – 
Reasonable/Limited

Anti-Fraud & Corruption 1.43 Finalised - Reasonable

Inward Investment 13.94 Work-in-Progress

Right to Buy

5 5.95

1.24 Work-in-Progress

Days under delivered in 2016-17 0 14.1 0 Completed

RESPONSIVE ASSURANCE:

None to date in 2017-18 0 0 0

TOTAL 255 260.95 58.6 22% as at 30th June 
2017

EAST KENT HOUSING LIMITED:

Review
Original 
Planned 

Days

Revised 
Planned 

Days

Actual days 
to 

  30-06-2017

Status and 
Assurance Level

Planned Work:

CMT/Audit Sub Ctte/EA Liaison 4 4 1.15 Work-in-progress 
throughout 2017-18

Follow-up Reviews 4 4 0.78 Work-in-progress 
throughout 2017-18

Finance Systems & ICT Controls 15 15 0 Quarter 4

23



Review
Original 
Planned 

Days

Revised 
Planned 

Days

Actual days 
to 

  30-06-2017

Status and 
Assurance Level

Data Protection & Information 
Management 12 12 0 Quarter 4

Leasehold Services 15 15 0 Quarter 4

Fire Safety 15 15 1.2 Work-in-Progress

Safeguarding Children & Vulnerable 
Groups 10 10 0.18 Work-in-Progress

Anti-Fraud & Corruption 10 10 0 Work-in-Progress

Risk Management 10 10 0.18 Work-in-Progress

Performance Management 5 5 0 Quarter 4

Complaints Monitoring 10 10 0.18 Work-in-Progress

Single System – Post 
Implementation Review 10 10 0 Quarter 4

Property Services Improvement 
Plan 20 20 0 Quarter 3/4

Days under delivered in 2016-17 7.84

Responsive Assurance:

Performance Indicator Data Quality 0 0 8.52

Total 140 147.84 12.19 8.25% at 30-06-2017

EK SERVICES:

Review
Original 
Planned 

Days

Revised 
Planned 

Days

Actual 
days to   

30/06/2017
Status and 

Assurance Level

EKS Reviews;

Housing Benefits Payments 15 15 15.34 Work in progress

DDC / TDC HB Testing 20 20 6.51 Ongoing

Business Rates 20 20  0.20 Quarter 2

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 15 15 0 Quarter 3

ICT – Data Management 15 15 0.17 Quarter 2

ICT – Procurement & Disposal 15 15 0 Quarter 3

EKHR Reviews;

Payroll 15 15 0 Quarter 3

Employee Allowances & Expenses 15 15 0 Quarter 3

24



Review
Original 
Planned 

Days

Revised 
Planned 

Days

Actual 
days to   

30/06/2017
Status and 

Assurance Level

Employee Health & Safety 15 15 0 Quarter 4

Other;

Corporate/Committee 8 8 1.29 Ongoing

Follow up 7 7 4.87 Ongoing

Days under delivered in 2016-17 17.70 17.70 Completed

Finalisation of 2016/17 Audits:

Housing Benefit Subsidy 7.23 WIP

ICT Change controls 2.03 Completed – 
Substantial

ICT Software Licensing 2.50 WIP -Draft Report

EKHR – Payroll & BIK

18.55

6.79 Completed - 
Substantial

Total 160 177.70 46.93 26.15% at 30/06/2017

25



ANNEX 4  
BALANCED SCORECARD – QUARTER 1

INTERNAL PROCESSES PERSPECTIVE:

Chargeable as % of available days 

Chargeable days as % of planned days
CCC
DDC
SDC
TDC
EKS
EKH

Overall

Follow up/ Progress Reviews;

 Issued
 Not yet due
 Now due for Follow Up

   Compliance with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)
(see Annual Report for more details)

2017-18 
Actual

Quarter 1

83%

25%
22%
22%
26%
26%
8%

22%

22
17
19

Partial

Target

80%

25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%

25%

-
-
-

Full

FINANCIAL PERSPECTIVE:

Reported Annually

 Cost per Audit Day 

 Direct Costs 

 + Indirect Costs (Recharges from Host)

 - ‘Unplanned Income’

 = Net EKAP cost (all Partners)

2017-18
 Actual

£

£

£

£

£

Original
 Budget

£309.77

£385,970

£10,530

Zero

£396,500

26



ANNEX 4  
BALANCED SCORECARD – QUARTER 1

CUSTOMER PERSPECTIVE:

Number of Satisfaction Questionnaires 
Issued;

Number of completed questionnaires 
received back;

Percentage of Customers who felt that;

 Interviews were conducted in a 
professional manner

 The audit report was ‘Good’ or 
better 

 That the audit was worthwhile.

2017-18 
Actual

Quarter 1

16

8

=  50%

100%

100%

100%

Target

100%

100%

100%

INNOVATION & LEARNING 
PERSPECTIVE:

Percentage of staff qualified to relevant 
technician level

Percentage of staff holding a relevant 
higher level qualification

Percentage of staff studying for a relevant 
professional qualification

Number of days technical training per 
FTE

Percentage of staff meeting formal CPD 
requirements (post qualification)

                                                            

2017-18 
Actual

Quarter 
1

75%

38%

14%

1.48

38%

Target

75%

38%

N/A

3.5

38%

27



ANNEX 5

20

Definition of Audit Assurance Statements & Recommendation Priorities 

Assurance Statements:

Substantial Assurance - From the testing completed during this review a sound system of 
control is currently being managed and achieved.  All of the necessary, key controls of the 
system are in place.  Any errors found were minor and not indicative of system faults. These 
may however result in a negligible level of risk to the achievement of the system objectives.

Reasonable Assurance - From the testing completed during this review most of the 
necessary controls of the system in place are managed and achieved.  There is evidence of 
non-compliance with some of the key controls resulting in a marginal level of risk to the 
achievement of the system objectives. Scope for improvement has been identified, 
strengthening existing controls or recommending new controls.

Limited Assurance - From the testing completed during this review some of the necessary 
controls of the system are in place, managed and achieved.  There is evidence of significant 
errors or non-compliance with many key controls not operating as intended resulting in a risk 
to the achievement of the system objectives. Scope for improvement has been identified, 
improving existing controls or recommending new controls. 

No Assurance - From the testing completed during this review a substantial number of the 
necessary key controls of the system have been identified as absent or weak.  There is 
evidence of substantial errors or non-compliance with many key controls leaving the system 
open to fundamental error or abuse.   The requirement for urgent improvement has been 
identified, to improve existing controls or new controls should be introduced to reduce the 
critical risk.

Priority of Recommendations Definitions:

Critical – A finding which significantly impacts upon a corporate risk or seriously impairs the 
organisation’s ability to achieve a corporate priority.  Critical recommendations also relate to 
non-compliance with significant pieces of legislation which the organisation is required to 
adhere to and which could result in a financial penalty or prosecution. Such 
recommendations are likely to require immediate remedial action and are actions the Council 
must take without delay.

High – A finding which significantly impacts upon the operational service objective of the 
area under review. This would also normally be the priority assigned to recommendations 
relating to the (actual or potential) breach of a less prominent legal responsibility or 
significant internal policies; unless the consequences of non-compliance are severe. High 
priority recommendations are likely to require remedial action at the next available 
opportunity or as soon as is practical and are recommendations that the Council must take.

Medium – A finding where the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of - or where there is 
a weakness within - its own policies, procedures or internal control measures, but which 
does not directly impact upon a strategic risk, key priority, or the operational service 
objective of the area under review.  Medium priority recommendations are likely to require 
remedial action within three to six months and are actions which the Council should take.

Low – A finding where there is little if any risk to the Council or the recommendation is of a 
business efficiency nature and is therefore advisory in nature.  Low priority 
recommendations are suggested for implementation within six to nine months and generally 
describe actions the Council could take.

28



Dover District Council

Subject: TREASURY MANAGEMENT QUARTER ONE REPORT 2017/18

Meeting and Date: GOVERNANCE  28 SEPTEMBER 2017

Report of: Mike Davis – Director of Finance, Housing & Community

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Mike Connolly – Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources and Performance

Decision Type: Non-Key Decision

Classification: UNRESTRICTED

Purpose of the report: To provide details of the Council’s treasury management for the 
quarter ended 30th June 2017 (Q1) and an update of activity to date.

Recommendation: That the report is received

1. Summary

The Council’s investment return for the June quarter was 0.45%, which outperformed 
the benchmark1 by 0.27%.  Actual interest and dividends income for the quarter was 
£77k, which is in line with the year-to-date (YTD) budget of £76k.  The Council’s 
projected investment return for 2017/18 is £370k, which is £65k better than the 
original budget estimate of £305k.  This improvement is due to the estimated 
dividend from new investments in the CCLA Property Fund, which will compensate 
for the general shortfall in interest rates elsewhere, as rates received on fixed term 
deposits and call accounts have continued to fall since the reduction of the base rate 
to 0.25%. 

As of 1st April 2017, the Council has appointed Arlingclose Limited as its treasury 
advisors, and they have proposed various investment options that would help to 
improve returns and spread risk.  These are currently being explored and evaluated, 
and a briefing will be given to the Investment Advisory Group (IAG) on 4th October to 
discuss the options as part of the Council’s due diligence process.  Pending this 
briefing, the majority of investments maturing from June 2017 onwards have not been 
reinvested, but have been kept in short-term call accounts and money market funds, 
with the exception of £6 million invested in the CCLA property fund (in £3m tranches 
on 30th June and 31st July), which is within the limit set in the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement (TMSS) approved by members.  Additionally, we have loaned 
£5m to Telford & Wreckin Council for 3 months from 31st August at 0.25%.

The Council remained within its Treasury Management and Prudential Code 
guidelines during the period, with the exception of briefly exceeding the £8m 
investment limit with the Bank of Scotland from 19th – 29th June 2017, when a 
number of deposits matured at the same time.  However, the funds stood at a 
maximum of £8.463m for 11 days only, in an instant access call account.  

1 The “benchmark” is the interest rate against which performance is assessed. DDC use the London 
Inter-Bank Bid Rate or LIBID, as its benchmark. 

29

Agenda Item No 6



2. Introduction and Background

CIPFA (the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) issued the 
revised Code of Practice for Treasury Management in November 2011; it 
recommends that members should be updated on treasury management activities at 
least twice a year, but preferably quarterly. This report therefore ensures this council 
is implementing best practice in accordance with the Code.

Council adopted the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) on 1st March 
2017 as part of the 2017/18 Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan.

In order to comply with the CIPFA code referred to above, a brief summary is 
provided below and Appendix 1 contains a full report from the Council’s Treasury 
Management Advisors, Arlingclose. 

Members are asked to note that in order to minimise the resource requirements in 
producing this report, Arlingclose’s report has been taken verbatim. Treasury 
advisors generally use a more journalistic style than is used by our officers, but in 
order to avoid changing the meaning or sense of Arlingclose’s work, this has not 
been edited out.

As at 30th June 2017, the Council’s investment portfolio totalled £69.3m (see 
Appendix 2).  However, some of this is shorter term, as significant funds sitting in the 
Dover Regeneration and Economic Development Reserve are earmarked for 
spending during 2017/18 and 2018/19 on the new Dover leisure centre, town hall 
refurbishment and other approved capital projects.  After these approved 
commitments, there should be £20m - £25m underlying core funds available for 
longer term investment, while the remainder of funds will need to be kept in shorter 
term instruments and bank accounts for cash-flow requirements and future capital 
projects (subject to project appraisals). 

Three fixed deposits matured in June totalling £12.4m, of which £3m was invested 
with the CCLA property fund on 30th June, the rest being deposited in call accounts.

The post-Brexit reduction in bank base rate, the on-going pressure on interest rates 
generally, and the prospect of “bail in” risk with major banks and building societies, 
continue to place pressure on returns and undermine the notion that such 
investments will remain “low risk” in the longer term.  For these reasons, alternative 
investment instruments are being considered to diversify and spread risk while 
improving returns, as recommended by our new treasury advisors, Arlingclose. 

 

3. Annual investment strategy

The investment portfolio, as at the end of June 2017, is attached at Appendix 2.  
Total balances held for investment and cash-flow purposes were £69.3m, rising to 
£72.3m at the end of August (see Appendix 4). The increase reflects normal 
cash-flow fluctuations arising from the timing of ‘major preceptor’ payments, which 
are made over twelve months, while the Council Tax receipts that fund them typically 
come in over the ten months to January and then decline.  Additionally, there will be 
a further PWLB loan instalment to pay at the end of September 2017 of £2.35m.

30



Since the end of the June quarter, seven fixed term deposits have matured totalling 
£26.5m.  The £5m deposit with Suffolk County Council matured on 10th July and was 
rolled over for another two months at 0.15%, and subsequently for a further month at 
0.15%.  A further £3m was invested in the CCLA property fund on 31st July earning 
4.2% (est.), and £5m has been deposited with Telford and Wrekin Council for 
3 months from 31st August 2017 at 0.25%.  

All other funds are currently being held in call accounts, pending a briefing to the IAG 
on 4th October.  As a result, cash-flow funds increased from £10.6m at 31st March 
2017 to £18.5m at 30th June 2017 (see Appendix 2), and then increased further to 
£31.6m by the end of August 2017 (see Appendix 4), although this will reduce due to 
approved capital spend in the coming weeks.

The Gilt holding of £1.9 million transferred to King and Shaxson following Investec’s 
withdrawal from the segregated funds market will be held until its maturity date of 
July 2018.

Economic background 

The report attached (Appendix 1) contains information up to the end of June 2017; 
since then we have received an update from Arlingclose, included below.  Please 
note that any of their references to quarters are based on calendar years:

Introduction
Commodity prices slid back over the past six months with oil falling below $45 a 
barrel before inching back up to $53.8 a barrel (data as at 11/9). The primary factor in 
the oil price fall was oversupply and a lack of belief in OPEC’s (Organisation of 
Petroleum Exporting Countries) ability to deliver on agreed production caps of 
members. 

UK Data
UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) index rose with the data print for May showing CPI 
at 2.9%, its highest since June 2013 as the fall in the value of sterling following the 
June 2016 referendum result continued to feed through into higher import prices.  
Thereafter, however, CPI has fallen back to 2.6% in July which is in line with the 
Bank of England’s estimate published in its August Inflation Report. The new inflation 
measure CPIH, which includes owner occupiers housing costs, was also 2.6%. The 
most recent labour market data for June 2017 showed that the unemployment rate 
had fallen further to 4.4%, its lowest since July 1975 but that the squeeze on real 
wages (i.e. after inflation) is intensifying with average earnings growing at 2.1%.  Q1 
and Q2 GDP data showed economic activity growing at a much slower pace of 0.2% 
and 0.3% respectively, the services sector providing the main boost to growth.  With 
the dominant services sector accounting for 79% of GDP, the strength of consumer 
spending remains vital to growth, but with household savings falling and real wage 
growth negative, there are concerns that these constraints will limit growth in the 
second half of calendar year 2017.  

Understandably, the Bank of England made no change to monetary policy at its 
meetings this year, although the vote to keep Bank Rate at 0.25% narrowed to 5-3 in 

31



June highlighting that some MPC members were more concerned about rising 
inflation than the risks to growth. 

US Data
Having raised rates in March, the US Federal Reserve made no change to monetary 
policy at the conclusion of its meeting in May. The weakness witnessed in first 
quarter US GDP of 1.2% annualised was overhauled by a more decent 2.6% 
annualised growth rate in the second quarter. The US Federal Reserve increased its 
target range of official interest rates in June for the second time in 2017 by 25bps 
(basis points) to between 1% and 1.25% and, despite US inflation hitting a soft patch 
with core CPI at 1.7%, a further similar increase is expected during the second half of 
2017.  There is also expectation that the Fed will announce at its September meeting 
its intention on unwinding the size of its balance sheet. 

Global
Geopolitical tensions escalated in August as the US and North Korea exchanged 
verbal threats over reports about enhancements in North Korea’s missile programme. 
The provocation from both sides helped wipe off nearly $1 trillion from global equity 
markets but safe-haven assets such as gold, the US dollar and the Japanese yen 
benefit. (As we write, tensions remain high, with North Korea’s threat to fire missiles 
towards Guam [which is a US naval base], their recent missile test over Japan and 
an apparent successful nuclear bomb test.)

Brexit
Prime Minister Theresa May called an unscheduled General Election in June, to 
resolve uncertainty and in the hope of gaining an enhanced mandate to enter the 
forthcoming Brexit negotiations.  The surprise result has led to a minority 
Conservative government in a confidence and supply arrangement with the 
Democratic Unionist Party. This political impasse clearly results in an enhanced level 
of political uncertainty. Although the potential for a so-called hard Brexit is now 
diminished, lack of clarity over future trading partnerships, in particular future 
customs agreements with the rest of the EU block, is denting business sentiment and 
investment. 

The reaction from the markets on the UK election’s outcome has been fairly muted, 
business confidence now hinges on the progress (or not) on Brexit negotiations, the 
ultimate ‘divorce bill’ for the exit and whether new trade treaties and customs 
arrangements are successfully concluded to the UK’s benefit.  

Interest Rates & Financial Indicators
In the face of a struggling economy and Brexit-related uncertainty, Arlingclose 
expects the Bank of England will look through periods of high inflation and maintain 
its low-for-longer stance on policy interest rates for an extended period.

Financial markets: Gilt yields displayed significant volatility over the period (data to 
11/9) with the push-pull from expectations of tapering of Quantitative Easing (QE) in 
the US and Europe and from geopolitical tensions, which also had an impact on gilts. 

32



The yield on the 5 year gilts rose from 0.35% in mid-June to 0.71% in early July, 
before falling back to 0.39% in September. The 10-year gilts rose from 0.93% to 
1.31%, then falling to 0.97% over the same period and the yield on 20-year gilts 
rising from 1.62% to 1.94% then falling back to 1.61%.

The FTSE 100 nevertheless powered away reaching a record high of 7548 in May 
but dropping off marginally to 7415 at the time of writing (9th Sep).  Money markets 
rates have remained low: 1-month, 3-month and 12-month LIBID rates have 
averaged 0.25%, 0.30% and 0.65% over the period from January to 9th September. 

Credit Ratings
Credit background: UK bank credit default swaps have continued their downward 
trend, reaching three year lows by the end of June. Bank share prices have not 
moved in any particular pattern. 

There were a few credit rating changes during the quarter. Moody’s downgraded 
Standard Chartered Bank’s long-term rating to A1 from Aa3 on the expectation that 
the bank’s profitability will be lower following management’s efforts to de-risk their 
balance sheet. The agency also affirmed Royal Bank of Scotland’s and NatWest’s 
long-term ratings at Baa1, placed Lloyds Bank’s A1 rating on review for upgrade, 
revised the outlook of Santander UK plc, and Nationwide and Coventry building 
societies from negative to stable following improvement to their asset quality, but 
downgraded the long-term rating of Leeds BS from A2 to A3. [If applicable to your 
portfolio] Moody’s downgraded the major Canadian banks’ long-term ratings on the 
agency’s expectation of a more challenging operating environment for the banks for 
the remainder of 2017 and beyond that could lead to a deterioration in the banks' 
asset quality and increase their sensitivity to external shocks.  Moody’s downgraded 
the ratings of the large Australian banks to Aa3 from Aa2 reflecting the agency’s view 
of the rising risks from the banks’ exposure to the Australian housing market and the 
elevated proportion of lending to residential property investors.

S&P also revised Nordea Banks outlook to stable from negative, whilst affirming their 
long-term rating at AA-. The outlook revision reflects Nordea’s geographic 
diversification and strong financials. The agency also upgraded the long-term rating 
of ING Bank from A to A+.

Regulatory
Ring-fencing, which requires the larger UK banks to separate their core retail banking 
activity from the rest of their business, is expected to be implemented within the next 
year. In May, following Arlingclose’s advice, the Authority reduced the maximum 
duration of its deposits at Bank of Scotland, HSBC Bank and Lloyds Bank from 13 
months to 6 months as there is some uncertainty surrounding which banking entities 
the Authority will be dealing with once ring-fencing is implemented. Even where there 
has been a level of clarity provided regarding where local authority customers will sit 
within the proposed new legal structures of the banks, it is not yet known what the 
balance sheet structures of those banks will be.

33



The new EU regulations for Money Market Funds were finally approved and 
published in July and existing funds will have to be compliant by no later than 
21st January 2019.  The key features include Low Volatility NAV (LVNAV) Money 
Market Funds which will be permitted to maintain a constant dealing NAV, providing 
that the fund’s market NAV does not deviate from the dealing NAV by more than 20 
basis points, alongside other criteria including minimum liquidity requirements.  
MMFs will not be prohibited from having an external fund rating (as had been 
suggested in draft regulations).  Arlingclose expects most of the short-term MMFs it 
recommends to convert to the LVNAV structure but it remains to be seen how each 
fund manager reacts to the final regulation.

4. Net Borrowing

The Council’s borrowing portfolio is attached at Appendix 3.  No new borrowing was 
undertaken during the quarter.  

5. Debt Rescheduling

At this time it is not of benefit to the Council to consider rescheduling of its long-term 
debt, as advised by Arlingclose.

6. Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits

The Council has operated within the treasury limits and Prudential Indicators, and in 
compliance with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices, subject to the note in 
(1) above.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Arlingclose Treasury Management Report for Quarter One

Appendix 2 – Investment portfolio as at 30 June 2017

Appendix 3 – Borrowing portfolio as at 30 June 2017

Appendix 4 – Investment portfolio as at 31 August 2017 

Background Papers

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 – 2020/21

Contact Officer:  Stuart Groom, extension 2072

Date:  11 September 2017

34



APPENDIX 1

Treasury Management Report Q1 2017/18

Introduction  

In March 2012 the Authority adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition (the CIPFA Code) 
which requires the Authority to approve treasury management semi-annual and annual reports. 
This report provides an additional quarterly update.

The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2017/18 was approved at a meeting of the 
Authority on 1 March 2017. The Authority has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money 
and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue 
effect of changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are 
therefore central to the Authority’s treasury management strategy.

External Context

Commodity prices slid back during the quarter with oil falling below $50 a barrel. The primary 
factor in the oil price fall was oversupply and a lack of belief in OPEC’s (Organisation of 
Petroleum Exporting Countries) ability to deliver on agreed production caps of members. 

UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) index rose over the quarter and the data print for May showed 
CPI at 2.9%, its highest since June 2013. The effect of the fall in fuel prices was offset by rises in 
a number of other categories in the CPI ‘basket’ as the fall in the value of sterling following June 
2016’s referendum result continued to feed through into higher import prices.  The most recent 
labour market data for April 2017 showed that the unemployment rate at 4.6% remained at its 
lowest since July 1975 but that the squeeze on real wages (i.e. after inflation) is intensifying and 
resulting in negative real wage growth.  Q1 GDP data released in April and revised in May showed 
economic activity growing at a much slower pace of 0.2%. However recent surveys indicate that 
the slowdown in the first quarter is being viewed as an anomaly and that Q2 GDP could rebound.  
Understandably, the Bank of England made no change to monetary policy at its meeting on 15th 
June. 

Having raised rates in March, the US Federal Reserve made no change to monetary policy at the 
conclusion of its meeting in May. The recent weakness witnessed in the first print of Q1 US GDP 
was noted in the accompanying statement but the Fed viewed this as a transitory issue and was of 
the view that the GDP path and household spending would recover during 2017. The US Federal 
Reserve then increased its target range of official interest rates in June for the second time in 
2017 by 25bps (basis points) to between 1% and 1.25% and a further similar increase is expected 
during the second half of 2017.

Prime Minister Theresa May called an unscheduled General Election in June, to resolve 
uncertainty and in the hope of gaining an enhanced mandate to enter the forthcoming Brexit 
negotiations.  The surprise result has led to a minority Conservative government in a confidence 
and supply arrangement with the Democratic Unionist Party. This political impasse clearly results 
in an enhanced level of political uncertainty, however the potential for a so-called hard Brexit is 
now diminished, reducing the associated economic headwinds for the UK economy from a ‘no 
deal’ or otherwise unfavourable trade agreement. 

The reaction from the markets on the election’s outcome has been fairly muted, business 
confidence now hinges on the progress (or not) on Brexit negotiations, whether new trade 

35



2

treaties and arrangements are successfully concluded and whether or not the UK continues to 
remain part of the EU customs union post the country’s exit from the EU.  

In the face of this uncertainty, Arlingclose expects the Bank of England will look through periods 
of high inflation and maintain its low-for-longer stance on policy interest rates for an extended 
period.

Financial markets: Gilt yields displayed some volatility with a marked uptick in late June.  This 
was largely due to the expectation of tapering of Quantitative Easing (QE) in the US and Europe, 
which also had an impact on gilts. The yield on the 5 year benchmark gilt rose from 0.56% to 
0.69% during the quarter, that on the 10-year gilt rose from 1.06% to 1.26% and the yield on the 
20-year gilt rose from 1.65% to 1.78%.

The FTSE 100 reached a record high of 7548 in May but dropped off slightly towards the end of 
the quarter.  The FTSE-250 and FTSE All Share indices also rose, the All Share index closing at 
4002 at the end of June. Money markets rates have remained low: 1-month, 3-month and 12-
month LIBID rates have averaged 0.25%, 0.33% and 0.66% in the quarter respectively. 

Credit background: UK bank credit default swaps have continued their downward trend, reaching 
three year lows by the end of June. Bank share prices have not moved in any particular pattern. 

There were a few credit rating changes during the quarter. Moody’s downgraded Standard 
Chartered Bank’s long-term rating to A1 from Aa3 on the expectation that the bank’s profitability 
will be lower following management’s efforts to de-risk their balance sheet. The agency also 
affirmed Royal Bank of Scotland’s and NatWest’s long-term ratings at Baa1. Moody’s downgraded 
the major Canadian banks’ long-term ratings on the agency’s expectation of a more challenging 
operating environment for the banks for the remainder of 2017 and beyond, that could lead to a 
deterioration in the banks' asset quality and increase their sensitivity to external shocks.  Moody’s 
downgraded the ratings of the large Australian banks to Aa3 from Aa2 reflecting the agency’s 
view of the rising risks from the banks’ exposure to the Australian housing market and the 
elevated proportion of lending to residential property investors.

Ring-fencing, which requires the larger UK banks to separate their core retail banking activity 
from the rest of their business, is expected to be implemented within the next year. In May, 
following Arlingclose’s advice, the Authority reduced the maximum duration of its deposits at 
Bank of Scotland, HSBC Bank and Lloyds Bank from 13 months to 6 months as there is some 
uncertainty surrounding which banking entities the Authority will be dealing with once ring-
fencing is implemented. Even where there has been a level of clarity provided regarding where 
local authority customers will sit within the proposed new legal structures of the banks, it is not 
yet known what the balance sheet structures of those banks will be.

S&P also revised Nordea Banks outlook to stable from negative, whilst affirming their long-term 
rating at AA-. The outlook revision reflects Nordea’s geographic diversification and strong 
financials.

Local Context

On 31st March 2017, the Authority had net borrowing / investments of £25m arising from its 
revenue and capital income and expenditure. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes 
is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working 
capital are the underlying resources available for investment. These factors are summarised in 
table 1 below.

36



3

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary
31.3.17
Actual
£000

General Fund CFR 11,685

HRA CFR 79,890

Total CFR 91,575

Less: Usable reserves (60,833)

Less: Working capital (5,430)

Net borrowing 25,312

The Authority’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying 
levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk and keep interest costs 
low. The treasury management position as at 30th June 2017 and the change in the quarter is 
show in table 2 below.

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary
31.3.17
Balance

£000

Q1
Movement

£000

30.6.17
Balance

£000

30.6.17
Rate

%
Long-term borrowing
Short-term borrowing *

85,515
6,153 (4,000)

85,515
2,153

Total borrowing 91,668 (4,000) 87,668 3.39%

Short-term investments
Cash and cash equivalents

55,704
10,652

4,880.
(7,849)

50,824
18,501

Total investments 66,356 (2,969) 69,325 0.30%

Net borrowing (25,312) (6,919) (18,343)

*Short-term temporary loan repaid in quarter 1. 

Borrowing Strategy during the quarter

At 30/6/2017 the Authority held £88m of loans, a decrease of £4m on 31/3/2017, as part of its 
strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes.  The quarter-end borrowing position is 
shown in table 3 below.

Table 3: Borrowing Position
31.3.17
Balance

£000

Q1
Movement

£000

30.6.17
Balance

£000

30.6.17
Rate

%

Public Works Loan Board
Banks (LOBO)
Local authorities (short-term)

84,668
3,000
4,000

0.
0.

(4,000)

84,668
3,000

0

3.35
4.75
n/a

Total borrowing 91,668 (4,000) 87,668 3.39

The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for 

37



4

which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term 
plans change being a secondary objective. 

The Authority continues to hold £3m of LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) loans where 
the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, following which 
the Authority has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional 
cost.  No banks exercised their option during quarter 1.  Further details of borrowing can be 
found in Appendix 3.

Investment Activity 

The Authority holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During quarter 1, the Authority’s investment 
balance ranged between £63.4 and £69.8 million due to timing differences between income and 
expenditure. The investment position during the quarter is shown in table 4 below.  Further 
details of the position at 30/06/2017 can be found in Appendix 2.

Table 4: Investment Position
31.3.17
Balance

£000

Q1
Movement

£000

30.6.17
Balance

£000

30.6.17
Rate

%

Banks & building societies (unsecured)
Government (incl. local authorities)
Money Market Funds
Other Pooled Funds

51,919
4,910
9,527

0

(17,504)
18,500

 (1,027)
3,000

34,415
23,410
8,500
3,000

0.42
0.60
0.20
4.50

Total investments 66,356 2,969 69,325

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its funds prudently, 
and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate 
of return, or yield.  The Authority’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate 
balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk 
of receiving unsuitably low investment income.

Given the increasing risk and falling returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, the 
Authority has started to diversify into more secure and higher yielding asset classes. £3m that is 
available for longer-term investment was moved from bank and building society deposits into 
pooled property funds at the end of the quarter, and a further £3m at the end of July. The 
progression of risk and return metrics are shown in the extracts from Arlingclose’s quarterly 
investment benchmarking in table 5 below.

Table 5: Investment Benchmarking
Credit 
Score

Credit 
Rating

Bail-in 
Exposure

WAM* 
(days)

Rate of 
Return

31.03.2017
30.06.2017

4.30
4.26

AA-
AA-

60%
65%

47
72

0.61%
0.37%

Similar LAs
All LAs

4.36
4.32

AA-
AA-

66%
65%

118
45

1.64%
1.19%

*Weighted average maturity 

38



5

Performance Report

The Authority measures the financial performance of its treasury management activities both in 
terms of its impact on the revenue budget and its relationship to benchmark interest rates, as 
shown in table 6 below.

Table 6: Performance
Forecast 
for Year

£000

Budget
£000

Over/
(under)

YTD 
Return

%

Benchmark
%

Over/
(under)

Interest Received 370 305 65 0.45 0.18 0.27

Interest Payable 2,953 2,953 0 3.39 3.39 0.00

Actual interest and dividends income for the quarter is £77k, which is in line with the YTD budget 
of £76k, and has been achieved as a result of having a higher level of funds available for 
investment than budgeted, as interest rates continue to fall on bank deposits and money market 
funds.  The higher level of funds available is only temporary, due to changes in the timing of 
approved capital expenditure payments.  The higher forecast for the full year in the table (above) 
is partly due to better income expected in subsequent quarters, which arises from the £6m 
investment in the CCLA property fund (in £3m tranches on 30th June and 31st July) at a return of 
approximately 4.2% p.a.  This investment is considered longer term (typically 5 – 10 years).  

Compliance Report

The Director of Finance can report that all treasury management activities undertaken during 
quarter 1 complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice.  However, due to a number of 
investments maturing at the same time, our total investment with the Bank of Scotland briefly 
exceeded £8m from 19th – 29th June 2017 (by £463k approx. and for 11 days only), which is outside 
our Treasury Management Guidelines, but the money was held an instant access call account 
during that time. Compliance with specific investment limits is demonstrated in table 7 below.

Table 7: Investment Limits

During 
Qtr to 

30.6.17
Actual

2017/18
Limit

Complied

Any single organisation, except UK Government £8.46m £8m per 
bank X

Any group of funds under the same management £13.44m £16m per 
group 

Investments held in a broker’s nominee account 0 £15m 

UK Central Government £1.9m Unlimited 

Pooled investment funds £3m £10m per 
fund 

Unsecured investments with Building Societies £7m £8m 

Operating Bank £1.3m £20m 

Money Market Funds £8m £10m per 
fund 

39



6

Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is demonstrated 
in table 8 below.

Table 8: Debt Limits

30.6.17
Actual

2017/18 
Operational 
Boundary

2017/18 
Authorised 

Limit
Complied

Borrowing £87.7m £333m £338.5m 

Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not significant if 
the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in cash flow, and this is not 
counted as a compliance failure. 

Treasury Management Indicators

The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the 
following indicators.

Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 
monitoring the value-weighted average credit score of its investment portfolio.  This is calculated 
by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, 
weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their 
perceived risk.

30.6.17 
Actual

2017/18 
Target Complied

Portfolio average credit score 4.26 6.0 

Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 
monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling three 
month period, without additional borrowing.   The figure below includes a significant number of 
deposits maturing by 30th September, as well as a 90-day notice account, and is therefore higher 
than the usual level maintained, exceeding our normal short-term requirements.  The actual 
liquidity measure figure is expected to reduce with capital outlay and the possible use of other 
investment instruments from October 2017, subject to approval, which is why higher levels of 
short-term cash are currently being maintained. 

30.6.17 
Actual

2017/18 
Target Complied

Total cash available within 3 months £49m £8m 

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate 
risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the 
amount of net principal borrowed was:

30.6.17 
Actual

2017/18 
Limit Complied

Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure £87.7m £300m 

Upper limit on variable interest rate exposure 0 £90m 

40



7

Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is fixed for at least 12 
months, measured from the start of the financial year or the transaction date if later.  All other 
instruments are classed as variable rate.

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to 
refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 
were:

30.6.17 
Actual

Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit Complied

Under 12 months £2.2m 25% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months £3.4m 50% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years £7.2m 50% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years £13.7m 100% 0% 

10 years and above £61.2m 100% 0% 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of borrowing is the 
earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The purpose of this indicator is to 
control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its 
investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the 
period end were:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual principal invested beyond year end 1.9m 1.9m 0

Limit on principal invested beyond year end 30m 30m 30m

Complied   

Outlook for the remainder of 2017/18

Just over a year after the UK voted to leave the EU there is still a great deal of uncertainty on 
Brexit negotiations, even after Article 50 was triggered in April. To add to this, the Conservative 
party lost their overall majority after they called a snap election in June meaning that 
negotiations may be even harder going forward. 

UK GDP growth is forecast to be around 1.6% for 2017 and 1.4% in 2018. Subdued consumer 
spending will be the main driver behind this period of weaker growth, along with muted business 
investment due to Brexit-related uncertainty. Arlingclose’s central case for the path of Bank Rate 
over the next three years remains at 0.25%. Arlingclose believes that the high inflation reflects 
the impact of sterling’s weakness on imports, and in the face of weaker growth prospects, will be 
looked through by Bank of England policymakers. The likely path for Bank Rate is for it to remain 
flat at 0.25%. However, there is downside risk for rates to be cut to 0.00% in the short-term and 
medium-term, and scope for rates to be increased from 2019 onwards, albeit modestly to 0.50%.

See Interest Rate Forecast Table below.

41



8

Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
Arlingclose Central Case 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
Downside risk 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25

In addition, Arlingclose believes that the Government and the Bank of England have both the tools 
and the willingness to use them to prevent any immediate market-wide problems leading to bank 
insolvencies. The cautious approach to credit advice means that the banks currently on the 
Authority’s counterparty list have sufficient equity buffers to deal with any localised problems in 
the short term.

42



In-house as at 30/06/17 APPENDIX 2

Organisation Type of investment Current
rating

Issue Date Maturity date Market yield % Book cost Government Options available

Sovereign Debt rating
Held in Custody at Kings and Shaxon
United Kingdom Gilt 24/05/2013 22/07/2018 1.250 950,000
United Kingdom Gilt 11/06/2013 22/07/2018 1.250 960,000

1,910,000

In-house Investments - Portfolio: Duration

Bromsgrove District Council Fixed term deposit A+/F1/5 29/06/2017 03/07/2017 0.170 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 4 days
Nationwide Fixed term deposit A/F1/5 04/01/2017 04/07/2017 0.420 1,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 184 days
Suffolk County Council Fixed term deposit 10/04/2017 10/07/2017 0.300 5,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 91 days
Blackpool Borough Council Fixed term deposit 10/04/2017 10/07/2017 0.300 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 91 days
Lloyds Fixed term deposit A+/F1/5 30/01/2017 31/07/2017 0.600 2,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 185 days
Nationwide Fixed term deposit A/F1/5 01/02/2017 01/08/2017 0.370 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 184 days
Nationwide Fixed term deposit A/F1/5 24/02/2017 24/08/2017 0.370 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 184 days
Eastleigh Borough Council Fixed term deposit A+/F1/5 24/02/2017 24/08/2017 0.430 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 182 days
Birmingham City Council Fixed term deposit 28/04/2017 27/04/2018 0.700 7,500,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 364 days
HSBC (Evergreen) Notice Savings Account AA-/F1+/1 26/02/2016 0.297 7,532,714 UK - Gov 'AA' 90 days notice required to withdraw funds
Santander Notice Savings Account A/F1/2 02/04/2016 0.400 7,881,074 UK - Gov 'AA' 95 days notice required to withdraw funds

In-house investments - Long Term

CCLA Property investment Fund 30/06/2017 4.213 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 5 Years +

48,913,787

Total Portfolio 50,823,787

Cashflow: Call Accounts/MMF (as at 30/06/17) Rate

Global Treasury Fund (Goldman Sachs Money Market Fund) 500,106 0.15%
Standard Life Investments (Money Market Fund) 8,000,000 0.24%
Natwest SIBA 1,350,508 0.01%
Natwest SIBA - SEEDA (DTIZ) 56,098 0.01%
Natwest SIBA - EP (HCA) 47,781 0.01%
Natwest SIBA - ASDA 0 0.01%
NatWest Current Acct 8,512,031 0.00%
Santander 502 0.05%
HSBC Business Acc 0 0.00%
Barclays 34,136 0.00%

Total Cash flow 18,501,162

Total Portfolio and Cashflow 69,324,949

43



Dover District Council Borrowing - 2017/18 APPENDIX 3

Interest Date Loan Date Loan Repayment Loan Principal Interest Principal Principal Annual Lender Type of loan
Type Taken Matures Dates Number Balance Rate To Be Repaid Balance Interest

Out 01-Apr-17 % 2017/18 30-Jun-17 2017/18

Fixed 02/10/1997 02/10/2057 APR-OCT 479961 1,000,000 6.75 1,000,000 67,500 PWLB Principal due on Maturity
Fixed 28/05/1997 28/05/2057 MAY-NOV 479542 2,000,000 7.38 2,000,000 147,500 PWLB Principal due on Maturity
Fixed 23/08/1946 23/06/2026 JUNE-DEC 131582 424 2.50 45 402 11 PWLB Equal Instalment of Principal (EIP)
Fixed 27/09/1946 27/06/2026 JUNE-DEC 131583 79 2.50 8 75 2 PWLB Equal Instalment of Principal (EIP)
Fixed 16/11/2001 30/09/2026 SEPT-MAR 486237 1,000,000 4.75 1,000,000 47,500 PWLB Principal due on Maturity

Variable 16/12/2002 16/12/2042 JUNE-DEC N/A 3,000,000 4.75 3,000,000 142,500 KA Finanz AG Bank Repayable if called by Bank
Fixed 26/03/2012 26/03/2042 SEPT-MAR 499853 80,667,894 3.18 2,153,554 80,667,894 2,548,253 PWLB Annuity
Fixed 22/03/2017 21/04/2017 APR N/A 4,000,000 0.40 4,000,000 0 921 South Holland D.C. Short term loan only (cash flow)

91,668,397 6,153,607 87,668,371 2,954,186 Sub-total

Fixed 01/05/2012 01/11/2027 MAY-NOV 87,096 0.00 8,710 82,741 0 Lawn Tennis Association Interest free 

91,755,493 6,162,317 87,751,112 2,954,186

44



In-house as at 31/08/17 APPENDIX 4

Organisation Type of investment Current
rating

Issue Date Maturity date Market yield % Book cost Government Options available

Sovereign Debt rating
Held in Custody at Kings and Shaxon
United Kingdom Gilt 24/05/2013 22/07/2018 1.250 950,000
United Kingdom Gilt 11/06/2013 22/07/2018 1.250 960,000

1,910,000

In-house Investments - Portfolio: Duration

Suffolk County Council Fixed term deposit 10/07/2017 10/09/2017 0.150 5,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 91 days
Telford and Wrekin Council Fixed term deposit 31/08/2017 30/11/2017 0.250 5,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 91 days
Birmingham City Council Fixed term deposit 28/04/2017 27/04/2018 0.700 7,500,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 364 days
HSBC (Evergreen) Notice Savings Account AA-/F1+/1 26/02/2016 0.297 7,532,714 UK - Gov 'AA' 90 days notice required to withdraw funds
Santander Notice Savings Account A/F1/2 02/04/2016 0.400 7,886,343 UK - Gov 'AA' 95 days notice required to withdraw funds

In-house investments - Long Term

CCLA Property investment Fund 30/06/2017 4.213 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 5 Years +
CCLA Property investment Fund 31/07/2017 4.204 3,000,000 UK - Gov 'AA' 5 Years +

38,919,057

Total Portfolio 40,829,057

Cashflow: Call Accounts/MMF (as at 31/08/17) Rate

Global Treasury Fund (Goldman Sachs Money Market Fund) 7,900,106 0.15%
Standard Life Investments (Money Market Fund) 8,000,000 0.22%
Natwest SIBA 7,633,871 0.01%
Natwest SIBA - SEEDA (DTIZ) 0 0.01%
Natwest SIBA - EP (HCA) 0 0.01%
Natwest SIBA - ASDA 0 0.01%
Santander 502 0.05%
Bank of Scotland (BOS) 7,999,117 0.15%
HSBC Business Acc 0 0.00%
Barclays 34,133 0.00%

Total Cash flow 31,567,728

Total Portfolio and Cashflow 72,396,784

45



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

The Audit Findings

for Dover District Council

Year ended 31 March 2017

Elizabeth Jackson

Engagement Lead

T 0207 728 3329 

E elizabeth.l.jackson@uk.gt.com

Terry Blackman

Engagement Manager

T 020 7728 3194

E terry.blackman@uk.gt.com

28 September 2017

46

Agenda Item No 7



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council |  2016/17 

DRAFT

2

Private and Confidential

Chartered Accountants

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.

A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL

and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details..

This Audit Findings report highlights the key findings arising from the audit that are significant to the responsibility of those 

charged with governance (in the case of Dover District Council, the Governance Committee), to oversee the financial reporting 

process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and 

the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with officers. 

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 

('ISA (UK&I)'), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared 

by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial statements does not relieve 

management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements. 

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit 

procedures which are designed primarily for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and giving a value 

for money conclusion. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, 

where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be 

relied upon to disclose defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more 

extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, 

or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other 

purpose.

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other

staff during our audit.

Yours sincerely

Elizabeth Jackson

Engagement lead

Dear Members of the Governance Committee

Audit Findings for Dover District Council for the year ending 31 March 2017

Dover District Council

White Cliffs Business Park

Dover

Kent

CT16 3PJ

28 September 2017

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

30 Finsbury Square

London

EC2P 2YU

T +44 (0) 20 7383 5100

www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

47



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 3

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 4

2. Audit findings [...]

3. Value for Money [...]

4. Other statutory powers and duties […]

5. Fees, non-audit services and independence [...]

6. Communication of audit matters [...]

Appendices

A Action plan

B  Audit opinion

48



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

Section 1:

Executive summary

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Other statutory powers  and duties

06. Communication of audit matters

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

49



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 5

Executive summary

Purpose of this report

This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of 

Dover District Council ('the Council') and the preparation of 

the Council's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 

2017. It is also used to report our audit findings to 

management and those charged with governance in accordance 

with the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 260,  and the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act').  

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit 

Practice ('the Code'), we are required to report whether, in our 

opinion, the Council's financial statements give  a true and fair 

view of the financial position of the Council and its income 

and expenditure for the year and whether they have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting. . 

We are also required to consider other information published 

together with the audited financial statements (including the 

Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and Narrative Report, 

whether it is consistent with the financial statements, 

apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 

inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Council acquired in 

the course of performing our audit; or otherwise misleading.

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves 

on whether the Council has made proper arrangements to 

secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources ('the value for money (VFM) conclusion'). 

Auditor Guidance Note 7 (AGN07) clarifies our reporting 

requirements in the Code and the Act. We are required to 

provide a conclusion whether in all significant respects, the 

Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure value 

for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its 

resources for the year.

The Act also details the following additional powers and duties 

for  local government auditors, which we are required to report 

to you if applied:

• a public interest report if we identify any matter that 

comes to our attention in the course of the audit that in 

our opinion should be considered by the Council or 

brought to the public's attention (section 24 of the Act); 

• written recommendations which should be considered by 

the Council and responded to publicly (section 24 of the 

Act);

• application to the court for a declaration that an item of 

account is contrary to law (section 28 of the Act);  

• issue of an advisory notice (section 29 of the Act); and

• application for judicial review (section 31 of the Act).  

We are also required to give electors the opportunity to raise 

questions about the accounts and consider and decide upon 

objections received in relation to the accounts under sections 

26 and 27 of the Act. 

Introduction

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or 

change our audit approach, which we communicated to you 

in our Audit Plan dated 6 April 2017. 

Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising 

our procedures in the following areas: 

• completion of the sample testing of journals, income and 

expenditure, including housing benefit payments

• discussions with the valuer for the assumptions used in the 

PPE valuation

• receipt of outstanding investment confirmations from 

third parties

• review of the final version of the financial statements 

• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of 

representation

• review of revised versions of the Annual Governance 

Statement and

• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date 

of signing the opinion.

We received draft financial statements and accompanying 

working papers at the commencement of our work, in 

accordance with the agreed timetable.

50



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 6

Executive summary

Key audit and financial reporting issues

Financial statements opinion

We have not identified any adjustments affecting the Council's 

reported financial position (details are recorded in section two 

of this report).  The draft and audited financial statements for 

the year ended 31 March 2017 recorded net expenditure of 

£3,275k. 

The key messages arising from our audit of the Council's 

financial statements are:

• the draft financial statements were prepared to a high 

standard

• we have recommended a small number of disclosure 

amendments to improve the presentation of the financial 

statements.

Further details are set out in section two of this report.

We anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect 

of the financial statements (see Appendix B).

Other financial statement responsibilities

As well as an opinion on the financial statements, we are 

required to give an opinion on whether other information 

published together with the audited financial statements is 

consistent with the financial statements. This includes if the 

AGS and Narrative Report is misleading or inconsistent with 

the information of which we are aware from our audit.

Based on our review of the Council’s Narrative Report and 

AGS we are satisfied that they are consistent with the audited 

financial statements. We are also satisfied that the AGS meets 

the requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance 

and that the disclosures included in the Narrative Report are 

in line with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.

Controls

Roles and responsibilities

The Council's management is responsible for the 

identification, assessment, management and monitoring of 

risk, and for developing, operating and monitoring the 

system of internal control.

Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or 

identify all areas of control weakness.  However, where, as 

part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we 

report these to the Council. 

Findings

Our work has not identified any control weaknesses which 

we wish to highlight for your attention.   

Further details are provided within section two of this report.

51



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 7

Value for Money

Based on our review, we are satisfied that, in all significant 

respects, the Council had proper arrangements in place to 

secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources.

Further details of our work on Value for Money are set out in 

section three of this report.

Other statutory powers and duties

We have not identified any issues that have required us to 

apply our statutory powers and duties under the Act.

Grant certification

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code, we are 

required to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim 

on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. At 

present our work on this claim is in progress and is not due to 

be finalised until 30 November 2017. We will report the 

outcome of this certification work through a separate report to 

the Governance Committee which is due in February 2018.

The way forward

Matters arising from the financial statements audit and 

our review of the Council's arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources have been discussed with the Director of 

Finance, Housing and Community.

We have made a number of recommendations, which 

are set out in the action plan at Appendix A. 

Recommendations have been discussed and agreed with 

the Director of Finance, Housing and Community and 

the finance team.

Acknowledgement

We would like to take this opportunity to record our 

appreciation for the assistance provided by the finance 

team and other staff during our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

September 2017

Executive summary

52



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

Section 2:

Audit findings

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Other statutory powers  and duties

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

53



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 9

Audit findings

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 320: Materiality in 

planning and performing an audit. The standard states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if 

they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of the financial statements'. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £1,552k (being 2% of gross revenue expenditure). We 

have considered whether this level remained appropriate during the course of the audit and due to a change in the gross revenue 

expenditure we revised our overall materiality to £1,320k (being 2% of gross revenue expenditure).

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to 

those charged with governance because we would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material 

impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £66k. 

Our assessment of the value of clearly trivial matters has been adjusted to reflect our revised materiality calculation.

ISA 320 also requires auditors to determine separate, lower, materiality levels where there  are 'particular classes of transactions, 

account balances or disclosures for which misstatements of lesser amounts than materiality for the financial statements as a whole 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users'. We have not identified any items where we consider 

separate materiality levels to be appropriate.

Materiality

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about 

materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, or a 

combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a 

consideration of the common financial information needs of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on 

specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK&I) 320)

54



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 10

Audit findings against significant risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed

Assurance gained and 

issues arising

The revenue cycle includes 

fraudulent transactions

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a 

presumed risk that revenue may be 

misstated due to the improper 

recognition of revenue. 

Having considered the risk factors set out in 

ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams 

at  Dover District Council, we have determined 

that the risk of fraud arising from revenue 

recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue 

recognition;

• opportunities to manipulate revenue 

recognition are very limited; and

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local 

authorities, including Dover District Council, 

mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable.

Our audit work has not 

identified any issues in respect 

of revenue recognition.

Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  

that the risk of  management  over-ride 

of controls is present in all entities.

Review of journal entry process.

Review of accounting estimates, judgments and 

decisions made by management

Further selection of unusual journal entries for 

testing back to supporting documentation to 

ensure coverage of the full financial year

Review of unusual significant transactions.

Our audit work has not 

identified any evidence of 

management over-ride of 

controls. 

In particular the findings of our 

review of journal controls and 

our audit testing of journal 

entries to date has not 

identified any significant 

issues. 

We set out later in this section 

of the report our work and 

findings on key accounting 

estimates and judgments. 

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. As 

we noted in our plan, there are two presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards.

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are 

transactions that are unusual, due to either size or nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may 

include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA (UK&I) 315) . 

In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions 

outside the entity's normal course of business as giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK&I) 550)

55



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 11

Audit findings against significant risks continued

Risks identified in our audit 

plan Work completed

Assurance gained and issues 

arising

Valuation of property, plant 

and equipment

The Council revalues its assets 

on a rolling basis over a five 

year period. The Code requires 

that the Council ensures that  

the carrying value at the balance 

sheet date is not materially 

different from current value. This 

represents a significant estimate 

by management in the financial 

statements.

A walkthrough of the council's processes and controls 

over this area to gain an understanding of these.

Verification of the existence and ownership of material 

assets and a sample of those remaining.

Discussions with valuer about the basis on which the 

valuation is carried out and challenge of the key 

assumptions.

Review of the internal revaluation of any Council owned 

assets and challenge the assumptions made in arriving 

at the valuation.

Testing of the  significant movements in the year such 

as additions, depreciation, transfers and disposals to 

ensure that these amounts are valid.

Review and challenge of the information used by the 

valuer to ensure it is robust and consistent with our 

understanding.

Evaluation of the assumptions made by management 

for those assets not revalued during the year and how 

management has satisfied themselves that these are 

not materially different to current value.

Our audit work to date has not 

identified any significant issues in 

relation to the risk identified.

We are currently finalising our 

work on the PPE valuation 

assumptions used by the valuer. 

We have also identified the following significant risk of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out 

below the work we have completed to address these risks. 

Audit findings

56



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 12

Audit findings against other risks

Transaction 

cycle

Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues 

arising

Employee 

remuneration

Payroll expenditure represents 

a significant percentage of the 

Council’s gross expenditure.

We identified the 

completeness of payroll 

expenditure in the financial 

statements as a risk requiring 

particular audit attention: 

• Employee remuneration 

accruals understated 

(Remuneration expenses 

not correct)

Walkthrough of the council's processes 

and controls over this area to gain an 

understanding of these.

Trend analysis on the council's Monthly 

Payroll Figures to identify any months 

where there are outliers present which 

may indicate issues with the 

completeness of the figures included 

within the GL from the Payroll System.

Testing of a sample of employees 

across the year to agree pay back to the 

relevant supporting records, such as 

their contracts/pay rise letters, to ensure 

the full costs have been included within 

the Accounts for the year. 

Our audit work has not 

identified any significant issues 

in relation to the risk identified.

Operating

expenses

Non-pay expenditure 

represents a significant 

percentage of the Council’s 

gross expenditure. 

Management uses judgement 

to estimate accruals of un-

invoiced non-pay costs. 

We identified the 

completeness of non- pay 

expenditure in the financial 

statements as a risk requiring 

particular audit attention: 

• Creditors understated or 

not recorded in the correct 

period (Operating 

expenses understated)

Walkthrough of the council's processes 

and controls over this area to gain an 

understanding of these. 

Detailed substantive testing will be 

performed over the operating 

expenditure incurred by the Council, 

during the year, including payments 

made post-period end

Trend analysis of the month-on-month 

spend on Operating Expenses will be 

performed to identify any months where 

amounts have been potentially omitted, 

and explanations will be obtained for 

these. 

Testing will also be performed on the 

Creditors included within the Accounts 

at year end to ensure that these 

amounts are valid.

Our audit work to date has not 

identified any significant issues 

in relation to the risk identified.

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 

evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and 

significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated processing 

with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the

auditor shall obtain an understanding of them." (ISA (UK&I) 315) 

Audit findings

57



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 13

Audit findings against other risks continued

Transaction 

cycle

Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues 

arising

Property, 

plant and 

equipment

Property, plant and equipment 

activity not valid

A walkthrough of the council's processes 

and controls over this area to gain an 

understanding of these.

Test of significant movements in the year 

such as additions, depreciation, transfers 

and disposals to ensure that these 

amounts are valid.

Verification of the existence and 

ownership of material assets and a 

sample of those remaining.

Our audit work has not 

identified any significant issues 

in relation to the risk identified.

Pension 

valuation 

(IAS 19)

Valuation of the pension fund 

assets and liabilities have 

been incorrectly valued

Walkthrough of the council's processes 

and controls over this area to gain an 

understanding of these. 

Documenting our understanding of the 

qualifications, experience and expertise of 

the actuary in reaching the valuation of 

the pension fund's assets and liabilities.

Testing the completeness and 

appropriateness of the data sent to the 

pension fund by the council.

Review of the assumptions used by the 

actuary in arriving at their valuation for 

reasonableness.

Testing the input of the valuation data 

from the actuary to the financial 

statements, and review disclosures of the 

IAS 19.

Our audit work has not 

identified any significant issues 

in relation to the risk identified. 

However, our audit work has 

identified that the discount rate 

factor used by the actuary, 

Barnett Waddingham, is 

outside of the auditors expert 

assessment and additional 

procedures have been 

undertaken to confirm the 

factor used and variance is 

reasonable. No amendments 

are required to the financial 

statements.

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  

Audit findings

58



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 14

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Revenue 

recognition

The Council has three principal revenue 

streams

 taxation income relating to council tax 

and business rates, which is recognised 

in the year that the tax was levied

 grant income, which is recognised in 

accordance with the terms of the grant, 

whether specific or non-specific

 income from fees and charges in the 

provision of services, which is recognised 

when the service has been provided, or 

when title to goods has passed. An 

exception is car park penalty notices.

The revenue recognition policies 

are appropriate and in accordance 

with the CIPFA Code and 

International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS).



Green

Judgements and 

estimates

Significant estimates and judgements 

include:

 useful life of capital equipment

 land and building revaluations

 expenditure accruals

 allowance for doubtful debt

 assessment that the waste collection and 

recycling contract does not contain an 

embedded lease

 assessment that group accounts are not 

required for East Kent Housing

 NNDR provision for appeals

 Pension fund valuation.

Our review of key judgements and 

estimates has not highlighted any 

issues which we wish to bring to 

your attention.



Green

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators  Accounting policy appropriate but 

scope for improved disclosure  Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key 

estimates and judgements made and included with the Council's financial statements.  

Audit findings

59



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 15

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements continued

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Going concern The Director of Finance, Housing 

and Community as s151 officer

has a reasonable expectation that 

the services provided by the 

Council will continue for the 

foreseeable future.  Members

concur with this view. For this 

reason, the Council continue to 

adopt the going concern basis in 

preparing the financial statements.

We have reviewed the Council's 

assessment and are satisfied with 

management's assessment that the 

going concern basis is appropriate for 

the 2016/17 financial statements.



Green

Other accounting 

policies

We have reviewed the Council's

policies against the requirements 

of the CIPFA Code of Practice. 

The Council's accounting policies 

are appropriate and consistent with 

previous years.

Our review of accounting policies has 

not highlighted any issues which we 

wish to bring to your attention.



Green

Audit findings

60



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 16

Other communication requirements

Issue Commentary

1. Matters in relation 

to fraud

 We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Governance Committee.  We have 

not been made aware of any other incidents in the period and no other issues have been 

identified during the course of our audit procedures.

2. Matters in relation 

to related parties

 From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which 

have not been disclosed.

3. Matters in relation 

to laws and 

regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant 

laws and regulations and we have not identified any incidences from our audit work.

4. Written 

representations

 A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Council which is included 

in the Governance Committee papers.

 A specific representation have been requested from management in respect of the 

significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates for the PPE valuation.

5. Confirmation 

requests from 

third parties 

 We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to banks, 

investment and borrowing institutions. This permission was granted and the requests were 

sent. Where we have not received a positive confirmation to date we have undertook 

alternative procedures to obtain the required assurance for the opinion.

6. Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

7. Matters on which 

we report by 

exception

 We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a number of areas:

We have not identified  any issues we would be required to report by exception in the following 

areas:

 If the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in 

the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which 

we are aware from our audit

 The information in the Narrative Report is materially inconsistent with the information in the 

audited financial statements or our knowledge of the Council acquired in the course of 

performing our audit, or otherwise misleading.

8. Specified 

procedures for 

Whole of 

Government 

Accounts 

We are not required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of 

Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation pack under WGA group audit instructions as the 

Council does not exceed the audit threshold. 

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to 

communicate to those charged with governance.

Audit findings

61



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 17

Internal controls

"The purpose of an audit is for the auditor to express an opinion on the 

financial statements. 

Our audit included consideration of internal control relevant to the preparation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 

The matters being reported are limited to those deficiencies that the auditor 

has identified during the audit and that the auditor has concluded are of 

sufficient importance to merit being reported to those charged with 

governance." (ISA (UK&I) 265) 

Audit findings

The controls were found to be operating effectively and we have no matters to report to the Audit Committee.

The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the course of our audit and that we 

have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

62



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council |  2016/17 

DRAFT

18

Internal controls – review of  issues raised in prior year

Assessment Issue and risk previously communicated Update on actions taken to address the 

issue

1.   Journal entries produced by Accountancy are 

not authorized. No errors were found in the 

testing of these journals. However, there 

remains a risk of fraud or error in the Council’s 

accounting records and financial statements.

 Our journals testing to date has not 

identified any authorised journals. The 

Council has implemented a review process 

for unusual entries.

2.   The accounting system is unable to provide a 

listing that balances, as the pence element is 

not displayed resulting in trivial differences 

between debits and credits. 

 The journal parameters were correctly run 

for 2016/17.

3.   The findings of the valuer are not subject to 

adequate oversight by management, for 

example instructing the valuer on the assets to 

be reviewed and documenting consideration of 

the validity of the assumptions used.

 The finance team implemented the 

recommendation for 2016/17.

Assessment

 Action completed

X Not yet addressed

Audit findings

Information technology controls

Work performed Conclusion

Review of information 

technology controls

We performed a high level review 

of the general IT control 

environment, as part of the overall 

review of the internal controls 

system. 

IT (information technology) controls 

were observed to have been 

implemented in accordance with our 

documented understanding.

Our work has identified no material weaknesses or 

control deficiencies that impact on the Council’s 

financial statements.

63



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 19

Adjusted misstatements

Detail Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure Statement

£'000

Balance Sheet

£'000

Impact on total 

net expenditure

£000

1 Balance Sheet – Receipts in Advance (note 31)

Our testing of the Receipts in Advance balance identified 

£229k of receipts in relation to an old SEEDA grant which 

date back a number of years. This money is not a receipt in 

advance in 2016/17.

Dr Receipts in Advance

Cr Earmarked Reserves

Nil 229

229

Nil

Overall impact £ Nil £ Nil £ Nil

A number of adjustments to the draft accounts have been identified during the audit process. We are required to report all 

non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

The table below summarises the adjustments arising from the audit which have been processed by management.

Impact of adjusted misstatements

All adjusted misstatements are set out in detail below along with the impact on the key statements and the reported net 

expenditure for the year.  

Audit findings

Unadjusted misstatements

Our audit testing has not identified any adjustments that management have declined to make in the financial statements for 

2016/17.

64



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 20

Misclassifications and disclosure changes

Adjustment type Value

£'000

Account balance Impact on the financial statements

1 Disclosure n/a Prior year restatement The draft financial statements did not include a prior year adjustment 

note setting out the reasons for the restatement of the Balance Sheet. 

This has been included in the amended financial statements.

2 Disclosure n/a Narrative Report A small number of narrative and numerical amendments have been 

made to the Narrative Report to ensure it is consistent with other 

disclosures.

3 Disclosure Various Financial Instruments 

(note 14)

We identified two disclosure errors in the note: 

- Additions error in Financial Assets note  - Total Short Term Assets 

should be £68,948k 

- Financial liabilities note – PWLB fair values – ST Borrowing of 

£2,154k has also been included in LTB as well. LTB is overstated and 

has been reduced by that value. 

4 Disclosure 4 Audit Fee (note 39) The final housing benefit audit fee  for 2015/16 was not confirmed 

with PSAA Ltd until after the draft financial statements were 

submitted for audit.

5 Misclassification n/a Property, Plant and 

Equipment (note 5)

Assets under Construction additions ‘in year’ and ‘transfer from WIP’ 

were incorrectly disclosed as the balances were the wrong way round in 

the note.

6 Disclosure and 

misclassification

Various Various We identified a small number of minor disclosure amendments and 

these were made to the financial statements. These do not require 

reporting to you individually as they are below the triviality level.

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made

in the final set of financial statements. 

Audit findings

65



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

Section 3:

Value for Money

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non-audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

66



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 22

Value for Money

We have focused our work on the significant risks that 

we identified in the Council's arrangements. In arriving 

at our conclusion, our main considerations were:

• The increasingly challenging financial environment 

and the Authority's response to this through its 

medium term financial planning..

We have set out more detail on the risks we identified, 

the results of the work we performed and the 

conclusions we drew from this work on page 23.

Overall conclusion

Based on the work we performed to address the 

significant risks, we concluded that:

• the Council had proper arrangements in all 

significant respects to ensure it delivered value for 

money in its use of resources. 

The text of our report, which confirms this, can be 

found at Appendix B.

Recommendations for improvement

We discussed findings arising from our work with 
management. We have made one recommendation 
from our findings.

Significant difficulties in undertaking 

our work

We did not identify any significant difficulties in 

undertaking our work on your arrangements which we 

wish to draw to your attention.

Significant matters discussed with 

management

There were no matters where no other evidence was 

available or matters of such significance to our 

conclusion or that we required written representation 

from management or those charged with governance.

Any other matters

There were no other matters from our work which 

were significant to our consideration of your 

arrangements to secure value for money in your use of 

resources.

Background

We are required by section 21 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act') and the NAO 
Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') to satisfy 
ourselves that the Council has put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as 
the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion. 

We are required to carry out sufficient work to 
satisfy ourselves that proper arrangements are in 
place at the Council. The Act and NAO guidance 
state that for local government bodies, auditors are 
required to give a conclusion on whether the Council 
has put proper arrangements in place. 

In carrying out this work, we are required to follow 
the NAO's Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) 
issued in November 2016. AGN 03 identifies one 
single criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly 
informed decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned 
and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

AGN03 provides examples of proper arrangements 
against three sub-criteria but specifically states that 
these are not separate criteria for assessment 
purposes and that auditors are not required to reach 
a distinct judgement against each of these.

Risk assessment 

We carried out an initial risk assessment in March 
2017 and identified one significant risk in respect of 
the specific areas of proper arrangements using the 
guidance contained in AGN03. We communicated 
this risk to you in our Audit Plan dated 21 March 
2017. 

We have continued our review of relevant 
documents up to the date of giving our report, and 
have not identified any further significant risks where 
we need to perform further work

Significant qualitative aspects

AGN 03 requires us to disclose our views on 

significant qualitative aspects of the Council's 

arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness.

67



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 23

Key findings

We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks 

identified through our ongoing review of documents. 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions

Medium term financial plan

The local government 

settlement has placed further 

pressure on the Council's 

finances and the Council's 

medium term financial plan 

includes the need for 

significant savings over the 

next four years.

Review the Council's plans to 

deliver savings over the course 

of the medium term financial 

plan.

The Council has sound arrangements for developing, 

updating and implementing its medium term financial plan 

(MTFP). Focus on achievement of corporate priorities is 

evident through the financial planning process, and the 

MTFP ensures that resources are focused on priorities.

Service and financial planning processes are well 

integrated, and the MTFP is consistent with other key 

strategies, including workforce plans. There is regular 

review of the MTFP and the assumptions made within it, 

and the Council has performed sensitivity analysis on its 

financial model using a range of economic assumptions. 

The Council continues to adapt to changing 

circumstances and to manage its financial risks 

effectively, but also faces significant challenges going 

forward. A primary concern is the potential volatility of 

three of its four main income streams, business rates, 

revenue support grant and New Homes Bonus, with 

significant reductions projected for the latter two over the 

next four years, and only Council Tax providing a 

measure of predictability.

The Council is responding through initiatives such as the 

proposed Property Investment Strategy, through which it 

plans to invest up to £200m in commercial and residential 

property in order to increase economic regeneration and 

generate returns. It has also recently changed to a new 

treasury adviser with a view to improving investment 

returns. However, with the MTFP showing gaps of £1.7m 

for 2019/20 and £2.4m for 2020/21 there remains much 

to be done to ensure the future sustainability of the 

Council.

On this basis we have concluded overall that the risk 

was sufficiently mitigated and the Council has proper 

arrangements.

Recommendation

Ensure a strong focus is maintained on 'future-proofing' 

against the risk of volatility and reductions in the Council's 

main current revenue streams.

Value for Money

68



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

Section 4:

Other statutory powers and duties

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Other statutory powers and duties

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

69



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 25

Other statutory powers and duties

Issue Commentary

1. Public interest 

report

 We have not identified any matters that would require a public interest report to be issued.

2. Written 

recommendations

 We have not made any written recommendations that the Council is required to respond to 

publicly.

3. Application to the 

court for a 

declaration that 

an item of account 

is contrary to law 

 We have not needed to exercise this duty.

4. Issue of an 

advisory notice 

 We have not needed to exercise this duty.

5. Application for 

judicial review 

 We have not needed to exercise this duty.

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by the Act and the Code to communicate to those

charged with governance.

70



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

Section 5:

Fees, non-audit services and independence

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

71



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 27

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and confirm there were no fees for the provision of non audit services.

Independence and ethics

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact 

on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to 

draw to your attention. We have complied with the Auditing 

Practices Board's Ethical Standards and confirm that we are 

independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the 

financial statements.

Fees, non audit services and independence

Fees

Proposed 

fee  £

Final fee  

£

Council audit 53,685 53,685

Grant certification 38,224 TBC

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 91,909 [xx]

Grant certification

Our fees for grant certification cover only housing 

benefit subsidy certification, which falls under the remit 

of Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Fees in 

respect of other grant work, such as reasonable 

assurance reports, are shown under 'Fees for other 

services'.

Fees for other services

Service Fees £

Audit related services:

• Certification of housing pooling capital receipts 

return

1,500

72



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

Section 6:

Communication of  audit matters

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

73



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 29

Communication to those charged with governance

Our communication plan Audi

t 

Plan

Audit 

Findin

gs

Respective responsibilities of auditor and 

management/those charged with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the 

audit. Form, timing and expected general content 

of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects  of the 

entity's accounting and financial reporting 

practices, significant matters and issues arising 

during the audit and written representations that 

have been sought



Confirmation of independence and objectivity  

A statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence,  

relationships and other matters which might  be 

thought to bear on independence. 

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant 

Thornton UK LLP and network firms, together 

with  fees charged 

Details of safeguards applied to threats to 

independence

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified 

during the audit



Identification or suspicion of fraud involving 

management and/or others which results in 

material misstatement of the financial statements



Non compliance with laws and regulations 

Expected modifications to auditor's report, or 

emphasis of matter



Unadjusted misstatements and material 

disclosure omissions



Significant matters arising in connection with 

related parties



Significant matters in relation to going concern  

ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters 

which we are required to communicate with those charged 

with governance, and which we set out in the table 

opposite.  

This document, The Audit Findings, outlines those key 

issues and other matters arising from the audit, which we 

consider should be communicated in writing rather than 

orally, together with an explanation as to how these have 

been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the 

context of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors 

and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-

auditors/terms-of-appointment/)

We have been appointed as the Council's independent 

external auditors by the Audit Commission, the body 

responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 

bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As 

external auditors, we have a broad remit covering finance 

and governance matters. 

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the 

Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') issued by the NAO 

(https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/). 

Our work considers the Council's key risks when reaching 

our conclusions under the Code. 

It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper 

arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, 

and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is 

fulfilling these responsibilities.

Communication of audit matters

74

http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

Appendices

A. Audit Opinion

75



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 31

A: Audit opinion

We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report .

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE 

MEMBERS OF DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL

We have audited the financial statements of Dover District Council 

(the "Authority") for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial 

statements comprise the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance 

Sheet, the Housing Revenue Account Income an Expenditure 

Statement, the Movement in the Housing Revenue Account 

Statement, the Collection Fund Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement and the related notes. The financial 

reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17.

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a 

body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in 

paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and 

Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments 

Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 

state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to 

state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To 

the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the 

Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 

or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer and 

auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the 

Statement of Accounts, the Chief Financial Officer is responsible 

for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes 

the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set 

out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, which give a true and 

fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 

the financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the 

Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on 

behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of 

Audit Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 

Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 

Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are 

appropriate to the Authority's circumstances and have been 

consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the Chief Financial 

Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In 

addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in 

the Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement to 

identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 

statements and to identify any information that is apparently 

materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 

knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If 

we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 

inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:

• the financial statements present a true and fair view of the 

financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2017 and of 

the Authority's expenditure and income for the year then 

ended; and

• the financial statements have been prepared properly in 

accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 

and applicable law.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion, the other information published together with the 

audited financial statements in the Narrative Report and the 

Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited 

financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:

• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not 

comply with the guidance included in ‘Delivering Good 

Governance in Local Government:  Framework (2016)’ 

published by CIPFA and SOLACE; or

• we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 

24 of the Act in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; 

or

• we have made a written recommendation to the Authority 

under section 24 of the Act in the course of, or at the 

conclusion of the audit; or

• we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor 

under the Act.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

76



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 32

Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 

its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, 

and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these 

arrangements.

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied 

that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are 

not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all 

aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 

effectively.

Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of 

Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified 

criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 

November 2016, as to whether the Authority had proper 

arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and 

deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for 

taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General 

determined this criteria as that necessary for us to consider under 

the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the 

Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 

31 March 2017.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit 

Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as 

we considered necessary to form a view on whether in all significant 

respects the Authority has put in place proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources.

Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the 

specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 

November 2016, we are satisfied that in all significant respects the 

Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 

31 March 2017.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial 

statements of the Authority in accordance with the requirements of 

the Act and the Code of Audit Practice.

[Signature]

Elizabeth Jackson

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

30 Finsbury Square

London

EC2P 2YU

[Date] 

77



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dover District Council  |  2016/17 

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant 
Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and 
advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or 
more member firms, as the context requires. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member 
firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide 
services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not 
liable for one another's acts or omissions. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

78



Dover District Council

Subject: FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2016/17

Meeting and Date: GOVERNANCE – 28 SEPTEMBER 2017

Report of: Mike Davis, Director of Finance, Housing and Community

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Mike Conolly, Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources and Performance

Decision Type: Non-Key

Classification: UNRESTRICTED

Purpose of the report: To provide details of the financial outturn for 2016/17 following the 
audit of the Statement of Accounts

Recommendation: That Members receive and note the report.

1. Summary 
This report has been produced in order to provide Members with:

 An explanation of the outturn and the financial standing of the Council;
 Details of changes to the accounts; and
 A condensed version of the information included in the accounts.

The report should be considered in conjunction with both the Statement of Accounts 
and the Audit Findings Report (elsewhere on the Governance agenda).

The accounts are a long and complex document that Members may not find easily 
accessible. The key points in the financial outturn for the year are:

 The General Fund was broadly balanced for the year, showing a small deficit of 
£12k before a budgeted transfer of £450k to the Business Rates & Council Tax 
Reserve.  This leaves the year-end General Fund balance at £2.5m;

 HRA balances (including earmarked HRA reserves) have been increased by 
£4.1m;

 The capital and major revenues projects have stayed within budget, although 
resources for further projects remain limited; 

 The total interest received for the year was approximately £344k.  This was 
higher than the original budget of £329k, a favourable variance of £15k. 

 No new borrowing was undertaken, with the exception of a £4m short-term loan 
(one month only) purely for cash flow purposes over the year-end, and the small 
amount of interest payable (£1.3k) is offset within the favourable variance above;  

 The Council has complied with the Prudential Code and its own Treasury 
Management guidelines during the year;

 When considering this report and the Statement of Accounts, Members are 
reminded that the final accounts, budget and Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) should not be considered in isolation. Together they form a continuous 
process of financial management, and so the outturn will feed into budget 
monitoring and the next MTFP.

2. Purpose of the Accounts
2.1 The accounts are a statutory requirement and have a role in providing information to 

stakeholders and interested parties on the stewardship and management of public 
monies. 

79

Agenda Item No 8



2.2 However, the accounts are a long and complex document which may not be easily 
accessible to Members, the public and other stakeholders. Therefore, in order to 
further promote accountability, this outturn report is also produced.

3. Changes to the Accounts
3.1 This year the presentation of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

(CIES) is different. Prior to this financial year, the segments that made up the cost of 
services were set out in the Service Reporting Code of Practice.  This has now been 
changed so that the cost of services is analysed in the same way as the 
Management Accounts of the Council instead, which shows the information broken  
down by the separate directorates within its organisational structure.  This potentially 
makes the statement easier to comprehend.   

3.2 A new Expenditure & Funding Analysis is now required, which is included in the 
notes (Note 3 of the Statement of Accounts), to show the two sets of adjustments 
needed in order to reconcile the normal budget monitoring format to the net amount 
chargeable to the General Fund and HRA balances, and then to the net expenditure 
in the CIES.

3.3 The Expenditure & Funding Analysis is also required to show the aggregate amount 
of the General Fund and HRA balances, including earmarked reserves.  We have 
included a breakdown at the bottom of this schedule to show the General Fund and 
HRA unallocated general balances separate from the reserves that have been 
earmarked for agreed specific purposes.  This information has always been available 
in the separate notes on the reserves within the Statement of Accounts, as well as in 
the separate Medium Term Financial Plan documents.   

3.4 It is probably more straightforward to use the results as tabulated in the General 
Fund Section of the Narrative report (previously called the Explanatory Foreword), 
which is at the beginning of the Statement of Accounts (and copied at Appendix 1 to 
this document), in conjunction with the table of variances below, to more easily gain 
an understanding of what has happened during the year.    

4. General Fund Revenue Outturn
4.1 The starting point for considering the financial outturn is the 2016/17 Original budget 

which is shown, together with the 2016/17 Projected Outturn and the 2016/17 
Outturn, at Appendix 1.

4.2 The original budget for 2016/17 was a break-even position for the year, before the 
budgeted transfer of £450k to the Business Rates & Council Tax Reserve (BR&CT 
Reserve).  The latest projection of the budget, following various changes in the year, 
was a surplus of £80k.  The outturn, after transfers to earmarked reserves, was a 
deficit of £13k (excluding the budgeted transfer of £450k).  This gives an underlying 
General Fund Balance of £2,532k (being the balance brought forward of £2,995k, 
less the in-year deficit of £13k, less the £450k budgeted transfer to the BR&CT 
reserve). 

4.3 The main variances during the year are as follows:
Variance

£000
Budget

£000
Original Budget Surplus 0.
   Homelessness - Increased costs of emergency accommodation 220.
   Internal Recharges - net increase in recharges recovered (185)
   Property services restructure costs to deliver future savings 82.
   Car Parks - increase in parking fee income and residents permits (76)
   Judicial review costs re planning decision on Western Heights 62.
   Enterprise Zone Relief - net extra grant, less other adjustments (36)
   East Kent Services - additional management fees savings (47)
   Benefits Admin Grant - additional sum for CTRS scheme admin (46)80



   Land Charges - increase in search fees, less legal fees, etc. (31)
   NNDR – net savings on corporate properties (28)
   Miscellaneous other variances (net) 5.
Revised Budget Surplus (80)
   Reduced use of earmarked reserves 287.
   Internal Recharges - net variance (10)
   Savings in Apprenticeships budget (20)
   Business rates – extra levy, less S.31 and EZ relief grant 50.
   Members - expenditure reductions, incl. training and allowances (13)
   HR - reduced internal training costs (16)
   Dog Control - reduced kennelling of strays & out of hours support (12)
   Reduced bad debt provision for sundry debts (45)
   Premature Retirement Pension Costs - lower than budgeted (21)
   Court costs income increased for Council Tax debts (122)
   Net credit from HB subsidy & overpayments reduced 90.
   Homelessness - increased costs of emergency accommodation 30.

 Recycling - reduced contract inflation & recycling initiatives income (56)
   Street Cleansing - reduced costs due to lower contract inflation (45)
   Grounds Maintenance Team - software licences and set-up costs 24.
   Cemeteries - additional Landscape Maintenance costs 15.
   Corporate Properties - increased rental income and lower costs (58)
   Miscellaneous other variances (net) 14.
Actual Budget Deficit 12.

5. General Fund Reserves and Balances
5.1 General Fund reserves are “cash backed” reserves and are available for the Council 

to use. For management and planning purposes they are split into “General 
Balances” and “Earmarked General Reserves”.

5.2 General Balances are held at a prudent level in order that the Council can cope with 
unanticipated variations in spend.  Earmarked General Reserves are funds set aside 
for planned purposes.

5.3 As reported above, the 2016/17 Outturn was a deficit of £13k.  This was after 
transfers made to earmarked reserves and the use of those reserves for agreed 
purposes (but before the budgeted transfer to the BR&CT Reserve).  

Movement in General Fund Balances
£000

Balance at start of the year (2,995)
Deficit for 2016/17 12.
Budgeted transfer to the BR&CT Reserve 450.
Balance at the end of the year (2,533)

5.4 The Opening Balance of £2,995k and the year-end balance of £2,533k can be found 
in Appendix 1 to this report and also within the Statement of Accounts (in the 
“Movement in Reserves Statement”).

5.5 Note 26 to the Core Financial Statements in the draft Statement of Accounts provides 
a complete breakdown of the Earmarked Reserves, also shown at Appendix 2 to this 
report.  Contributions to and from the Earmarked Reserves have been managed in 
order to ensure there are sufficient reserves to meet anticipated commitments.  The 
reserves held are:

 Special Projects & Events Reserve – This reserve is set aside to continue to 
fund one-off General Fund projects as they arise and to support major events 
in the district.  It is used for both revenue and capital projects.  

 Periodic Operations Reserve - This reserve is to cover costs of cyclical / 
periodic events such as elections, “carry forward requests” and to hold grants 

81



or other income streams for specific purposes, such as the Homelessness 
grant and On-Street parking surpluses.  

 Urgent Works Reserve - This reserve is set aside to fund urgent works on 
corporate assets and for other urgent business requirements, for example for 
future restructures to meet likely on-going grant reductions.  The need for this 
reserve is greater than ever due to the ageing nature of our assets and the 
reduced levels of investment in them as reflected in the reduced revenue 
budget.  

 Dover Regeneration Reserve - In order to support the Local Development 
Framework process and associated regeneration projects a Dover 
Regeneration Reserve has been established.  

 ICT Equipment & Servers Reserve – The current ICT Equipment & Servers 
reserve is held in order to support the requirements of the current and future 
ICT Strategies. 

 Business Rates & Council Tax Reserve – This reserve was established to 
allow for the risk of unforeseen pressures from the Redistribution of Business 
Rates and the new Council Tax Support scheme and future changes for 
Universal Credit.  As there are still many uncertainties around these areas, in 
particular, future income collection rates, this reserve has been retained and 
will be reviewed on an annual basis.

 District Regeneration & Economic Development Reserve - This is the renamed 
“HRA Transfer Reserve”.  This reserve is to be applied to support the Council’s 
regeneration plans.  The 2017/18 Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan 
includes approved use of this reserve to fund the new Dover Leisure Centre 
and improvements to Dover Town Hall.  

5.6 In considering the earmarked reserves and general balances, Members are 
reminded that there is an “opportunity cost” of maintaining these reserves and 
balances when the resources could be applied to meet service or capital investment 
requirements. At the same time, maintaining cash backed reserves generates 
additional income from interest on cash balances, which is used as an additional 
income stream. However, the key judgement is to ensure that the reserves are set at 
levels that facilitate the prudent financial management of the authority, provide 
sufficient resources to meet anticipated future demands, and provide for a margin for 
unanticipated variation. 

5.7 It is the view of the Director of Finance, Housing and Community (Section 151 officer) 
that the estimated General Fund balances and reserves are adequate for the 
Council's current spending plans.  However, these are under regular review due to 
the ongoing changes to Local Government finance and the uncertain economic 
climate.  

6. Housing Revenue Account Outturn 
6.1 In 2016/17 the HRA outturn was a surplus of £1,047k compared to the original 

budget forecast of a surplus of £1,102k, an adverse variance of £55k. The main 
reasons for the variance are as follows:

 Transfer to Housing Initiatives Reserve - £1.792m

 Re-phased spend on the Capital Works Programme - (£1.645m).

 Reduction in revenue maintenance budgets (£319k)

6.2 In 2016/17 £4.3m was transferred to the Housing Initiatives Reserve to provide 
investment for housing initiatives in the district whilst maintaining a working HRA 
balance of £1m.

82



6.3 The overall HRA Balances (including Earmarked reserves) are £13.5m, which is an 
increase of £4.1m on the start of the year. 

7. Collection Fund Outturn
7.1 This account reflects the statutory requirement for billing authorities to maintain a 

separate Collection Fund, which shows the transactions of the billing authority in 
relation to Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) and Council Tax, and illustrates the way in 
which these have been distributed to precepting authorities and the General Fund.  
These are explained in more detail in the Collection Fund section of the Statement of 
Accounts.

7.2 The Collection Fund shows a total surplus of £1.6m at 31 March 2017.  This is split 
between Council Tax (a surplus of £2.9m) and NDR (a deficit of £1.3m). Any surplus 
balance on the fund is distributed to the precepting authorities (Dover District 
Council, Kent County Council, Kent and Medway Fire Authority and Kent Police 
Authority (Council Tax only)) in proportion to their respective precept amounts.  
However surpluses are on an accruals basis and are not fully cash backed and 
calculations for distribution of the surplus form part of the following year’s budget 
process.  Separately, deficits have to be contributed back to the fund by preceptors.

7.3 The calculation and forecasting of NDR income, and the accounting treatment for it, 
have to reflect the legislative and other government requirements, and these have 
made it unduly complex. The following notes provide a simplified summary. 

7.4 The NDR deficit has arisen mainly due to the higher opening deficit at 01/04/2016 
(£3.7m) than anticipated when the amount to be contributed back to the fund during 
2016/17 was estimated in January 2016 (£1.8m), leaving a shortfall of £1.9m relating 
to the previous year.  However, there was a surplus during 2016/17 of £0.6m for 
NDR (after deducting the £1.8m deficit contribution relating to the prior year), which 
reduces the total shortfall to a net deficit of £1.3m at 31/03/2017.  

7.5 The £0.6m NDR surplus arising during the year is mainly due to a lower level of Part 
Occupied Reductions (“S44A”) for Pfizer than the amount accrued when their 
reduction in rateable value was processed at the end of the 2015/16 year, at which 
point the related S44A certificates that grant the relief had not been issued by the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA).  This led to a favourable write-back of £0.9m of over-
provided S44A Reductions during the current year (2016/17) and, as the balances on 
the affected Pfizer accounts have subsequently been paid, no further adjustment is 
expected.  This means that during the year there were also ups and downs on 
various other components of NDR income totalling £0.3m (adverse), but this is not 
especially significant on the sums involved or Dover’s share (40%). 

7.6 The NDR Deficit of £1.3m at 31/03/2017 will need to be contributed back to the 
Collection Fund by the preceptors.  However, a higher figure of £1.8m will be 
contributed in 2017/18 based on the amount estimated in January 2016, as required 
under legislation (DDC’s share £728k).  The remaining underlying surplus arising 
from the excess contribution of £0.5m will form part of the surplus estimate to be 
calculated in January 2017 for distribution in 2018/19 and subsequent years (or a 
deficit, if applicable on re-calculation, for contribution in 2018/19).

7.7 While major growth projects are ongoing, the exact timing of fresh NDR income 
streams cannot be exactly determined, and project timing and related business rates 
increases are reviewed and updated during the year.  However, it should be noted 
that there is a considerable further impact on ‘in-year’ NDR income when significant 
appeals are won that continue to erode overall income, so that growth is needed to 
offset the attrition, before any additional surplus (i.e. “net growth”) can be achieved.  
The Council has set aside monies in an earmarked Business Rates & Council Tax 
Reserve to deal with the impact of such pressures as well as the timing differences 
arising from statutory arrangements for the recognition of income and deficits, and 
the impact of the 2017 Revaluation.  There is £1.3m in this reserve at 31/03/2017 
(Appendix 2). 83



7.8 The Council Tax surplus of £2.9m will be distributed to preceptors during future 
years, of which £1.6m will be distributed in 2017/18 based on the amount estimated 
in January 2016, as required under legislation (DDC’s share £236k or 14.7%).   The 
remaining undistributed amount of £1.3m, which was not represented fully by 
available cash at that time, will form part of the surplus estimate to be calculated in 
January 2017 for distribution in 2018/19 and subsequent years.  

7.9 Dover’s own accounts include only its share of the NDR appeals provision, NDR 
Collection Fund deficit, Council Tax Collection Fund surplus and related balances.

8. Capital Programme Outturn
8.1 The Council invested £10.4m in major projects in 2016/17, the most significant of    

which were:
 £3.7m on the development of new leisure facilities for the district;
 £125k on works to progress the development of the Waterfront project in the 

Dover Town Investment Zone;
 £160k on the purchase of retail units within the Aylesham development;
 £104k on the heating upgrade for the Whitfield Offices building;
 £3.7m on Housing Revenue Account projects including £3.5m on property 

projects; and £137k on the refurbishment of play areas;
 £137k on grants and loans for private sector housing;
 £644k on disabled facility grants;
 £250k on grant funding issued to the Discovery Park Enterprise Zone;
 £100k on ICT projects including a new telephony system;
 £200k contribution to the KCC project to provide a Deal Youth Centre;
 £150k on play area facilities at North Deal Playing Fields and Pencester 

Gardens;
 £282k to purchase and install replacement pay and display meters in car 

parks across the district;
 £499k to purchase equipment for the Grounds Maintenance service being 

brought in-house;
 The remainder has been spent on a number of smaller projects.

8.2 The main sources of capital financing applied in the year were:

 £1.069m in grants from external bodies including KCC Better Care Fund, 
Department for Communities and Local Government, Environment Agency, 
and the Heritage Lottery Fund;

 £3m from the Major Repairs Reserve;
 £525k from the Housing Revenue Account (revenue financing);
 £787k from capital receipts, including Private Sector Housing loan receipts 

and excess right to buy receipts;
 £423k from Section 106 monies (developer contributions);
 £910k from earmarked reserves.

8.3 Overall, the capital programme is within budget.

8.4 Right to Buy sales continue to be high due to Government initiatives to encourage 
sales; overall sales in 2016/17 were slightly lower than in 2015/16.

9. Special Projects Outturn
9.1 The Special Projects reserve is mainly used to finance major one-off revenue 

projects, because, as revenue projects, they cannot be financed from the various 
capital financing sources listed in the section above. It is also used to provide a 
source of additional financing for a small number of capital projects.

84



9.2 The expenditure on Special Projects in the year was £787k. The Special Projects 
programme is dynamic. It is adjusted as new projects are approved, and these 
changes are reported to Members during the year. However, “in year” variations in 
spend against approved budget for individual projects are mainly due to timing 
changes. There are no material variations to individual project’s total budget, and the 
whole programme is fully financed.

10. Treasury Management 
10.1 The Council retains the services of Treasury Management advisers who provide 

market intelligence, economic forecasts, advice and opportunities for debt 
re-scheduling and borrowing, details of fund managers’ performance, and an ad-hoc 
enquiries service.  During the year, this function was provided by Capita Asset 
Services.  However the Council has now appointed Arlingclose Limited to provide this 
service from 1st April 2017.

10.2 At 31st March 2017 the Council had investment balances and day-to-day cash 
balances managed in-house of approximately £64.4m. In addition, the Council held 
£1.9m of UK Gilts.

10.3 The Council’s in-house investments outperformed their benchmark (LIBID) and 
achieved an average return of 0.50% for the year.

10.4 The total interest received for the year was approximately £344k.  This was higher 
than the original budget of £329k, which is a favourable variance of £15k.  This is 
partly due to the greater use of notice accounts, fixed term deposits and short-term 
lending to other local authorities, thereby reducing the level of cash held in low 
interest call accounts, as well as the higher level of balances available for deposit 
generally.  This has enabled us to maintain projected investment income against a 
background of decreasing interest rate returns. 

10.5 The Council had just under £85m of borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB) at 31st March 2017 , the bulk of which the Council was required by 
Government to borrow and pay over to them as part of the HRA “self-financing” 
initiative.. The Council also had a £3m LOBO (Lender’s Option, Borrower’s Option) 
with KA Finanz AG.

10.6 The Council has remained within its Treasury Management guidelines, and has 
complied with the Prudential Code during the year. 

10.7 More detailed reports on the latest position are included elsewhere on the agenda.

11. Assets and Liabilities
11.1 At the year end the balance sheet is drawn up. This shows the value of Dover District 

Council’s land and buildings and assets and liabilities. The full balance sheet is 
provided in the Statement of Accounts together with comprehensive explanatory 
notes. A summary balance sheet has been produced (see below). 

As at 31 March
 2016 

(Restated)
   2017

   £000    £000
Value of land, property and other assets 279,642. 291,762. 
Investments held and cash at bank 50,701. 66,347. 
Money owed to DDC for goods and services 8,852. 6,626. 
Loans owed to DDC (short and long term) 2,048. 2,074. 
Money owed by DDC for goods and services (14,583) (11,493)
Loans owed by DDC (short and long term) (90,008) (91,913)
Grants for assets received but not yet used (95) (378)
Share of pension scheme liabilities owed by DDC (76,958) (85,823)
Total Assets less Total Liabilities 159,599. 177,202. 

85



As at 31 March
 2016 

(Restated)
   2017

   £000    £000

Financed by:
Usable reserves¹ 46,009.. 60,833. 
Unusable reserves² 113,590.. 116,369. 
Net Worth of Council 159,599.. 177,202. 

¹ Usable reserves are made up of:

Capital receipts and grants 9,472. 20,480. 
Revenue balances 4,008. 3,580. 
Earmarked reserves 32,529. 36,773. 

46,009. 60,833.

² Unusable reserves mainly comprise revaluations of assets from their original 
purchase value and the Pensions Reserve.  

11.2 The main points to note against the prior year comparative are:

 Value of land, property and other assets
The main changes in the values are due to:
o Disposals – council house and other sales.
o Revaluations - council dwellings are revalued each year and other land 

and property are revalued on a five-year rolling programme, except that 
assets valued at £1m or more are now re-valued on an annual basis to 
ensure that assets are carried at fair value and that there are no material 
differences to the balance sheet. 

o Impairments – these are caused by either a general fall in property prices 
or specific revaluations due to clear consumption of economic benefits 
(e.g. through physical damage or deterioration).  There were no significant 
impairments in the year.  

 Investments held and cash at bank
o The increase in investments and cash at bank reflects a net increase in 

cash, mainly due to increases in Earmarked Reserves as detailed below.  
There are also some positive cash flow movements due to timing of NNDR 
related transactions. 

 Money Owed to DDC for Goods and Services
o The decrease in debtors incorporates: a decrease in the Central 

Government debts (General Fund) relating to amounts owed by H.M.R.C. 
for VAT (£147k decrease), a decrease in the benefit subsidy due from 
Central Government (£761k), a clearing of the prior year debtor from the 
Environment Agency relating to a coastal project in 2015/16 (£198k) and a 
decrease in Other General Fund debtors (£878k), offset by an increase in 
Local Authority debtors (General Fund) mainly due to an increase in the 
amount owed by Shepway District Council for the joint waste provision 
(£81k).  There is also a decrease in the Collection Fund debts relating to 
arrears for business rates and council tax (£195k), offset by an increase in 
Collection Fund debts owed by Central Government relating to Enterprise 
Zone Relief Grant (£44k).

o See Note 27 for an analysis of this total.

 Money owed by DDC for Goods and Services
86



o The net decrease in creditors is due to changes in General Fund creditors, 
being a decrease in Other Revenue Creditors for the joint waste contract 
(£633k), amounts owed to East Kent Housing (£543k) and other revenue 
items (£278k).  £210k of the decrease in Local Authority creditors relates to 
the levy payable to Maidstone B.C. for 2015/16 under NDR pooling 
arrangements, whereas for 2016/17 the equivalent creditor is within 
amounts owed to Government Departments (Collection Fund) instead 
(£288k), as there is no pooling in place for 2016/17 and the levy is payable 
directly to Government.   Collection Fund creditors have reduced mainly 
due to a decrease in Transitional Protection Relief owed to Government 
(£759k). The Local Taxpayers’ creditor has reduced by £951k, which is 
made up of a decrease of £974k of business rates prepaid or overpaid, 
offset by an additional £23k of council tax prepaid or overpaid.

o See Note 28 for an analysis of this total.

 Loans owed by DDC (short and long term)
o The net decrease relates almost entirely to the principal repaid on the 

PWLB loan for “HRA self-financing” (£2,023k).
 

 Pension Scheme Liabilities
o The Pension Scheme has been assessed by Barnett Waddingham, an 

independent firm of actuaries, on behalf of Kent County Council based 
upon the full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2016.  The Council’s 
annual contribution to the scheme is in line with the levels recommended 
by the actuaries.  

o The net liability at 31 March 2017 was £85.8m (£76.9m at 31 March 2016). 
o The liability is volatile and reflects the net effect of a range of factors, 

including valuation of the scheme’s assets and yields on gilts as they occur 
on the day of valuation. An increase in interest rates will reduce the liability.

o The scheme remains solvent and viable.

 Usable Reserves
o The main reason for the increase in usable reserves in 2016/17 relates to 

the increase in HRA and General Fund Earmarked Reserves.
o The main increases are due to the transfer from the HRA to the Housing 

Initiatives reserve, a net contribution to the Special Projects & Events 
Reserve, an additional contribution to the ICT Equipment & Servers 
reserve to support future requirements, a transfer of excess Development 
Control income to the Regeneration reserve to support on-going delivery 
requirement, and the transfer of Section 106 income to the Periodic 
Operations reserve.  

o See Appendix 2 for further details of General Fund Earmarked Reserves.

12. Production of the Accounts 
12.1 Governance Committee requires assurance that the accounts are robust and that 

they can place reliance upon them. The accounts have been subject to audit by 
Grant Thornton and their findings are set out in the Audit Findings Report elsewhere 
on the Governance agenda. In addition, a summary of the controls operated by the 
Director of Finance, Housing and Community is provided at Appendix 3.

13. The Future
13.1 The Council, in common with others, will need to continue to make progress on, or 

give consideration to, the on-going impacts of :

 The economic climate and the impact of the EU Referendum outcome;
 Development and regeneration of the local economy;

87



 The ongoing impact of the Government’s budget deficit reduction programme on 
the Council’s finances;

 Welfare Reform and cessation of the administration of housing benefits for 
working age claimants over a transitional period in the lead up to the introduction 
of Universal Credit;

 The sustainability of the New Homes Bonus scheme and what will follow;
 The ongoing impact of the localisation of council tax support;
 The ongoing impact of the Business Rates Retention scheme and the possible 

implementation of 100% business rates retention; and
 Further explore and develop partnership arrangements with others in order to 

achieve cost efficiencies.

14. Appendices 
Appendix 1 – General Fund Budget Summary

Appendix 2 – General Fund – Earmarked Reserves Summary

Appendix 3 - Summary of the Main Controls Applied in Production of the Accounts 

15. Background Papers 
Statement of Accounts 2016/17 

Contact Officer:  Helen Lamb, extension 2063

i:\accountancy\closing\2016-17\outturn report\governance 2017-09-28\2016-17 outturn report.docx

88



  APPENDIX 1

2015/16
(restated) 

Actual
 

2016/17 
Original 
Budget

2016/17 
Revised 
Budget

2016/17 
Actual

£000  £000 £000 £000
 Directorate    

1,742. Chief Executive 1,643. 2,327. 1,000.
2,263. Governance 2,486. 2,367. 2,236.
7,376. Finance, Housing & Community 6,678. 7,680. 7,361.
5,068. Environment & Corporate Assets 5,103. 4,865. 4,832.

112. Non-distributed costs 152. 221. 186.
369. Special Revenue Projects 605. 913. 630.

16,930. Directorate Service Costs 16,667. 18,373. 16,245.
     

67. River Stour Drainage Board 68. 68. 68.
96. Council Tax Support Funding to Towns & Parishes 67. 67. 67.

(1,361) Recharge Income from HRA & Capital Projects (1,284) (1,328) (1,227)
(14) Accrued Annual Leave Adjustment 0. 0. 113.

 Contribution to/(from) Reserves:    .
1,151.   - Special Projects & Events Reserve (601) (909) 48.

72.   - Periodic Operations Reserve 47. (33) 162.
(120)   - Urgent Works Reserve 0. 0. (539)
462.   - Dover Regeneration Reserve 188. 150. 466.
404.   - IT Equipment Reserve 58. 58. (142)

1,106.   - Revenue Grants in Advance Reserve 0. (34) 614.
0.   - Business Rates & Council Tax Reserve (1,211) (1,175) (924)

18,793. Net Service Expenditure 13,999. 15,237. 14,951
     

 Financing Adjustments    
(412) Interest Receivable (247) (256) (263)
242. Interest Payable 238. 237. 237.

9. Loan Principal Repayments 0. 9. 9.

(2,311)
Revenue Expenditure Funded by Capital Under 
Statute 0. (1,274) (1,099)

78. Direct Revenue Financing of Capital (excluding direct 
expenditure)

0. 0. 654.

16,399. Total Budget Requirement 13,990. 13,953. 14,489.
     

 Financed by:    
4,296.   Non-Domestic Rates 2,897. 2,876. 2,806.
1,852.   Business Rates - Enterprise Zone Relief Retained 1,040. 1,096. 1,081.
2,597.   Revenue Support Grant 1,758. 1,758. 1,758.
5,947.   Council Tax 6,251. 6,251. 6,251.

112.   Council Tax - Collection Fund Surplus 145. 145. 145.
1,581.   New Homes Bonus 1,899. 1,907. 1,907.

120.   New Burdens & Other Grants 0. 0. 529.
16,505. Total Financing 13,990. 14,033. 14,477.

     

(106) General Fund Deficit/(Surplus) for the Year 0. (80) 12.
 

 
   

(2,889) General Fund Balance at Start of Year (2,992) (2,995) (2,995)
0. Transfer to Earmarked Reserves 450. 450. 450.

 
 

   

(2,995) Leaving Year End Balances of (2,542) (2,625) (2,533)

89



Dover District Council

APPENDIX 2

Earmarked General Reserves (2016/17 Year End Position)

Balance Contribution Application Balance Contribution Application Balance
2015/16 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General Fund Balance -2,995 0 462 -2,533 0 61 -2,472

Special Projects & Events Reserve -2,918 -529 481 -2,966 -20 970 -2,016

Periodic Operations Reserve -2,775 -1,006 233 -3,548 -172 720 -2,999

Urgent Works Reserve -1,714 -27 566 -1,175 0 220 -955

Dover Regeneration Reserve -1,555 -720 234 -2,041 -50 515 -1,374

ICT Equipment & Servers -866 -58 200 -724 -58 165 -617

Business Rates & Council Tax Support -1,812 -450 924 -1,338 0 728 -610

District Regen & Econ Development Reserve -12,500 0 0 -12,500 0 3,825 -8,675

Earmarked Reserves Total -24,140 -2,789 2,637 -24,292 -300 7,143 -17,246

Total Revenue Reserves -27,135 -2,789 3,099 -26,825 -300 7,204 -19,718

90



APPENDIX 3

Summary of the Main Controls Applied in Production of the Accounts 

Production of the accounts in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting requires a large number of tasks to be undertaken, and controls to be applied. 

These include:

 Preparation of a closedown plan, communication with budget managers as appropriate 
and monitoring progress.

 Staff preparing the accounts have attended seminars / briefings with CIPFA and with the 
auditors.

 Staff preparing the accounts have access to the Code Practitioners Guidance Notes.

 The Council’s financial feeder systems have been reconciled to the General Ledger.

 The General Ledger has been balanced.

 The value of fixed assets in the accounts has been reconciled to the asset register.

 The cash balance in the General Ledger has been reconciled to the Council’s bank 
accounts.

 All significant variances have been explained in the Outturn Report.

 Service expenditure in the Outturn report has been reconciled to the Income and 
Expenditure Account.

 The entries on the Collection Fund have been reconciled to the Council Tax set by the 
Council and the other precepting authorities.

 The cash movement on the balance sheet is reconciled.

 The balances on reserves reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement has been 
reconciled to the balance sheet.

 An analytical review has been undertaken and major variances have been explained.

Mike Davis
Director of Finance

91



Dover District Council

Subject: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016/17

Meeting and Date: GOVERNANCE - 28 SEPTEMBER 2017

Report of: Director of Finance, Housing & Community

Portfolio Holder: Corporate Resources and Performance

Classification: UNRESTRICTED

Purpose of the report: To present the audited Statement of Accounts for 2016/17 to 
Governance Committee.

Recommendations: That the audited Statement of Accounts for 2016/17 (Appendix 1) be 
approved and signed by the Chairman of the committee.

That the Committee authorise the Chairman to sign the Letter of 
Representation which is attached at Appendix 2.

1. Summary
Production of the Statement of Accounts is a statutory requirement for all local 
authorities.  The main focus for members is the outturn position which is disclosed in 
the Financial Outturn 2016/17 report also on the committee’s agenda.  The 
Statement of Accounts supports the Financial Outturn 2016/17 report and provides 
additional information for members if required.

The auditors, Grant Thornton, have completed their audit of the Statement of 
Accounts and have given an unqualified opinion.  A small number of minor 
adjustments and disclosure amendments were made to the draft statement of 
accounts provided to the auditors in order to improve the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.  

2. Background
Under the Council’s constitutional arrangements the Governance Committee is 
charged with the responsibility for approving the Statement of Accounts by 
30th September in accordance with regulations.  

The draft Statement of Accounts was circulated to the auditors in June for them to 
carry out their audit.  The audited Statement of Accounts is attached at Appendix 1 
and is subject to a final review by Grant Thornton.  This may result in some minor 
changes to the document; any significant changes will be reported to Members at 
Committee.  

3. Appendices
Appendix 1 – Statement of Accounts 2016/17
Appendix 2 - Letter of Representation

Contact Officer:  Helen Lamb, extension 42063

i:\accountancy\closing\2016-17\statement\governance 28-09-17\statement covering report.docx

92

Agenda Item No 9



APPENDIX 1

Statement
Of

Accounts

2016/17

93



1

CONTENTS

Page

Narrative Report 2

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts                                         13

CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 14
Movement in Reserves Statement 15
Balance Sheet 17
Cash Flow Statement 18
Notes to the Core Financial Statements 19

SUPPLEMENTARY STATEMENTS

Collection Fund 75
Housing Revenue Account 84
Charities Administered by Dover District Council 90

Independent Auditor's Report 92

Glossary of Financial Terms 95

94



2

NARRATIVE REPORT

1. INTRODUCTION

This foreword provides a brief summary of the Council’s financial performance over 
the last year and its year-end position at 31 March 2017

These accounts are produced for Dover District Council as a single entity and 
explain:

 What the Council's services cost in the year of account;
 Where the money came from; and
 What assets and liabilities the Council held at the year-end.

The accounts are supported by the Statement of Accounting Policies and by various 
notes to the accounts.  A Glossary of Financial Terms is provided on pages 95 to 
100.

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING AND PRESENTATION

The Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17. The Code is based on a 
hierarchy of approved accounting standards. 

The accounting convention adopted for the preparation of these Accounts is an 
historical cost basis modified for the revaluation of certain categories of assets.

This year the presentation of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
has changed. Up until this financial year the segments that made up the cost of 
services were set out in the Service Reporting Code for Practice, however this has 
now changed and the cost of services is now to be based on the Management 
Accounts of the Council.

3. OVERVIEW OF STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

The Statement of Accounts includes the following financial statements and 
associated notes:

(a) Narrative Report (pages 2 to 12)  

The foreword provides a brief explanation of the financial aspects of the 
Council's activities for the year, highlights any major events or changes in 
presentation or accounting that impact on the accounts and includes a review 
of the year and consideration of potential future issues.

(b) Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts (page 13)  

This sets out the respective responsibilities of the Authority and the Council's 
responsible financial officer.

(c) Core Financial Statements (page 14 to 18)  

The core financial statements consist of the following five statements and 
associated notes:

95



3

 Movement in Reserves Statement - MIRS (pages 15 to 16)

This statement shows the movement in the year of the different reserves held 
by the Council, analysed into Usable Reserves (i.e. those that can be applied 
to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves.  The surplus 
or deficit on the provision of services line shows the true economic cost of 
providing the Council's services, more details of which are shown in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  These are different from 
the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for 
council tax setting.  The Net Increase or Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before 
any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the 
Council.  The balance as at 31 March for all useable reserves is detailed at 
the end of the MIRS.

 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – CIES (page 14)

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the 
amount to be funded from Council Tax collected.  Authorities raise Council 
Tax to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different 
from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.

 Balance Sheet (page 17)

The Balance Sheet shows the value, as at the Balance Sheet date, of the 
assets and liabilities held by the Council.  The net assets of the Council 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Council.  
Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first category of reserves are 
usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Council may use to provide 
services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any 
statutory limitations on their use (e.g. the capital receipts reserve that may 
only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category 
of reserves is those that the Council is not able to use to provide services.  
This category includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for 
example the revaluation reserve), where amounts would only become 
available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold 
timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 
‘Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under 
Regulations’.

 Cash Flow Statement (page 18)

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents 
of the Council during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the 
Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash 
flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  The amount of net cash 
flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which 
the operations of the Council are funded by way of taxation and grant income 
or from the recipients of services provided by the Council.  Investing activities 
represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources 
which are intended to contribute to the Council's future service delivery.  Cash 

96



4

flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future 
cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council.

 Notes to the Core Financial Statements (pages 19 to 71)

The notes present information about the basis of preparation of the financial 
statements and the specific accounting policies used, e.g. the method of 
depreciation used, policies in respect of provisions and reserves and 
accounting for pension costs.  The notes disclose information required by the 
Code that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements but is 
relevant to understanding them.

(a) Supplementary Financial Statements (pages 75 to 91)  

In addition to the five core statements the following supplementary statements 
and associated notes are included within the accounts:

 Collection Fund (pages 75 to 83)
  
All council tax and business rates Dover District collects are paid into this 
separate account before being passed to the precepting authorities and 
Central Government.

The Collection Fund for English authorities is an agent's statement that 
reflects the statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate 
Collection Fund.  The statement shows the transactions of the billing authority 
in relation to the collection from taxpayers and the distribution to local 
authorities and Central Government of council tax and national non-domestic 
rates.

 The Housing Revenue Account (pages 84 to 89)

The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shows the economic cost in the 
year of providing social housing services in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices. The increase or decrease in revenue balance 
in the year is shown in the Movement on the HRA Statement.

 Charities Administered by Dover District Council (pages 90 to 91)

This section includes summarised accounts for three charities for which Dover 
District Council is the sole trustee.

(b) Independent Auditors’ Report (page 92)

The Council's external auditors provide an independent opinion on whether 
the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Council at the Balance Sheet date and of its income and expenditure for 
the year.

(c) Glossary (pages 95 to 100)  

This is a glossary of terms used in the Statement of Accounts.

97



5

SUMMARY OF THE 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

Dover District Council provides a variety of services for residents, local businesses and its 
tenants. Spending is split between revenue (as shown in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement) and capital in accordance with statute and accounting practice. 
Capital expenditure is incurred on items that provide value to the Council or the community 
for more than one year and is generally financed by loans, grants, revenue balances and 
proceeds from the sale of capital assets. Revenue expenditure is generally incurred on items 
that are utilised within the year and is further split between the General Fund Revenue 
Account and the Housing Revenue Account.  The General Fund Revenue Account includes 
the costs of providing day-to-day services to Council Tax payers and is financed from council 
tax, national non-domestic rates, government grants, fees and charges, use of reserves and 
other income. Expenditure charged to the Housing Revenue Account is defined in 
legislation, and relates to the cost of managing the Council’s housing stock, which is 
financed by rental income.  

The summaries of the financial year for these areas are detailed below.

GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT

The General Fund Revenue Account shows the net cost of providing day-to-day services. 
The following paragraphs and tables provide details of actual General Fund spend compared 
to the budget on which the council tax was set. The presentation of information in the tables 
below has been simplified as far as possible, and so it is different to the accounting cost 
reflected within the financial statements – but they both reflect the Council’s underlying 
financial position.

In March 2016 the Council set a net revenue budget of £13.990m. This was to be met by 
financing of £13.990m made up of central government grant of £5.695m, council tax income 
of £6.215m, New Homes Bonus of £1.899m and a Collection Fund surplus of £145k.  This 
resulted in forecast balanced budget for the year.

During the year the forecast budget was decreased by £37k to £13.953m. The financing was 
revised by £43k to £14.033m, resulting in an anticipated surplus of £80k.  The outturn was a 
requirement of £14.490m, £537k higher than the forecast position.  The financing received in 
the year was £14.477m, an increase of £444k from the forecast, mainly due to receipt of 
Community Housing Grant.  Overall the year-end position resulted in a £12k deficit for the 
year.

The actual net spend compared to the original, revised budgets and prior year spend are 
shown below.  These are shown by service area as used for the reporting in the annual 
budget & Medium Term Financial Plan.  

98



6

2015/16
(restated) 

Actual
 

2016/17 
Original 
Budget

2016/17 
Revised 
Budget

2016/17 
Actual

£000  £000 £000 £000
 Directorate    

1,742. Chief Executive 1,643. 2,327. 1,000.
2,263. Governance 2,486. 2,367. 2,236.
7,376. Finance, Housing & Community 6,678. 7,680. 7,361.
5,068. Environment & Corporate Assets 5,103. 4,865. 4,832.

112. Non-distributed costs 152. 221. 186.
369. Special Revenue Projects 605. 913. 630.

16,930. Directorate Service Costs 16,667. 18,373. 16,245.
     

67. River Stour Drainage Board 68. 68. 68.
96. Council Tax Support Funding to Towns & Parishes 67. 67. 67.

(1,361) Recharge Income from HRA & Capital Projects (1,284) (1,328) (1,227)
(14) Accrued Annual Leave Adjustment 0. 0. 113.

 Contribution to/(from) Reserves:    .
1,151.   - Special Projects & Events Reserve (601) (909) 48.

72.   - Periodic Operations Reserve 47. (33) 162.
(120)   - Urgent Works Reserve 0. 0. (539)
462.   - Dover Regeneration Reserve 188. 150. 466.
404.   - IT Equipment Reserve 58. 58. (142)

1,106.   - Revenue Grants in Advance Reserve 0. (34) 614.
0.   - Business Rates & Council Tax Reserve (1,211) (1,175) (924)

18,793. Net Service Expenditure 13,999. 15,237. 14,951
     

 Financing Adjustments    
(412) Interest Receivable (247) (256) (263)
242. Interest Payable 238. 237. 237.

9. Loan Principal Repayments 0. 9. 9.
(2,311) Revenue Expenditure Funded by Capital Under Statute 0. (1,274) (1,099)

78. Direct Revenue Financing of Capital (excluding direct 
expenditure)

0. 0. 654.

16,399. Total Budget Requirement 13,990. 13,953. 14,489.
     

 Financed by:    
4,296.   Non-Domestic Rates 2,897. 2,876. 2,806.
1,852.   Business Rates - Enterprise Zone Relief Retained 1,040. 1,096. 1,081.
2,597.   Revenue Support Grant 1,758. 1,758. 1,758.
5,947.   Council Tax 6,251. 6,251. 6,251.

112.   Council Tax - Collection Fund Surplus 145. 145. 145.
1,581.   New Homes Bonus 1,899. 1,907. 1,907.

120.   New Burdens & Other Grants 0. 0. 529.
16,505. Total Financing 13,990. 14,033. 14,477.

     

(106) General Fund Deficit/(Surplus) for the Year 0. (80) 12.
 

 
   

(2,889) General Fund Balance at Start of Year (2,992) (2,995) (2,995)
0. Transfer to Earmarked Reserves 450. 450. 450.

 
 

   

(2,995) Leaving Year End Balances of (2,542) (2,625) (2,533)

99



7

Major Variations

The table below provides a summary of the main variations between the original budget and 
the actual for the year. 

Variance
£000

Budget
£000

Original Budget Surplus 0.
   Homelessness - Increased costs of emergency accommodation 220.
   Internal Recharges - net increase in recharges recovered (185)
   Property services restructure costs to deliver future savings 82.
   Car Parks - increase in parking fee income and residents permits (76)
   Judicial review costs re planning decision on Western Heights 62.
   Enterprise Zone Relief - net extra grant, less other adjustments (36)
   East Kent Services - additional management fees savings (47)
   Benefits Admin Grant - additional sum for CTRS scheme admin (46)
   Land Charges - increase in search fees, less legal fees, etc. (31)
   NNDR – net savings on corporate properties (28)
   Miscellaneous other variances (net) 5.
Revised Budget Surplus (80)
   Reduced use of earmarked reserves 287.
   Internal Recharges - net variance (10)
   Savings in Apprenticeships budget (20)
   Business rates – extra levy, less S.31 and EZ relief grant 50.
   Members - expenditure reductions, incl. training and allowances (13)
   HR - reduced internal training costs (16)
   Dog Control - reduced kennelling of strays & out of hours support (12)
   Reduced bad debt provision for sundry debts (45)
   Premature Retirement Pension Costs - lower than budgeted (21)
   Court costs income increased for Council Tax debts (122)
   Net credit from HB subsidy & overpayments reduced 90.
   Homelessness - increased costs of emergency accommodation 30.

 Recycling - reduced contract inflation & recycling initiatives 
income

(56)

   Street Cleansing - reduced costs due to lower contract inflation (45)
   Grounds Maintenance Team - software licences and set-up costs 24.
   Cemeteries - additional Landscape Maintenance costs 15.
   Corporate Properties - increased rental income and lower costs (58)
   Miscellaneous other variances (net) 14.
Actual Budget Deficit 12.

Financing 

The financing of the budget of £14.4m came from:
£000 %

Council tax 1 6,251 43.2
Revenue Support Grant 2 1,758 12.1
Non-domestic rates 3 2,806 19.4
Enterprise Zone Relief Retained 4 1,081 7.5
New Homes Bonus 5 1,907 13.2
New Burdens, CT freeze & other grants 6 529 3.6
Collection Fund Surplus – Council Tax 7 145 1.0
Total 14,447 100.0

(1) Council tax is paid by the residents of the district to the Council. However, only 14.7% of 
the council tax collected was retained by the district, of which 10.8% was for its own use 

100



8

as 3.9% was to meet the precepts of the various town and parish councils. 71.2% was 
paid to Kent County Council with 9.6% paid to The Police & Crime Commissioner for 
Kent and 4.5% to the Kent and Medway Fire & Rescue Authority.

(2) Revenue Support Grant is received directly from Central Government based on their 
assessment of local authorities’ requirements.

(3) National non-domestic rates are set by Government but collected by the Council from 
businesses in the district. Under the current rates retention scheme the amounts 
collected are split between Central Government (50%), Dover District Council (40%), 
Kent County Council (9%), and the Kent and Medway Fire & Rescue Authority (1%).  In 
2016/17 £35.8m of NNDR was billed to ratepayers in the district.  However, Dover’s 40% 
share is reduced significantly by a tariff payable to Central Government of £10.6m which, 
in 2016/17, reduces its retained funding (after provisions, for example for Business Rates 
appeals) to £575k above the baseline level that the Government has calculated that it 
needs.  As a result, Dover pays a 50% levy of £288k to Government on this sum (i.e. on 
the “growth” of £575k).  See the Collection Fund section for more information (pages 75 
to 83).  

(4) Enterprise Zone Relief is granted to businesses in the Discovery Park, Sandwich, which 
is a designated Enterprise Zone.  Such relief is refunded by Government for distribution 
between Dover District Council, Kent County Council and the Kent and Medway Fire & 
Rescue Authority in their relevant proportions.  Dover’s share for 2016/17 is £1,116k, 
which is above the sum budgeted of £1,024k and therefore the extra £92k has to be 
carried forward and recognised in the following year under statutory requirements.  
However, in addition, we are required to recognise an adjustment relating to prior years 
EZ relief of £57k.  The net Enterprise Zone Relief Grant recognised in the year is 
£1,081k.

(5) The New Homes Bonus Scheme rewards councils for delivery of new homes in their 
districts.  The award to DDC under the scheme for 2016/17 was £1,907k.  

(6) The Government has provided £15k New Burdens Grants for “DCLG custom build LA 
payments”. £509k has been provided as a Community Housing grant and a further £5k 
for further S31 grants.

(7) Collection Fund Surplus – Council Tax.  This is the sum estimated (in January 2016) as 
the Council’s likely share of the distributable surplus on the Collection Fund at 31st March 
2016 relating to Council Tax, which has been distributed in 2016/17.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

The Council maintains a housing stock of 4,337 houses and flats. The income and 
expenditure from this account is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, but is also reported separately from the General Fund and is maintained in an 
account called the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

With effect from 1 April 2012 Housing Finance Reform brought the subsidy system to an end 
and replaced it with a self-financing system. This change required a one off payment to 
Central Government of £90,473k on 28 March 2012. To fund this payment the Council 
borrowed the same sum from the Public Works Loan Board on a 30 year repayment basis at 
a fixed interest rate.  £2,087k was paid off the PWLB loan principle sum during 2016/17.  
The reform will provide additional funds to invest in existing stock and future housing 
initiatives. 

101



9

In 2016/17 the HRA outturn was a surplus balance of £1,047k compared to the original 
budget forecast of a surplus of £1,102k, an adverse variance of £55k. The main reasons for 
the variance are as follows:

 Transfer to Housing Initiatives Reserve - £1.792m
 Re-phased spend on the Capital Works Programme - (£1.645m).
 Reduction in revenue maintenance budgets (£319k)

In 2016/17 £4.3m was transferred to the Housing Initiatives Reserve to provide investment 
for housing initiatives in the district whilst maintaining a working balance of £1m.

CAPITAL INVESTMENT

The Council invested £10.4m in major projects in 2016/17, the most significant of which 
were:

 £125k on works to progress the development of the Waterfront project in the Dover 
Town Investment Zone;

 £160k on the purchase of retail units within the Aylesham development;
 £104k on the heating upgrade for the Whitfield Offices building;
 £3.7m on Housing Revenue Account projects including £3.5m on property projects; 

and £137k on the refurbishment of play areas;
 £137k on grants and loans for private sector housing;
 £644k on disabled facility grants;
 £250k on grant funding issued to the Discovery Park Enterprise Zone;
 £100k on ICT projects including a new telephony system;
 £200k contribution to the KCC project to provide a Deal Youth Centre;
 £150k on play area facilities at North Deal Playing Fields and Pencester Gardens;
 £282k to purchase and install replacement pay and display meters in car parks 

across the district;
 £499k to purchase equipment for the Grounds Maintenance service being brought in-

house;
 £3.7m on the development of new leisure facilities for the district;
 The remainder has been spent on a number of smaller projects.

The main sources of capital financing applied in the year were:

 £1.069m in grants from external bodies including KCC Better Care Fund, Department 
for Communities and Local Government, Environment Agency, and the Heritage 
Lottery Fund;

 £3m from the Major Repairs Reserve;
 £525k from the Housing Revenue Account (revenue financing);
 £787k from capital receipts, including Private Sector Housing loan receipts and 

excess right to buy receipts;
 £423k from Section 106 monies (developer contributions);
 £910k from earmarked reserves.

Overall, the capital programme is within budget.

Right to Buy sales continue to be high due to Government initiatives to encourage sales; 
overall sales in 2016/17 were slightly lower than in 2015/16.

102



10

OTHER KEY FINANCIAL AREAS

In addition the Council has responsibilities for the following key financial areas:
 Treasury Management – the management and reporting of the authority’s 

investments, cash flow and borrowing;
 Balance Sheet – the detail of the assets and liabilities held by the authority;
 Pension Fund – reporting on the position of the authority’s pension fund.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

The Council adopted the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) 
revised Code of Practice for Treasury Management in November 2009.

At 31 March 2017 the Council had investment balances and day-to-day cash balances 
managed in-house of approximately £64.m. In addition, the Council held £1.9m of UK Gilts.

The Council’s in-house investments outperformed their benchmark (LIBID) and achieved an 
average return of 0.50% for the year.

The total interest received for the year was approximately £344k.  This was higher than the 
original budget of £329k, which is a favourable variance of £15k.  This is partly due to the 
greater use of notice accounts, fixed term deposits and short-term lending to other local 
authorities, thereby reducing the level of cash held in low interest call accounts, as well as 
the higher level of balances available for deposit generally.  This has enabled us to maintain 
projected investment income against a background of decreasing interest rate returns. 

The Council has remained within its Treasury Management guidelines, and has complied 
with the Prudential Code during the year.   

The Council has just under £85m of borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB).   
The Council also has a £3m LOBO (Lender’s Option, Borrower’s Option) with KA Finanz AG 
(formally Commerzbank).

During 16/17 the Council employed the services of Capita as treasury management 
advisers, from the 1st April 2017 this service will now be provided by Arlingclose Ltd.

BALANCE SHEET – The Council’s Assets and Liabilities 

At the end of each year a Balance Sheet is drawn up that represents how much the 
Council's land and buildings are worth, how much is owed to others, how much others owe 
the Council and the amount of cash the Council has: 

As at 31 March
 2016 

(Restated)
   2017

   £000    £000
Value of land, property and other assets 279,642. 291,762. 
Investments held and cash at bank 50,701. 66,347. 
Money owed to DDC for goods and services 8,852. 6,626. 
Loans owed to DDC (short and long term) 2,048. 2,074. 
Money owed by DDC for goods and services (14,583) (11,493)
Loans owed by DDC (short and long term) (90,008) (91,913)
Grants for assets received but not yet used (95) (378)

103



11

Share of pension scheme liabilities owed by DDC (76,958) (85,823)
Total Assets less Total Liabilities 159,599. 177,202. 

Financed by:
Usable reserves¹ 46,009.. 60,833. 
Unusable reserves² 113,590.. 116,369. 
Net Worth of Council 159,599.. 177,202. 

¹ Usable reserves are made up of:
Capital receipts and grants 9,472. 20,480. 
Revenue balances 4,008. 3,580. 
Earmarked reserves 32,529. 36,773. 

46,009. 60,833.

² Unusable reserves mainly comprise revaluations of assets from their original purchase 
value and the Pensions Reserve.    

PENSION FUND 

The Council is a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme administered by Kent 
County Council.  This Statement of Accounts reflects the full adoption of International 
Accounting Standard 19 (Retirement Benefits).    

Pension costs charged to services are based on the cost of providing retirement benefits to 
employees in the period that the benefits are earned by the employee rather than the actual 
cash contributions to the Pension Fund. This cost, referred to as the current service cost, is 
calculated by the Fund’s actuary.

The net liability at 31 March 2017 was £85.8 (£76.9m at 31 March 2016).  

It is important to note that IAS 19 does not have any impact on the actual level of employer 
contributions. Employers’ levels of contribution are determined by triennial actuarial 
valuations which are based on the Fund’s actual investment strategy (rather than being 
based on corporate bond yields). The scheme has been assessed by Barnett Waddingham, 
an independent firm of actuaries, on behalf of Kent County Council based upon the full 
valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2013. An actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried 
out as at 31 March 2016 and contributions were set based on the level of funding required 
for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.

Further information relating to the pension scheme is included in note 19.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

The Council’s Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2017/18 – 2020/21 
were approved in March 2017.  The MTFP covers both revenue and capital budgets for the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account over a three-year forecasting period.  The 
main features of the MTFP are:
 Balanced General Fund budget for 2017/18;
 Prudent General Fund balances maintained in 2017/18;
 Underlying net expenditure slightly reduced from 2016/17; 

104



12

 Council Tax increases continue to be capped at £5 with the Council Tax base forecast 
to continue growing; 

 Forecasting for future years shows savings of £1m per annum needed in 2018/19 and a 
further £700k per annum in 2019/20 and 2020/21; 

 Housing Revenue Account balance to be maintained at circa £1m with excess balances 
being transferred to a separate reserve to fund HRA based housing projects;

 The current capital programme is funded, subject to the borrowing arrangements for 
Dover Leisure Centre and the Property Investment Strategy;

 The major projects in the programme are;
 Property Investment Strategy;
 Replacement of Dover Leisure Centre;
 Refurbishment of Dover Town Hall.

 Significant risks and budget volatility remain for future years.

More detailed information on the Council’s Budget for 2017/18 and the Medium Term 
Financial Plan can be found on the Council’s website at: 
https://www.dover.gov.uk/Corporate-Information/Financial-Information/Budgets--
Accounts.aspx  

THE FUTURE

The Council, in common with others, will need to continue to make progress on and / or give 
consideration to:
 The economic climate and the impact of the EU Referendum outcome;
 Development and regeneration of the local economy;
 The ongoing impact of the Government’s budget deficit reduction programme on the 

Council’s finances;
 Welfare Reform and cessation of the administration of housing benefits for working age 

claimants;
 The sustainability of the NHB scheme;
 The ongoing impact of the localisation of council tax support;
 The ongoing impact of the Business Rates Retention scheme and the implementation of 

100% business rates retention;
 Proposals to transfer the Land Charges function to HM Land Registry and to devolve the 

setting of planning fees; and
 Developing partnership arrangements with others in order to achieve cost efficiencies.

105

https://www.dover.gov.uk/Corporate-Information/Financial-Information/Budgets--Accounts.aspx
https://www.dover.gov.uk/Corporate-Information/Financial-Information/Budgets--Accounts.aspx


13

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

The Authority's Responsibilities

The Authority is required:

 To make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to ensure 
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this 
Authority, that officer is the Director of Finance, Housing and Community;

 To manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; and

 To approve the Statement of Accounts.

The Director of Finance, Housing and Community’s Responsibilities

The Director of Finance, Housing and Community is responsible for the preparation of the 
Authority's Statement of Accounts in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code of Practice).

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance, Housing and Community 
has:

 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and
 Complied with the Code of Practice.

The Director of Finance, Housing and Community has also:

 Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and
 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

By signing the Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance, Housing and Community is 
stating that the accounts present a true and fair view of the financial position of the authority 
at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017.

This Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue following its approval by the Director of 
Finance, Housing and Community and the Chairman of the Governance Committee at the 
date given below.                                                                                                

Signed: Signed: 

Mike Davis CPFA Councillor Patrick Heath
Director of Finance, Housing and Community Chairman, Governance Committee

Dated:             Dated:  

106



14

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
2015/16 (restated) 2016/17

Gross 
Expenditure

£000

Gross 
Income

£000

Net 
Expenditure

£000 Continuing Operations
Note 
No

Gross 
Expenditure

£000

Gross 
Income

£000

Net Expenditure
£000

4,755. (2,105) 2,650.   Chief Executive 13,405. (2,719) 10,686.
46,000. (41,817) 4,183.   Director of Finance, Housing & Community 44,796. (40,899) 3,897.
17,997. (10,191) 7,806.   Director of Environment & Corporate Assets 19,364. (10,042) 9,322.

3,559. (937) 2,622.   Director of Governance 3,384. (981) 2,403.
546. (165) 381.   Special Projects 748. (118) 630.

(6,814) (21,169) (27,983)   Local Authority Housing (HRA) (2,951) (20,655) (23,606)
0. (113) (113)   Non-distributed Costs 0. (57) (57)

66,043. (76,497) (10,454) Net Cost of Services 78,746. (75,471) 3,275.
Other Operating Expenditure:

Amounts due to precepting authorities:
2,272. – Town and Parish Councils 2,310.

67. – River Stour Drainage Board Levy 68.

299.
Contribution of Housing Capital Receipts to Central 
Government Pool

24
297.

(748) (Gain) or loss on disposal of fixed assets 8   (9,761)
(22) Other income (15)

Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure:
3,085. Interest payable and similar charges 3,021.

70. Interest and investment income (492)
(67) Changes in the value of Investment Properties 6 (16)

2,549.   Net Interest on Defined Benefit Liability 19 2,629.
Taxation & Non-specific Grant Income:

(8,350) Demand on the Collection Fund – Council Tax 20 (8,661)
(5,323) Income from National Non-Domestic Rates 21 (4,898)
(4,299) Government grants (not attributable to specific services) 22 (4,189)
(2,790) Capital Grants and Contributions 22 (1,398)

(23,711) (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services (17,830)
(5,654) (Surplus) or deficit arising on revaluation of fixed assets 36 (7,293)

0. Prior Year Other Land and Buildings Adjustment 5 (50)
                 0. Prior Year Soft Loan Adjustment 16 (26)

144. (Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of available-for-sale financial 
assets

17 8.

(5,924) Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability on pension 
fund assets and liabilities

19 7,589.

(11,434) Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 228.

(35,145) Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (17,602)

107



15

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT
2015/16 (Restated)

Notes
 General

Fund

£000

Housing
Revenue
Account

£000

Earmarked
Gen Fund
Reserves

£000

Earmarked
HRA

Reserves
£000

Usable 
Capital

Receipts
£000

Capital
Grants

Unapplied
£000

Total
Usable

Reserves
£000

Unusable
Reserves

£000

 Total
Reserves

£000

Balance at 1 April 2,889. 1,094. 21,052 4,790. 4,567. 4,620. 39,012. 85,440. 124,452
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure
Surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services (2,404) 26,118.    23,714. 23,714.
Other comprehensive income & expenditure 11,434. 11,434.
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (2,404) 26,118. 0 0. 0. 0. 23,714. 11,434. 35,148.

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 5 2,994. 1,721. 4,715. (4,715) 0
Impairment of non-current assets 5 25. 25. (25) 0
Depreciation charged to the HRA HRA (3,066) 3,066. 0
MRA transferred to fund capital expenditure 3 (4,787) (4,787) 4,787. 0
Capital grants and contributions applied 22 (2,862) 357. (1,346) (3,851) 3,851. 0
Capital grants and contributions unapplied 22 0
Changes in the value of Investment Properties 6 (67) (67) 67. 0
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 11 2,311. 2,311. (2,311) 0
(Gain) or loss on disposal of non-current assets 8 640. (1,388) 3,177 2,429. (2,429) 0
Revaluation gain 34 (90) (15,814) (15,904) 15,904. 0
Adjustments under statutory provisions relating to soft 
loans 16 692. 692. (692) 0

Loan Principal Repayments 14 (9) (9) 9. 0
Net charges made for retirement benefits 19 1,388. 38. 1,426. (1,426) 0
Council tax income regulatory adjustment 20 (116) (116) 116. 0
NNDR income regulatory adjustments 21 53. 53. (53) 0
Enterprise Zone Relief regulatory adjustment 21 783. 783. (783) 0
Renewable Energy regulatory adjustment 21 (12) (12) 12. 0
Capital expenditure charged to revenue 10 (457) (2,370) (2,827) 2,827. 0
Employee benefits – accrued annual leave 23 14. 14. (14) 0
Transfer from usable capital receipts equal to the amount 
payable into the housing capital receipts pool

24 299. (299) 0

Capital receipts applied 10 (1,591) (1,591) 1,591. 0
Net Increase or Decrease before Transfers to / from 
Earmarked Reserves

3,182. 3,518. 0 0. 1,644. (1,346) 6,998. 28,150. 35,148.

Transfers to or (from) earmarked reserves 26 (3,076) (3,599) 3,088 3,599. (12) 0. 0.
Increase or Decrease in Year 106. (81) 3,088 3,599. 1,644. (1,358) 6,998. 28,150. 35,148.

Balance at 31 March 2,995. 1,013. 24,140 8,389. 6,211. 3,262. 46,010. 113,590. 159,600.

108



16

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT
2016/17

Notes
 General

Fund

£000

Housing
Revenue
Account

£000

Earmarked
Gen Fund
Reserves

£000

Earmarked
HRA

Reserves
£000

Usable 
Capital

Receipts
£000

Capital
Grants

Unapplied
£000

Total
Usable

Reserves
£000

Unusable
Reserves

£000

 Total
Reserves

£000

Balance at 1 April 2,995. 1,013. 24,140. 8,389. 6,211. 3,262. 46,010 113,590.. 159,600
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure
Surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services (3,600) 21,432. 0. 0. 0. 0. 17,832. 0. 17,832.
Other comprehensive income & expenditure 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (228) (228)
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (3,600) 21,432. 0. 0. 0. 0. 17,832. (228) 17,604.

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 5 3,665. 0. 0. 1,945. 0. 0. 5,610. (5,610) 0.
Impairment of non-current assets 5 9,182. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 9,182. (9,182) 0
Reversal of Major Repairs Allowance credited to HRA 0. (3,141) 0. 3,141. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0
MRA transferred to fund capital expenditure

HRA 
3 0. 0. 0. (5,086) 0. 0. (5,086) 5,086. 0

Capital grants and contributions (1,413) 0. 0. 0. 214. (94) (1,293) 1,293. 0
Movement in the market value of Investment Properties 6 (16) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (16) 16. 0
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 11 1,099. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 1,099. (1,099) 0
(Gain) or loss on disposal of non-current assets 8 (8,759) (1,004) 0. 0. 11,888. 0. 2,125. (2,125) 0
Revaluation gain 34 (22) (12,448) 0. 0. 0. 0. (12,470) 12,470. 0
Adjustments under statutory provisions relating to soft 
loans 16 (63) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (63) 63. 0

Loan Principal Repayments 14 (9) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (9) 9. 0
HRA Housing Finance Reform 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0
Net charges made for retirement benefits 19 1,256. 20. 0. 0. 0. 0. 1,276. (1,276) 0
Council tax income regulatory adjustment 20 (17) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (17) 17. 0
NNDR income regulatory adjustments 21 (944) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (944) 944. 0
Enterprise Zone Relief regulatory adjustment 21 (35) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (35) 35. 0
Renewable Energy regulatory adjustment 21 (33) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (33) 33. 0
Capital expenditure charged to revenue 10 (802) (632) 0. 0. 0. 0. (1,434) 1,434. 0
Employee benefits – accrued annual leave 23 (113) 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. (113) 113. 0
Transfer from usable capital receipts equal to the amount 
payable into the housing capital receipts pool

24 297. 0. 0. 0. (297) 0. 0. 0. 0

Capital receipts applied 10 0. 0. 0. 0. (787) 0. (787) 787. 0
Net Increase or Decrease before Transfers to/from 
Earmarked Reserves

(327) 4,227. 0. 0. 11,018. (94) 14,824. 2,780. 17,604.

Transfers to or (from) earmarked reserves 26 (134) (4,193) 134 4,110. 83. 0. 0. 0. 0.
Increase or (Decrease) in Year (462) 34. 134 4,110. 11,101. (94) 14,824. 2,780. 17,604.

Balance at 31 March 2,533. 1,047. 24,274. 12,499. 17,312. 3,168. 60,833. 116,369. 177,202.

109



17

BALANCE SHEET

31 March 2015 
(restated)

31 March 2016 
(restated)

31 March 2017

£000 £000 Notes £000
164,928. 183,498 Council dwellings 196,030.

73,379. 76,469 Land and buildings 75,953.
1,104. 1,093 Vehicles, plant and equipment 2,123.
7,156. 8,890 Infrastructure assets 8,646.

182. 178 Community assets 174.
3,098. 2,992 Assets under construction 2,189.

249,847. 273,120. Property, Plant and Equipment 5            285,115

4,127. 4,127. Heritage assets 7 4,127.
2,201. 2,268. Investment property 6 2,355.

157. 66. Intangible assets 5 38.
6. 6. Long term investments 12 6.

2,817. 2,048. Soft loans 16 2,074.
1,006. 1,212. Long term debtors 27 1,011.

10,314. 9,727. Long Term Assets                  9,611  

22,046. 34,504. Short term investments 12 55,796.
168. 61. Stocks in hand 127.

12,318. 11,748. Short term debtors 27 9,727.
(3,448) (4,108) Less provision for bad debts 27          (4,112)
22,932. 16,191. Cash and cash equivalents 28 10,545.
54,016. 58,396. Current Assets                72,083

(2,187) (2,252) Short term borrowing 13 (6,320)
(10,064) (10,877) Short term creditors 29 (7,861)

(3,249) (1,161) Provisions 30 (982)
(2,164) (2,545) Receipts in advance 31 (2,650)
(17,664) (16,835) Current Liabilities              (17,813)

(89,851) (87,756) Long term borrowing 13 (85,593)
(754) (95) Capital grants received in advance 33 (378)

(81,456) (76,958) Pensions liability 19 (85,823)
(172,061) (164,809) Long Term Liabilities            (171,794)

124,452.. 159,600. Net Assets 177,202.

2,889. 2,995. General Fund balance 25 2,533.
1,094. 1,013. Housing Revenue Account balance 25 1,047.

21,052. 24,140. Earmarked reserves 26 24,274.
4,790. 8,389. Housing Revenue Account reserves 26 12,499.
4,567. 6,211. Usable capital receipts reserve 24 17,312.
4,620. 3,262. Capital grants unapplied 32 3,168.

39,012..
46,010.. Reserves Available to Fund Services 60,833

37,605. 41,540. Revaluation reserve 36 46,405.
130,339. 151,614. Capital adjustments account 34 157,195.

166. 22. Available-for-sale financial instruments reserve 17 14.
(832) (1,524) Financial adjustments account 15 (1,461)

(1,411) 404. Collection Fund adjustment account-Council tax 20 422.
288. (1,464) Collection Fund adjustment account-NNDR 21 (519)
840. 57. Enterprise Zone relief adjustment account 21 92.

0. 12. Renewable Energy adjustment account 21 44.
(99) (113) Employee adjustment account 23 0.

(81,456) (76,958) Pensions reserve 19 (85,823)
85,440.. 113,590. Reserves Unavailable to Fund Services              116,369

124,452. 159,600 Total Reserves              177,202

110



18

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2015/16 
(restated)

2016/17

£000 £000  £000 £000

22,932 Cash & cash equivalents – at 1 April 16,191.

16,191 Cash & cash equivalents – at 31 March (10,545)

6,741 Net (increase) or decrease in Cash & Cash Equivalents 5,646.

£000 £000  £000 £000

(23,713) Net surplus on Income & Expenditure (17,603)

Non-cash transactions:
(3,000) Depreciation and amortisation (3,669)
15,946. Revaluation gains / losses 3,304.

747. Gains / losses on disposal of fixed assets 9,754.
(1,426) Pension adjustments (1,276)

(548) Financial instruments adjustments 71.
2,087. Provisions 179.

(1,721) Transfer to/from earmarked reserves (1,945)
12,085 6,418.

Items on an accruals basis:
(106) Increase or (decrease) in stock and work in progress 66.
221. Increase or (decrease) in debtors (1,862)
206. Increase or (decrease) in long term debtors (201)

(555) Movement in provision for bad debts (48)
(379) (Increase) or decrease in creditors 422.
(382) (Increase) or decrease in receipts in advance (334)
(709) Collection Fund adjustment accounts 1,029.

(1,704) (928)

Adjustments re investing and financing activities:
(2,311) Revenue expenditure funded from capital (1,098)
2,862. Capital grant contributions and capital receipts 1,413.

551. 315.

(12,781) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (11,798)

Investing activities:
9,102. Purchase of property, plant, equipment, etc. 9,190.

(78) Other payments for investing activities (63)
(4,699) Proceeds from long and short term investments (19,115)
17,125. Purchase of long and short term investments 40,400.
(3,534) Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets (12,102)

465. Movement in capital grants (383)

18,381 Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 17,927.

Financing activities:
2,031. Net movement in short & long term borrowing (1,905)
(890) Net movement in Collection Fund cash position 1,422.

1,141 Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities (483)

6,741 5,646.

111



19

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) General 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority’s transactions for the financial 
year and its position at the year-end.  The Accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17. The Code is based on a hierarchy of approved accounting 
standards:

 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) approved by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);

 International Accounting Standards (IAS) approved by the International 
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC);

 Interpretations originating from the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC);

 Interpretations originating from the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC);
 International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) approved by the 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB);
 Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) approved by the Accounting Standards 

Board (ASB);
 Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP) approved by the 

Accounting Standards Committee (ASC);
 Urgent Issues Task Force’s (UITF) Abstracts.

The accounting convention adopted for the preparation of these Accounts is an 
historical cost basis modified for the revaluation of certain categories of assets.

(b) Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information

 Relevance – in accordance with IAS 8 (Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors) the objective of the principal statements is to 
provide information on the Council’s financial performance that is useful for 
assessing the stewardship of public funds and for making economic decisions. 

 Reliability – the financial information can be depended upon to represent 
accurately the substance of the transactions that have taken place.  The 
accounts are unbiased, free from material error, have been prepared in a 
prudent manner and have included all issues that would assist users to make 
adequate decisions on the Council’s financial standing. 

 Comparability – the accounts contain comparative information about the 
Council so that performance may be compared with a prior period. 

 Understandability - although a reasonable knowledge of accounting and local 
government is required, all efforts have been made in the preparation of the financial 
statements to ensure that they are as easy to understand as possible.

 Materiality – an item of information is material to the accounts if its 
misstatement or omission might reasonably be expected to influence 
assessments of the Council’s stewardship and economic decisions.  

112



20

(c) Accounting Concepts

 Going concern – it is assumed that the Council will continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future and accordingly the accounts have been 
prepared on a going concern basis. 

 Accruals – the financial statements, other than the Cash Flow Statement, have 
been prepared on an accruals basis.  The accruals basis requires the effects of 
transactions to be reflected in the financial statements for the accounting period 
in which those effects are experienced and not in the period in which any cash 
is received or paid. 

 Primacy of legislation – local authorities derive their power from statute and 
their financial and accounting framework is closely controlled by legislation.  
Where there is conflict between a legal requirement and an accounting 
standard, the legal requirement will take precedence.

(d) Accruals of Income and Expenditure (Debtors and Creditors)

Income and expenditure is accrued to ensure that it is accounted for in the year to 
which it relates, not when cash payments are made or received. In particular:

 Revenue from the sale or provision of goods and services is recognised when 
it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Council.

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed, where 
supplies remain unconsumed as at the balance sheet date they are carried as 
inventories on the Balance Sheet.

 Expenses in relation to services received, including services provided by 
employees, are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made.

 Revenue relating to council tax and business rates will be recorded at the full 
amount receivable, net of any impairment losses. These transactions are 
deemed to be of a non-contractual, non-exchange nature in that there is no 
difference between the delivery of services and the payment of the debt 
raised.

 Interest receivable on investments is accounted for as income on the basis of 
the effective interest rate for the relevant investment rather than the cash 
flows for the redemption of the investment or interest due dates.

Where income or expenditure has been recognised within the income and 
expenditure account, but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for 
the amount stated will be recorded on the Balance Sheet. Where debts raised may 
not be settled, the balance of debtors will be adjusted by an impairment adjustment 
charged to the revenue account.

Exceptions to these principles periodic payments, such as utility bills, which are 
charged at the date of invoice rather than being apportioned between financial years; 
and penalty charge notices and licensing fees which are accounted for on the day of 
receipt. This policy is consistently applied each year and its effect on the Accounts is 
not considered to be material.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value and are shown on the Balance Sheet at their nominal value.  The 

113



21

authority has defined cash equivalents as internally held investments with a maturity 
of 100 days or less from the date of acquisition of the investment.  

(f) Council Tax and National Non-Domestic (Business) Rates

Revenue relating to council tax and NNDR shall be measured at the full amount 
receivable (net of any impairment losses) as they are non-contractual, non-exchange 
transactions.

For the majority of transactions the Council undertakes it is acting entirely on its own 
behalf and completely owns any risks and rewards of the transaction. This is known 
as the Council acting as a Principal.

However there are some situations whereby the Council is acting as an Agent, where 
the Council is acting as an intermediary for all or part of a transaction or service. The 
two main instances where this occurs are in relation to council tax and business rates 
(NDR) whereby the Council is collecting council tax and NDR income on behalf of 
itself and preceptors (Kent County Council (KCC), The Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Kent (PCCK) and Kent Fire and Rescue Authority (KFR) in relation 
to Council Tax, and the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), 
KCC and KMFRA in relation to Business Rates).

The implications for this is that any balance sheet transactions at the year end, in 
relation to these Agent relationships, are split between the principal parties and, 
therefore, the balances contained on the Balance Sheet for a particular debt are the 
Council’s own proportion of the debt and associated balances. The proportions of 
transactions that relate to the other parties to the relationship are shown as debtors 
or creditors due from/to these parties.

The amount shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 
demand on the Collection Fund includes the accrued amount of council tax and NDR 
collected as well as amounts from previous years’ estimates.  This adjustment is 
subsequently reversed within the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Collection 
Fund Adjustment Account.

(g) Provisions

The Council sets aside provisions for liabilities or losses that are either likely to, or 
certain to be incurred, but uncertain as to the amount or the date on which they will 
arise. Provisions are recognised when:

 The Council has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event;

 It is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and

 A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(h) Contingent Assets and Liabilities

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the authority.

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the authority.  

114



22

Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise 
be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but 
disclosed in a note to the accounts, detailing the nature of the contingency, a brief 
description and an estimate of its financial effect.

(i) Debt Write-Off

The Director of Finance, Housing and Community approves the processes and 
reporting for the write-off of debt and reviews the actual write-off of debt where efforts 
to collect the sums have failed and any further action would be uneconomic or 
impractical.  In order to mitigate the financial impact of write-offs a provision is made 
for bad debt taking into account the size and age of the debt outstanding and the 
likelihood of recovery.

(j) Employee Benefits

Under the Code employee benefits are accounted for when the Council is committed 
to pay an employee.  Employee benefits are split into three categories:

Benefits Payable during Employment

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within twelve months of the 
year end.  They include benefits such as salaries and wages, paid annual leave and 
paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees 
and are recognised as an expense in the year the employee renders service to the 
Authority.

Termination Benefits

This covers costs that are payable as a result of either an employer’s decision to 
terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or an 
employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.  
They are often lump-sum payments and salary until the end of a specified notice 
period if the employee renders no further service that provides economic benefits to 
the entity. 

In the event of notice of termination being served on an employee the known liability 
is recognised at the earlier of when the authority can no longer withdraw the offer of 
these benefits or when the authority recognises the costs of a restructure, which will 
involve the payment of termination benefits.  Any enhanced retirement benefits paid 
by the employer are accounted for on a cash basis.

Post-Employment Benefits

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the Council 
offers retirement benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until 
employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments that needs to 
be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.  The Local 
Government Pension Scheme is administered locally by Kent County Council – this is 
a defined benefit statutory scheme administered in accordance with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2014, is contracted out of the State 
Second Pension and currently provides benefits based on career average revalued 

115



23

salary and length of service on retirement, meaning that the Council and employees 
pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension 
liabilities with investment assets.

Under IAS 19, the employer recognises as an asset or liability the surplus/deficit in a 
pension scheme.  The surplus/deficit in a pension scheme is the excess/shortfall of 
the value of assets when compared to the present value of the scheme liabilities.  A 
prerequisite of the introduction of IAS 19 was that it did not impact on taxation 
requirements.  Where the contributions paid to the pension scheme do not match the 
change in the Council’s recognised liability for the year, the recognised cost of 
pensions will not match the amount required to be raised in taxation.  Any such 
mismatch is to be dealt with by an equivalent appropriation to or from a pension 
reserve.  The Balance Sheet will show the net pension asset or liability and an 
equivalent pension reserve balance.

Contributions to the pension scheme are determined by the fund’s actuary on a 
triennial basis.  A formal valuation of the Kent County Council Pension Fund for 
funding purposes was undertaken as at 31 March 2016.  Changes to contribution 
rates as a result of the 31 March 2016 valuation take effect from 1 April 2017. 

(k) Events After the Balance Sheet Date

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.  

The authorised for issue date is:
 When the Accounts are signed by the Council’s Section 151 Officer for 

approval by Members and published with the audit opinion and certificate which 
should be by no later than 30 September.

Two types of events can be identified:

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; 
or

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes 
of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts.

(l) Exceptional Items 

When exceptional items (where items of income and expense are material) occur, 
they are included in the cost of the service to which they relate or on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement if that degree of prominence is 
necessary in order to give a fair presentation of the accounts.  A description of any 
exceptional items would be given within the notes to the accounts.

116



24

(m) Prior Period Adjustments

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or 
to correct a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for in the 
current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period 
adjustment.

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the 
effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Authority’s financial position 
or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively 
(unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts 
for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.

(n) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are broken down between financial assets (investments and 
debtors) and financial liabilities (creditors and loans payable).

Debtors and creditors are measured at fair value and are carried in the Balance 
Sheet at amortised cost. 

Financial Assets 

Investments are broken down in two ways.  Firstly, by maturity, in that any 
investment with a maturity date of more than 364 days after the Balance Sheet date 
will be classed as long-term and less than as short-term; and secondly by class of 
asset such as loans and receivables (e.g. bank deposits) or available-for-sale (e.g. 
fund manager portfolio).

Loans and receivables are assets that have fixed or determinable payments, but are 
not quoted in an active market; these are recognised at fair value and are carried on 
the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. 

Available-for-sale assets have a quoted active market price and do not have fixed or 
determinable payments.  These are measured and carried on the Balance Sheet at 
fair value. 

Accrued interest receivable within 364 days of the Balance Sheet date will be 
recognised as part of the short-term investment balance on the Balance Sheet, 
irrespective of the date of maturity of the investment.  This is a departure from the 
Code which requires accrued interest to be shown as part of the debtors’ balance.

Realised gains and losses in relation to investments are recognised within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement under interest and investment 
income.  Unrealised gains and losses are recognised in the Balance Sheet under the 
appropriate investment heading offset by an adjustment to the Available-for-Sale 
Financial Instruments Reserve.

117



25

Soft Loans

The Authority makes Private Sector Housing loans at less than market rates (soft 
loans). When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value 
of the interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal. Interest is credited to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate 
receivable, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in 
the Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the 
General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for the financial year – the 
reconciliation of amounts debited and credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is 
managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. For most of the borrowings 
that the Authority has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is 
the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest); and interest charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the 
year according to the loan agreement.

(o) Foreign Currency Transactions

Any gains and losses arising from exchange rate fluctuations will be charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of payment or 
receipt.

(p) Government Grants and Other Contributions

Government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as 
due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that the Authority will 
comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and the grants or contributions 
will be received.  

Grants specific to a service will be shown against that service expenditure line. 
General grant, e.g. Revenue Support Grant and New Homes Bonus are credited and 
disclosed separately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
under taxation and non-specific grant income.

Capital grants and contributions (such as Section 106 developer contributions) 
received will be credited in full to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement on receipt where there are no conditions attached to its use and in the 
year that the capital expenditure is incurred where there are conditions attached to its 
use.

118



26

(q) Long Term Contracts 

Long term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the “surplus or deficit 
on the provision of services” with the value of works and services received under the 
contract during the financial year.  

(r) Leases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a 
payment, or series of payments, the right to use an asset for an agreed period of 
time.

Where the lease transfers substantially all the risk and rewards associated with the 
ownership of an asset (title may or may not eventually be transferred) the lease is 
defined as a finance lease.  A lease other than a finance lease is called an operating 
lease.  A definition of a lease includes hire purchase arrangements.

Finance Leases

The Council currently has no material finance lease arrangements where it is the 
lessor or where it is a lessee. 

Operating Leases

Lease payments under an operating lease shall be recognised as income or 
expenditure on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless another systematic 
basis is more representative of the benefits received by the Council where the 
Council is a lessor or lessee respectively. 

(s) Non-Current Assets

The Council has set a de-minimus level of £10k for the purposes of capital 
expenditure.  In the case where the individual value of an item, e.g. computer, is 
below the de-minimus level, but the aggregate value of similar items purchased in the 
year exceed the de-minimus level, the expenditure may be treated as capital 
expenditure.

(i) Impairment of Non-Current Assets

A review for impairment of a non-current asset should be carried out if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the non-
current asset may not be recoverable.  Examples of events and changes in 
circumstances that indicate impairment may have been incurred include: 

 a significant decline in market value during the period;
 evidence of obsolescence or physical damage;
 a significant adverse change in the statutory or other regulatory 

environment in which the Council operates; and
 a commitment by the Council to undertake a significant reorganisation.

In the event that impairment is identified the value will either be written off to 
the revaluation reserve, where sufficient reserve levels for that asset exist, or 
written off to revenue through the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

119



27

Statement.  Any impairment at the Balance Sheet date is shown in the notes 
to the core financial statements.

(ii) Gains or Losses on Disposal of Non-Current Assets

When an asset is disposed of or de-commissioned, the net book value of the 
asset and the receipt from the sale are both charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement which could result in a net gain or loss on 
disposal.  

Receipts in excess of £10k are categorised as capital receipts.  The receipt is 
required to be credited to the usable capital receipts reserve and can only be 
used to finance capital expenditure.  Receipts below £10k are usually 
considered de-minimus and treated as revenue.

The net gain or loss on disposals has no impact on taxation requirements as 
the financing of non-current assets is provided for under separate 
arrangements.

(iii) Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets that have been identified for sale by the Council will be 
reclassified as current assets when the asset is being actively marketed and 
has a high probability of sale within twelve months of the Balance Sheet date.  

(iv) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets (i.e. assets with physical 
substance) that are held for use in the production or supply of goods and 
services or for administrative purposes, and expected to be used during more 
than one period.

Property, plant and equipment are split into five categories as described 
below:

 Land and buildings
 Vehicles, plant and equipment
 Infrastructure assets
 Community assets
 Assets under construction

The policy for each type of asset is explained below.

 Land and Buildings

The Council has a policy of revaluing its property assets on a rolling 
programme such that the intervals between valuations do not exceed 5 years. 
Additionally, assets with a value in excess of £1m are revalued on an annual 
basis.

The valuations are carried out by a qualified surveyor in accordance with the 
latest guidance issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  
Valuations are based on the market value for existing use or, where a market 
value cannot be determined as the property is of a specialist nature, the 

120



28

depreciated replacement cost.  The method used on the current year’s 
valuation will be explained in the notes to the accounts.  Items of plant that 
are integral to the operation of a building are included in the valuation for that 
building.

All buildings are subject to straight line depreciation over their estimated 
useful lives up to 80 years depending on the building.  In accordance with the 
Code land is not depreciated.

Under the Code the Council is required to consider the componentisation of 
significant parts of an asset, where they are of a material financial nature or 
have significantly differing life expectancies.  The Council has carried out a 
review of its non-current assets and has set a minimum asset value of £1m to 
be considered for componentisation.

 Vehicles, Plant and Equipment

Vehicles, plant and equipment, other than plant that is integral to the 
operation of a building, are recognised in the Balance Sheet at historic cost 
and are subject to straight line depreciation over a period of up to 12 years.

 Infrastructure Assets

These assets are carried on the Balance Sheet at historic cost and are not 
subject to revaluation.  These assets are subject to straight line deprecation 
over a period of up to 40 years. Examples of infrastructure assets are sea 
defences, footpaths and signage.

 Community Assets

These are non-current assets that the Council intends to hold in perpetuity, 
that have no determinable useful life, and that may have restrictions on their 
disposal.  Examples of community assets are parks and open spaces.

These assets are carried on the Balance Sheet at historic cost and are not 
subject to revaluation or depreciation.

 Surplus Assets

This covers assets that are not being used to deliver services, but which do 
not meet the criteria to be classified as either investment properties or non-
current assets held for sale.

 Assets under Construction

This covers assets not yet ready for operational use, but expected to be 
operational within twelve months of the Balance Sheet date.  Assets under 
construction are not subject to revaluation or depreciation.

(v) Investment Property

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and / or 
for capital appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any 

121



29

way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for 
sale.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair 
value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As 
a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best 
use. The fair value of these assets can be attributed in three ways.

 Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets/liabilities 
that the authority can access at the measurement date.

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

 Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

For the purposes of investment property fair value will be determined at level 
2 using market knowledge and indices on market values of compatible 
properties.

Properties are subject to revaluation on an annual basis in accordance with 
market conditions at the year-end. However, due to the nature and size of the 
portfolio held full valuation reviews are carried out once every five years or 
earlier where there is a material change in value.
 
Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal.
Rentals income received in relation to investment properties are credited to 
the Financing and Investment Income line and result in a gain for the General 
Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not 
permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund 
Balance. The gains and losses are, therefore, reversed out of the General 
Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the 
Capital Adjustment Account and the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Investment properties are not subject to depreciation.

(vi) Intangible Assets

These are non-current assets that do not have physical substance, but are 
identifiable and controlled by the Council through custody or legal rights.  
Intangible assets held by this Council currently consist of IT software and 
associated costs.

Intangible Assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet at historic cost, are 
not subject to revaluation, but are amortised over their useful economic life 
assessed to be 5 years for IT software and associated costs.

(vii) Heritage Assets

These are assets held principally for their contribution to knowledge or culture 
and meet the definition of a heritage asset.  Heritage Assets may be either 
tangible or intangible with historical, artistic or scientific qualities.

Heritage assets are carried at valuation (e.g. insurance valuation) rather than 
fair value, reflecting the fact that exchanges of heritage assets are 

122



30

uncommon. Valuations are determined by the insurance valuation, or where 
not available the historical cost. Although there are no prescribed minimum 
periods for review, the assets will be reviewed in line with the insurance policy 
and material changes will be incorporated into the accounts. A de-minimis 
level has been set at £10k for heritage assets based on the method of 
valuation above.

Heritage Assets are not subject to depreciation.

(t) Overheads and Support Services 

The majority of management and administrative expenses, including buildings, are 
allocated to Services. Costs of Support Services are allocated on the basis of 
estimated time spent by officers on services, or other appropriate basis, and costs of 
buildings are apportioned on a floor area basis. The costs of Corporate Management 
and Democratic Core, resulting from the Council being a multifunctional organisation, 
are allocated to a separate objective head and, in accordance with the Code, are not 
reapportioned.

(u) Reserves

The Council maintains both general and earmarked reserves. General reserves are 
to meet general future expenditure and earmarked reserves are for identified 
purposes.  No expenditure is charged directly to a reserve, but is charged to the 
service revenue account within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. This is then offset by a reserve appropriation within the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.

(v) Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute

This is expenditure of a capital nature on non-current assets not owned by the 
Council.  Under the Code this is revenue expenditure and as such the expenditure is 
charged in full to the relevant service revenue account in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement in the year it is incurred.  Statute, however, allows such 
expenditure to be funded from capital resources.

(w) Value Added Tax (VAT)

VAT is included within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement only 
to the extent that it is irrecoverable.

(x) Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Council continues to face a significant financial challenge brought about by 
reductions in funding from Government and the general economic climate, as well as 
some specific government-led initiatives that will impact on the Council’s finances.

Taking account of the above, critical judgements made in respect of the Statement of 
Accounts are: 

 The Council continues to face a significant financial challenge bought about by, 
in the main, the Government’s budget deficit reduction programme and the 
economic climate, as well as some specific government led-initiatives that will 
impact on the Council’s finances. The impact of these pressures is not 
considered to require any impairment in the valuation of the Council’s assets;

123



31

 The result of the EU referendum was a vote to leave the European Union. This 
decision could have an impact on the Council’s future financial position but at 
this stage it is not possible to assess what that impact might be however it is not 
considered necessary to require any change in the financial position reported;

 It has been concluded that the contract for waste collection and recycling entered 
into by the East Kent Waste Partnership, consisting of Shepway, Dover and Kent 
County councils, does not include an embedded lease in respect of the assets 
used to provide the service. Therefore, no assets have been recognised on the 
balance sheet and all contract payments have been accounted for as supplies 
and services within the appropriate service lines in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement; and

 The Council is a joint owner of East Kent Housing Ltd, an arms-length 
management organisation (ALMO), whose principal activity is to manage each of 
the four partner authorities' council housing stock. The company has been 
treated as a related party and transactions of the ALMO recorded as a service 
provider.

2. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on 
assumptions made by the Authority about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. 
Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and 
other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with 
certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and 
estimates.  The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet for which there is a significant 
risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows:

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results 
Differ from Assumptions

Property, Plant 
and
Equipment

Assets are depreciated over 
useful lives that are dependent on 
assumptions about the level of 
repairs and maintenance that will 
be incurred in relation to individual 
assets. The current economic 
climate makes it uncertain that the 
Authority will be able to sustain its 
current spending on repairs and 
maintenance, bringing into doubt 
the useful lives assigned to 
assets.

If the useful life of assets is 
reduced, depreciation 
increases and the carrying 
amount of the assets fall. 
The annual depreciation 
charge for buildings would 
increase if useful lives had to 
be reduced.

Property, Plant 
and
Equipment

Asset valuations are calculated on 
a maximum 5-year cycle with the 
exception of Housing Revenue 
Account dwellings and garages 
which are also valued annually 
based on market indices as at 31 
December (with the valuation valid 
for the 3 months to 31 March).  If 
the market indicators change the 
asset values could be affected.

For HRA dwellings a 1% 
change in the indicators 
would result in £1.96m 
change in the balance sheet 
values, equating to 
approximately £450 per 
dwelling.  There would also 
be an impact of 
approximately £20k on the 
annual depreciation charge 

124



32

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results 
Differ from Assumptions
in the CIES.

Pensions 
Assets and 
Liabilities

Estimation of the present value of 
total obligations to pay pensions 
depends on a number of complex 
judgements relating to the 
discount rate used, the rate at 
which salaries are projected to 
increase, changes in retirement 
ages, mortality rates and expected 
returns on pension fund assets. A 
firm of consulting actuaries is 
engaged to provide the Authority 
with expert advice about the 
assumptions to be applied. 

The effects on the present 
value of total obligations of 
changes in individual 
assumptions can be 
measured. For instance, a 
0.1% adjustment in the 
discount rate assumption 
would result in a change in 
the present value of total 
obligations of approximately 
£2.8m. 

Bad Debts 
Provisions

The Council has bad debt 
provisions of £4.11m for HRA, 
benefit overpayment, council tax & 
NNDR (DDC share) and general 
debtors.  This is approximately 
38.28% of the outstanding debt 
value.

In the current economic 
climate collection rates are 
being monitored and any 
decline in collection rates for 
debt would result in a need 
to increase the provision.

125



33

3. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis is designed to demonstrate how the funding available to the authority (i.e. government grants, 
rents, council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services. This is in comparison to those resources consumed 
or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows 
how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s services. Income and expenditure accounted for 
under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

2015/16

 

As Reported In 
Quarterly 
Budget 

Monitoring 
Report

Adjustments to Arrive 
at the Net Amount 
Chargeable to the 

GF and HRA 
Balances

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 

GF and HRA 
Balances

Adjustments 
between Funding 
and Accounting 

Basis
Net Expenditure 

in the CIES
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

  Chief Executive 1,742. 614. 2,356. 295. 2,651. 
  Director of Finance, Housing & Community 7,376. (1,762) 5,614. (1,432) 4,182. 
  Director of Environment & Corporate Assets 5,018. (301) 4,717. 3,089. 7,806. 
  Director of Governance 2,263. (26) 2,237. 385. 2,622. 
  Special Projects 369. 12. 381. 0. 381. 
  Local Authority Housing (HRA) (27,983) 21,671. (6,312) (21,671) (27,983)
  Non-distributed Costs 111. (227) (115) 2. (113)
Net Cost of Service (11,103) 19,981. 8,879. (19,333) (10,454)
Other Income & Expenditure (13,958) (1,632) (15,591) 2,332. (13,259)
(Surplus) or deficit (6,712) (17,001) (23,713)
Opening General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Balance 1 April 2015 (29,825)  
Closing General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Balance 31 March 2016 (36,537)  
Made up of:  
General Fund Balance (2,995)  
Housing Revenue Account Balance (1,013)  
General Fund Earmarked Reserves (24,140)  
Housing Revenue Account Earmarked Reserves (8,389)  
 (36,537)  

126



34

2016/17

 

As Reported In 
Quarterly Budget 
Monitoring Report

Adjustments to Arrive 
at the Net Amount 
Chargeable to the 

GF and HRA 
Balances

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 

GF and HRA 
Balances

Adjustments 
between Funding 
and Accounting 

Basis
Net Expenditure 

in the CIES
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

  
  Chief Executive 1,000. 725. 1,725. 8,961. 10,686. 
  Director of Finance, Housing & Community 7,361. (1,765) 5,596. (1,699) 3,897. 
  Director of Environment & Corporate Assets 4,832. 113. 4,944. 4,378. 9,322. 
  Director of Governance 2,236. (204) 2,032. 371. 2,403. 
  Special Projects 630. 0. 630. 0. 630. 
  Local Authority Housing (HRA) (23,606) 16,676. (6,931) (16,676) (23,606)
  Non-distributed Costs 187. (245) (58) 1. (57)
Net Cost of Service (7,361) 15,300. 7,939. (4,664) 3,275. 
  
Other Income & Expenditure (10,676) (1,079) (11,755) (9,350) (21,105)
  
(Surplus) or deficit (3,816) (14,014) (17,830)
Opening General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Balance 1 April 2015 (36,537)
Closing General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Balance 31 March 2016 (40,353)
 
Made up of:
General Fund Balance (2,533)

Housing Revenue Account Balance (1,047)

General Fund Earmarked Reserves (24,274)

Housing Revenue Account Earmarked Reserves (12,499)

 (40,353)

127



35

NOTE TO THE EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

Depreciation 
/ Impairment

Soft Loan 
Adjustments

Charge for 
Pension 

Adjustment

Other Capital 
Adjustments

Other 
Adjustments

Total Adjustment 
Between Funding 

& Accounting Basis

2015/16
Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive 

at the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement amounts £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

  Chief Executive 95. 0 199. 0. 0 295. 
  Director of Finance, Housing & Community 35. 161 (1,628) 0. 0 (1,432)
  Director of Environment & Corporate Assets 2,734. 0 354. 0. 0 3,089. 
  Director of Governance 13. 0 372. 0. 0 385. 
  Special Projects 0. 0 0. 0. 0 0. 
  Local Authority Housing (HRA) (15,814) 0 (421) (5,436) 0 (21,671)
  Non-distributed Costs 2. 0 0. 0. 0 2. 
  Net Cost of Service (12,935) 161 (1,123) (5,436) 0 (19,333)
  Other Income & Expenditure (748) 531 2,549. (735) 735 2,332. 
  Total (13,683) 692 1,426. (6,171) 735 (17,001)

Depreciation 
/ Impairment

Soft Loan 
Adjustments

Charge for 
Pension 

Adjustment

Other Capital 
Adjustments

Other 
Adjustments

Total Adjustment 
Between Funding 

& Accounting Basis

2016/17
Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive 

at the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement amounts £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

  Chief Executive 8,761. 0. 200. 0. 0. 8,961. 
  Director of Finance, Housing & Community 23. 86. (1,807) 0. 0. (1,699)
  Director of Environment & Corporate Assets 4,028. 0. 350. 0. 0. 4,378. 
  Director of Governance 13. 0. 358. 0. 0. 371. 
  Special Projects 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 
  Local Authority Housing (HRA) (12,449) 0. (453) (3,774) 0. (16,676)
  Non-distributed Costs 1. 0. 0. 0. 0. 1. 
  Net Cost of Service 377. 86. (1,353) (3,774) 0. (4,664)
  Other Income & Expenditure (9,761) (149) 2,629. (9,480) (1,111) (9,350)
  Total (9,384) (63) 1,276. (13,254) (1,111) (14,014)

128



36

4. INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ANALYSED BY TYPE

 2015/16  2016/17 

 Totals per 
Resources 
Allocations 

 Adjustments 
per 

Accounting 
Code 

 Totals per 
CIES 

 Totals per 
Resources 
Allocations 

 Adjustments 
per 

Accounting 
Code 

 Totals per 
CIES 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
(7,977) 0. (7,977) Fees, charges and other service income (8,527) 0. (8,527)

(48,689) 0. (48,689) Grants (47,761) 0. (47,761)
0. (13,287) (13,287) Recharges to other accounts 0. (13,784) (13,784)

(56,667) (13,287) (69,954) Total General Fund Income (56,288) (13,784) (70,027)
12,692. 2,751. 15,443. Employees 13,383. 2,868. 16,251.

1,848. 0. 1,848. Premises 1,606. 0. 1,606.
163. 0. 163. Transport 186. 0. 186.

8,440. 0. 8,440. Supplies and services 7,998. 0. 7,998.
12,101. 0. 12,101. Third Parties 12,170. 0. 12,170.
38,169. 0. 38,169. Transfer Payments 37,444. 0. 37,444.

0. 8,229. 8,229. Recharges from other accounts 0. 8,386. 8,386.
0. 161. 161. Financial Instrument Adjustments 0. 86. 86.
0. 2,929. 2,929. Capital charges 0. 12,825. 12,825.

73,411. 14,071. 87,482. Total General Fund Expenditure 72,788. 24,165. 96,953.
(6,312) (21,671) (27,983) Housing Revenue Account (6,931) (16,676) (23,606)
10,433. (20,888) (10,455) Total Cost of Services 9,569. (6,294) 3,275.

129



37

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At 31 March 2015  164,928..      73,379        1,106           7,156    182   0 3,097 249,848

Movement on Balances 
2015/16

Council 
Dwellings

£000

Other Land 
and 

Buildings

£000

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture 
and Eqpt

£000

Infrastructure 
Assets

£000

Community 
Assets

£000

Surplus 
Assets

£000

Assets Under 
Construction 

(WIP)

£000

Total Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment

£000
Cost or Valuation . . .
At 1 April 2015 164,928. 76,045. 4,019. 13,626. 575. 0 3,097. 262,290.
Additions – Expenditure in 
year

6,179. 634. 77. 2,018. 0. 0 (106) 8,802.

Additions–transfer from WIP* 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 0.
Revaluation increases or 
decreases recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve

0. 5,654. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 5,654.

Revaluation increases or 
decreases recognised in the 
Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

14,227. (2,106) 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 12,121.

Transfers 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 0.
De-recognition – Other (1,836) (614) 0. 0. 0. 0 0. (2,450)
Disposals 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 0.
At 31 March 2016 183,498. 79,613. 4,096. 15,644. 575. 0 2,991. 286,417.

Accumulated Depreciation 
and Impairment
At 1 April 2015 0. (2,665) (2,915) (6,471) (392) 0 0. (12,443)
Depreciation charge (1,587) (2,670) (88) (284) (4) 0 0. (4,633)
Disposals 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 0.
Deprecation written out to  
CIES
Deprecation written out to 
Revaluation Reserve

1,587.

2,194.

0. 0. 0. 0 0. 1,587

2,194.

Subtotal 0. (3,140) (3,003) (6,755) (396) 0 0. (13,295)

Net Book Value
At 31 March 2016 183,498.     76,473.        1,093        8,889.       179.   0 2,991          273,122

130



38

Movement on Balances 
2016/17

Council 
Dwellings

£000

Other Land 
and 

Buildings

£000

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture 
and Eqpt

£000

Infrastructure 
Assets

£000

Community 
Assets

£000

Surplus 
Assets

£000

Assets Under 
Construction 

(WIP)

£000

Total Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment

£000
Cost or Valuation . . .
At 1 April 2016 183,498. 79,613. 4,096. 15,644. 575. 0 2,991. 286,417.
Additions – Expenditure in 
year

3,477. 2,823. 1,127.   80. 0. 0 1,538 9,045.

Additions–transfer from WIP* 0. 2,334. 1. 0. 0. 0 (2,341) (6)
Revaluation increases or 
decreases recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve

0. 4,866. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 54,866.

Revaluation increases or 
decreases recognised in the 
Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

10,655. (9,401) 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 1,254.

Transfers 0. 45. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 45.
Disposals (1,601) (483) 0. 0. 0. 0 0. (2,084)
Other movements in cost or 
Valuation

0. 29. 0. 0. 0. 0 0. 29.

At 31 March 2017 196,030. 79,828. 5,223. 15,724. 575. 0 2,188. 299,568.

Accumulated Depreciation 
and Impairment
At 1 April 2016 0. (3,137) (3,003) (6,754) (397) 0 0. (13,291)
Depreciation charge (1,794) (3,368) (98) (324) (4) 0 0. (5,587)
Deprecation written out to 
CIES
Deprecation written out to 
Revaluation Reserve

1,794.
240

2,397

0. 0. 0. 0 0. 2,034

2,397.

Other Movements in 
Depreciation and Impairment

0. (6) 0. 0. 0. 0 0. (6)

Subtotal 0. (3,874) (3,101) (7,078) (400) 0 0. (14,454)

Net Book Value
At 31 March 2017 196,030. 75,954. 2,122. 8,646. 175. 0 2,189. 285,115.
At 31 March 2016 183,498. 76,473. 1,093. 8,889. 179. 0 2,991. 273,122.

131



39

      Tangible Non-current Assets and Depreciation 

The depreciation methods and useful lives used in the preparation of the accounts 
have been specified within the accounting policies.  The depreciation charged in year 
was:

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

General Fund 2,911 3,635
Housing Revenue Account 1,721 1,952
Total 4,632 5,587

Intangible Non-Current Assets

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Opening Net Book Value 157. 65.
Additions – transferred from 0. 6.
Additions – expenditure in year 0. 0.
Amortisation  (92) (34)
Closing Net Book Value 65. 37.

Non-Current Asset Valuation

The Council has a policy of revaluing its property assets on a rolling programme, 
such that the intervals between valuations do not exceed 5 years as detailed in the 
accounting policies. From 1 April 2014 assets valued at over £1m will be revalued on 
an annual basis.

The valuations have been made in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors Appraisal and Valuation Manual and Guidance notes. They have also 
been carried out in accordance with the relevant international accounting standards. 
All properties held for investment are revalued annually. The basis for valuation is the 
Fair Value as there is sufficient evidence of market transactions. Housing stock is 
valued using existing use value – social housing.

The properties were valued by Robert Reid-Easton, the Authority’s Senior Valuer (a 
Professional Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors), on 1 April 
2016.  Housing Revenue Account dwellings and garages were valued as at 31 March 
17 and the valuation was valid for the 3 months.

In arriving at the valuation of this year’s assets the following assumptions have been 
made:

 That the most valuable use of each property is the existing use; and
 That all properties are in a reasonable state of repair.

Impairment

Impairment is caused either by a consumption of economic benefits or by a general 
fall in prices.  During 2016/17 the land held for the regeneration of Dover Town 
Investment Zone has been transferred to the developers, this has resulted in a 
significant revaluation loss. Improvement in the housing market has resulting in a 
gain in the housing stock valuation for 2016/17.

132



40

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

General Fund 
General gain/(loss) on Other Land and Buildings (3,568) (9,765)
Losses written out of Revaluation Reserve 3,300. 377.
Prior year losses written out 0. 47.
Write back Depreciation 243. 159.
Total charged to the General Fund (25) (9,182)

Housing Revenue Account 
General gain/(loss) on Housing Stock 14,227. 10,655.
Write back Depreciation 1,587. 1,794.
Total charged to the HRA 15,814. 12,449.

Total charged to Property, Plant & Equipment (25) (9,182)
Impairments charged to Revaluation Reserve
Total charged to Income & Expenditure Account (25) (9,182)
 

6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The following items of income and expense have been accounted for within Net Cost 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Rental income from investment property 309. 340.
Direct operating expenses arising from investment 
property

(120) (90)

Net gain or loss 189. 250.

There are no restrictions on the Authority’s ability to realise the value inherent in its 
investment property or on the Authority’s right to the remittance of income and the 
proceeds of disposal.  The Authority has no contractual obligations to purchase, 
construct or develop investment property or to repairs, maintenance or enhancement.

The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment 
properties over the year.  The revaluation gains and losses are shown separately in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the Financing and 
Investment Income & Expenditure Section. 

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Balance at start of the year 2,201. 2,268.
Revaluation gains  from fair value adjustments 87. 30.
Revaluation losses from fair value adjustments (20) (14)
Transfer of Asset 0. (45)
Acquisitions 0. 160.
Disposals 0. (44)
Balance at end of year 2,268. 2,355.

133



41

7. HERITAGE ASSETS

Heritage Assets where the Council holds information on their cost or value are to be 
recognised on the Balance Sheet and are detailed in the table below.

At 31 March 
2016
£000

At 31 March 
2017
£000

Historic Buildings 210 210
Works of Art 68 68
Museum Collections 1,982 1,982
Town Hall Artefacts 1,543 1,543
Memorials and Statues 324 324
Total 4,127 4,127

8. GAIN OR LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Net Book Value
HRA right-to-buy 1,851. 1,601.
Demolished 579. 0.
HRA other sales 0. 15.
General Fund sales 0. 511.

Total 2,430. 2,127.
Sales Proceeds

HRA right-to-buy (3,034) (2,607)
HRA other sales (204) (11)
General Fund sales 0. (9,317)

Total (3,238) (11,936)
Less admin fees 61. 48.

(Gain) or Loss on Disposal (747) (9,761)

9. COMMITTED CAPITAL CONTRACTS

At 31 March 2017 the Authority was contractually committed to capital expenditure 
amounting to £590k in respect of the following projects:

Project Contractor Total 
Commitment 

£000
Estimated 

Completion Date

Dover Leisure Centre – 
new facility provision Faithful & Gould 314 March 2019

Dover Leisure Centre – 
new facility provision Various 110 March 2019

Parks for People – 
Kearsney Abbey & 
Russell Gdns

Various 99 Oct 2020

Dover Town Investment 
Zone - Waterfront WSP 67 On-going

Total 590

134



42

10. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING

The following statement identifies capital expenditure during the year and how that 
expenditure was financed:

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 92,082. 90,043.
Capital Investment:
  Plant, property and equipment 8,796. 9,094.
  Intangible assets 6. 60.
  Revenue expenditure funded by capital 2,311. 1,099.
  Private sector housing loans 257. 137.
Total Capital Investment 11,370. 10,390.
Sources of Finance:
  Capital receipts (including Excess Right to Buy 

Receipts and PSH Loan Receipts)
(1,591) (787)

  Government grants (4,162) (1,069)
  Major repairs reserve (2,765) (3,000)
  Direct revenue financing/Reserves (2,828) (1,435)
  Section 106 funding (24) (423)
Total Financing (11,370) (6,714)
Capital Financing Requirement Movement:
  HRA Loan Repayments (2,022) (2,087)
  Under/Over Borrowing (17)      3,619. 

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 90,043. 91,575.

11. REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE

This represents capital expenditure on non-current assets not owned by the Council.  
The Code considers this to be revenue expenditure and as such the expenditure is 
charged in full to the relevant service revenue account in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement in the year it is incurred.  Statute allows the expenditure 
to be funded from capital resources.  

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross expenditure:
   Disabled facilities grants 812 644
   Small Works Adaptation Grants 0 5
   Deal Beach Management Study 50 0

White Cliffs Landscape Partnership 74 0
   Discovery Park 1,345 250
   Deal Youth Centre 0 200
   Leisure Centre Fitness Equip 30 0

2,311     1,099
Grants & contributions received:

Disabled Facilities Grant (DCLG) (674) (644)
   Heritage Lottery/Partnership Funding (74) 0.
   Building Foundations for Growth (1,345) (250)

Environment Agency (50) 0.
(2,143) (894)

Total deferred charges 168.       205
Written off to revenue in year (168) (205)
Total 0.           0

135



43

12. INVESTMENTS

The value of investments on the balance sheet is broken down as follows:

Short Term Investments 
2015/16 2016/17

£000 £000
Investments managed by Fund 

Managers
1,946 1,938

In-house managed investments 20,041 38,458
Cash flow short term investment 12,517 15,401
Total 34,504 55,796

The Council’s internal investments have been classified as loans and receivables. 
Externally managed funds are classed as available-for-sale except for cash on 
deposit.

Long Term Investments 
2015/16 2016/17

£000 £000

Stocks 6 6
Total 6 6

Investment Portfolio

The Council’s investment portfolio as at 31 March 2017 was as follows:

Counter Party Maturity Date
Principal 
Invested

£000

Credit Rating 
as at 

31 March 2017
Internal Investments:

Barclays 05.04.2017 8,000. UK ‘A’
Leeds BS 06.04.2017          5,000 UK ‘A-‘
Lloyds 11.05.2017          1,000 UK ‘A+’
Lloyds 20.06.2017          3,000 UK ‘A+’
Bank of Scotland 28.06.2017 7,400. UK ‘A+’
Lloyds 28.06.2017 2,000. UK ‘A+’
Nationwide 04.07.2017 1,000. UK ‘A’
Lloyds 31.07.2017 2,000. UK ‘A’
Nationwide 01.08.2017 3,000. UK ‘A+’
Nationwide 24.08.2017 3,000. UK ‘A’
Eastleigh Borough Council 24.08.2017           3,000 UK’AA’

Total Internal Investments   38,400

External Investments:
Fixed Interest Securities

United Kingdom Gilts 1.25% 22.07.2018 1,910 ‘AA+’
Total External Investments 1,910

136



44

Counter Party Maturity Date
Principal 
Invested

£000

Credit Rating 
as at 

31 March 2017
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Cash in hand n/a (107)
Nat West Instant Access 1,070. UK ‘BBB+‘
Santander UK Instant Access 1. UK ‘A‘
Bank of Scotland Instant Access 37. UK ‘A+‘
Barclays Instant Access 16. UK ‘A+‘
Goldman Sachs MMF Instant Access 1,527. UK ‘A’
Standard Life MMF Instant Access 8,000. UK ‘AAA’
HSBC 90 Day Notice 7,526. UK ’AA-‘
Santander 95 Day Notice 7,868.. UK ’A‘

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 26,256..

 
13. BORROWING

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Short term borrowing
Accrued Interest 157 157
PWLB 2,086 2,154
Temporary loan 0 4,000
LTA loan 9 9
Total Short Term Borrowing 2,252 6,320

Long term borrowing
PWLB 84,669 82,515
LOBO 3,000 3,000
LTA Loan 87 78
Total Long Term Borrowing 87,756 85,593

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Market Valuation

The Code requires the accounts to show the fair value of the financial assets held by 
the Council.  Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged assuming that the transaction was negotiated between parties 
knowledgeable about the market in which they are dealing and willing to buy or sell at 
an appropriate price, with no other motive in their negotiations other than to secure a 
fair price.

Methods and Assumptions in Valuation Technique

The fair value of an instrument is determined by calculating the net present value of 
future cash flows, which provides an estimate of the value of payments in the future 
in today’s terms.

The discount rate used in the NPV calculation is the rate applicable in the market on 
the date of valuation for an instrument with the same structure, terms and remaining 
duration. For debt, this will be the new borrowing rate since premature repayment 

137



45

rates include a margin that represents the lender's profit as a result of rescheduling 
the loan; this is not included in the fair value calculation since any motivation other 
than securing a fair price should be ignored.

The rates quoted in this valuation were obtained by the Council’s treasury 
management consultants from the market on 31 March 2017. The calculations are 
made with the following assumptions:

 For Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) debt, the discount rate used is the rate 
for new borrowing;

 Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) debt is measured based on the 
contractual life and contractual cash flows and as provided by our Treasury 
Management advisors;

 No early repayment or impairment is recognised; and
 The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed 

amount.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is shown in the table below: 

Financial Assets

Balance as at: 31 March 2016 31 March 2017
Carrying 
Amount

£000

Fair 
Value 
£000

Carrying 
Amount

£000

Fair 
Value 
£000

Short term Assets
Cash held by external fund 
manager

1,946 1,946 1,938 1,938

Deposits with banks and building 
societies

20,041 20,054 35,456 35,470

Notice accounts with Bank and 
building societies

12,517 12,517 15,401 15,401

Local Authorities 0 0 3,001 3,001
Total Short Term Investments 34,504 34,517 55,796 55,810
Debtors 9,116 9,116 2,593 2,593
Cash and liquid assets 16,191 16,191 10,545 10,545
Total short term assets 59,811 59,824 68,934 69,948
Long term Assets
Long Term Debtors 26 26 17 17
Stocks 6 6 6 6
Soft Loans 2,047    2,047 2,073 2,073
Total long term assets 2,079 2,079 2,097 2,097

Total Financial Assets 61,890 61,903 71,301 71,045

138



46

           Financial Liabilities

Balance as at: 31 March 2016 31 March 2017
Carrying 
Amount

£000

Fair 
Value 
£000

Carrying 
Amount

£000

Fair 
Value 
£000

Short Term Liabilities
Accrued Interest 157 157 157 157
PWLB repayments due 2,087 2,087 2,154 2,154
Temporary Loan 0 0 4,000 4,000
Lawn Tennis Association Loan 9 9 9 9
Total Short Term Borrowing 2,253 2,253 6,320 6,320
Creditors 8,464 8,464 3,566 3,566
Total Short Term Liabilities 10,717 10,717 9,866 9,866
Long Term Liabilities
PWLB – maturity 4,001 8,728 4,001 9,653
PWLB – Annuity 80,668 98,017 78,514 98,058
LOBOs 3,000 4,581 3,000 4,774
Lawn Tennis Association Loan 87 87 78 78
Total Long Term Liabilities 87,756 111,413 85,593 112,563

Total Financial Liabilities 98,473 122,130 95,479 122,449

Maturity Analysis

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is shown in the table below:

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£000 £000 £000 £000

Principal
Carrying 
Amount Principal

Carrying 
Amount

PWLB 4,001 4,085 4,001 4,084
PWLB – HRA Self Financing 82,755 82,786 80,668 80,699
Lawn Tennis Association Loan 96 96 87 87
LOBO 3,000 3,042 3,000 3,043
Temporary Loan 0 0 4,000 4,000
Creditors 8,443 8,443 3,566 3,566
Total 98,295 98,452 95,322 95,479

Less than 1 year 10,538 10,695 9,729 9,886
Between 1 and 2 years 3,269 3,269 3,373 3,373
Between 2 and 5 years 7,020 7,020 7,243 7,243
Between 5 and 10 years 13,276 13,276 13,695 13,695
More than 10 years 64,192 64,192 61,282 61,282
Total 98,295 98,452 95,322 95,479

139



47

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT

The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account reflects adjustments for soft loans 
and LOBO. 

16. S
O
F
T 
L
O
A
N
S 

Soft loans are loans with a lower than market rate of interest.  These are given as 
part of the organisation’s Private Sector Housing schemes.  Financial instrument 
adjustments are made to the holding values of the loans to reflect the difference 
between the interest rate charged and the market rate.

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Opening balance 2,817. 2,047.
Advances in year 257. 137.
Repayments in year (335) (200)
Financial instruments adjustments (692) 89.
Closing balance 2,047. 2,073.

17. AVAILABLE FOR SALE RESERVE 

The amount shown on the Available-for-Sale Financial Instruments Reserve 
represents unrealised gains/losses in respect of the Council’s externally managed 
investments.

Available for sale reserve 2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Opening balance 165.  22.
Unrealised profit/(loss) on certificates 
of deposits and fixed securities (143) (8)
Closing balance 22. 14.

18. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Council's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  These include:
 credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to 

the Council;
 liquidity risk - the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to 

meet its commitments; and
 market risk - the possibility that losses may arise due to changes in interest 

rates and market prices.

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000 £000 £000

Opening balance 
LOBO (KA Finanz) 0 0
Soft loans 833 1,525

833
Movement during the year

LOBO adjustment 0 0
Soft loans 692. (64)

Balance at 31 March 1,525. 1,461.

140



48

The Council's risk management on Financial Instruments focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise the potential adverse 
effects on the resources available to fund services.

Risk management in this area is carried out by the treasury team (supported by 
specialist external advisors) under policies approved by the Council in the Annual 
Treasury Management Strategy.  The Council provides written principles for risk 
management, has adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and 
has set Treasury Management indicators to control key Financial Instrument risks in 
accordance with CIPFA’s Prudential Code.

Credit Risk

The Code requires the Council to attempt to quantify the potential maximum 
exposure to credit risk, based on experience of defaults and uncollectability over 
recent years.  However, due to the lack of empirical evidence on defaults for 
investments, the Council is unable to quantify its exposure with any degree of 
accuracy.

Credit risk arises from investments; therefore deposits are not made with banks and 
financial institutions unless they are rated independently with a minimum rating score 
of AA-. During the year in-house investments were only made with Government- 
backed institutions or part-nationalised banks.

The Council's investments are such that it does not expect any losses from non-
performance by any of its counterparties in relation to investments.

Customers for goods and services are assessed, taking into account their financial 
position, past experience and other factors, with individual credit limits being set in 
accordance with internal ratings in accordance with parameters set by Dover District 
Council.

Liquidity Risk

As the Council has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB), there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise funds to meet its 
commitments.  Instead the risk is that the Council will have to re-invest a significant 
proportion of its investments at a time of unfavourable interest rates.  The liquidity of 
investments held is shown below:

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 16,191 10,545
Less than 1 year 34,504 55,796
More than 1 year 6 6
Total 50,701 66,347

The Council has taken into account that all trade and other payables creditors are 
due to be paid in less than one year, and treasury management procedures allow for 
sufficient cash flow funds to be maintained to settle these as they become due.

141



49

Market Risk 

The Council is not exposed to significant risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate 
movements because the majority of investments are in fixed rate instruments.    
However, investments held in fixed rate deposits carry a market risk in that interest 
rates could rise above the current level and therefore achieve lower rates than those 
available in the market in the future.

The Council has a policy of holding all investments to maturity and is, therefore, 
insulated from temporary changes in the prices of those investments.

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Council has no Financial Instruments denominated in foreign currencies and 
thus has no exposure to losses arising from movements in exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

The Council received interest of £344k on its investments of £66.3 m achieving an 
average interest rate of 0.50%. A one percentage movement in the rate of interest 
achieved would result in a corresponding change of £663k in the interest received. 

The Council paid interest on its borrowings of £3m based on an average rate of 
3.39%.  The loans associated with this borrowing are held at fixed interest rates and 
therefore there is no associated interest rate risk with the existing commitments.

19. PENSION COSTS

Employees of Dover District Council may participate in the Kent County Council 
Pension Fund, part of the Local Government Pension Scheme, a defined benefit 
statutory scheme.  The fund is administered by KCC in accordance with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2014, as amended. Contributions to the 
pension scheme are determined by the Fund's actuary on a triennial basis.  The last 
actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried out as at 31 March 2016 and has set 
contributions for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.

Transactions Relating to Retirement Benefits

The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the cost of services when they are 
earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. 
However, the charge the Council is required to make against council tax is based on 
the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of retirement benefits is reversed out of 
the General Fund via the MIRS. The following transactions have been made in the 
CIES and the General Fund Balance via the MIRS during the year:

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

Cost of Services

142



50

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Current service costs 2,450. 2,330.
Curtailments and past service costs 35. 33.
Administrative expense 54. 50.

Net Operating Expenditure
Net Interest on the Defined Liability 2,549. 2,629.

Charge to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services 5,088. 5,042.

Other charge to the Comprehensive income and 
expenditure statement

Return on plan assets (excluding the amount 
included in net interest expense)

(1,639) 13,391.

Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes 
in demographic assumptions 

0. 3,930.

Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes 
in financial assumptions

7,768. (28,508)

Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit 
obligation

(205) 4,073.

Other 0. (475)
Re-measurement of the net defined benefit 
liability 5,924. (7,589)

Movement in Reserves Statement
Reversal of net charges made for retirement 
benefits in accordance with IAS 19 (5,088) (5,042)

Actual amount charged to the General Fund for 
pensions in the year:

Employer’s contributions payable to scheme 3,662. 3,766.
Contribution (From) or To Pensions Reserve    (1,426) (1,276)

As required under IAS19 the valuation method used is the projected unit method of 
valuation.  With this method where the age profile of the active membership is rising 
the current service cost will increase as the members of the scheme approach 
retirement.

            Pension Assets and liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet

The table below summarises the reconciliation of the present value of scheme 
liabilities:

Liabilities
2015/16

£000
2016/17

£000
Opening balance at 1 April 159,683. 154,510.
Current service costs 2,450. 2,330.
Interest cost 5,029. 5,321.
Change in financial assumptions (7,768) 28,508.
Change in demographic assumptions 0. (3,930)
Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation 205. (4,073)
Benefits paid net of transfers in (5,043) (4,990)
Past service costs, including curtailments 35. 33.

143



51

Liabilities
2015/16

£000
2016/17

£000
Contributions by scheme participants 545. 571.
Unfunded pension payments (626) (616)
Closing balance at 31 March 154,510. 177,664.

The liability shows the underlying commitment that the Council has in the long run to 
pay retirement benefits.

The table below summarises the reconciliation of the present value of scheme 
assets:

Assets
2015/16

£000
2016/17

£000
Opening balance at 1 April 78,227. 77,552.
Interest on assets 2,480. 2,692.
Return on assets less interest (1,639) 13,391.
Other actuarial gains / (losses) 0. (475)
Administration expenses (54) (50)
Contributions by employer including unfunded 3,662. 3,766.
Contributions by scheme participants 545. 571.
Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of 
transfers in

(5,669) (5,606)

Closing balance at 31 March             77,552.. 91,841.
 

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected 
returns available on the assets underlying the current investment policy.  Expected 
yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the 
Balance Sheet date.  Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real 
rates of return experienced in the respective markets. 

      Net Pension Liability

The table below details the net pension liability included in the Balance Sheet:

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Present value of funded obligation 145,169. 167,874.
Fair value of scheme assets (bid price) (77,552)         (91,841)
Net Liability 67,617. 76,033.
Present value of unfunded obligation 9,341. 9,790.
Net Liability in Balance Sheet 76,958. 85,823.

The figures presented are prepared only for the purpose of IAS19. They are not 
relevant for calculations undertaken for funding purposes. IAS19 does not have any 
impact on the actual level of employer contributions paid to Kent County Council 
Pension Fund. Employers’ levels of contribution are determined by triennial actuarial 
valuations which are based on the Fund’s actual investment strategy (rather than 
being based on corporate bond yields).

           Reconciliation of Opening & Closing Surplus or Deficit

144



52

The table below reconciles the opening and closing deficit on the scheme:

Surplus or Deficit
2015/16

£000
2016/17

£000
Opening balance at 1 April (81,456) (76,958)
Current service costs (2,450) (2,330)
Past service costs and curtailments (35) (33)
Employer’s contributions 3,662. 3,766.
Administrative expenses (54) (50)
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 5,924. (7,589)
Interest on net defined benefit liability (2,549) (2,629)
Closing balance at 31 March (76,958) (85,823)

Breakdown of Assets Held by Pension Fund shown at Fair Value

The fair values of the attributable assets and expected rates of return are given 
below:

31 March 2016 31 March 2017

Assets

Fund 
Value
£000

Percentage 
of Fund

%

Fund 
Value
£000

Percentage 
of Fund

%
Equities 51,718 66 64,816 70
Gilts 687 1 685 1
Bonds 8,515 11 8,947 10
Property 11,265 15 11,445 12
Cash 1,997 3 2,346 3
Target Return Portfolio 3,370 4 3,602 4
Total 77,552 100 91,841 100

Scheme History

2012/2013
£000

2013/14
£000

2014/15
£000

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Present value of 
liabilities

(136,170) (137,582) (159,683) (154,510) (177,664)

Scheme assets 71,972. 71,754. 78,227. 77,552. 91,841.
Surplus or (deficit) in 
the scheme (64,198) (65,828) (81,456) (76,958) (85,823)

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long run 
to pay post-employment (retirement) benefits. The total liability of £86m has a 
substantial impact on the net worth of the Authority as recorded in the Balance 
Sheet.  However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the 
financial position of the Authority remains healthy.

Remeasurement of Net Defined Benefit Liability

The remeasurement changes to the net defined liability translate into movements on 
the Pensions Reserve in 2016/17 and are detailed below:

145



53

2012/13
£000

2013/14
£000

2014/15
£000

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Remeasurement of the net 
defined liability recognised in 
the CIES

(5,673) (293) (14,059) 5,924. (7,589)

Cumulative remeasurement 
of the net defined benefit 
liability 

(51,893) (52,186) (66,245) (60,321) (67,910)

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, 
and estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.  The scheme has been 
assessed by Barnett Waddingham, an independent firm of actuaries, on behalf of 
Kent County Council based upon the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 
March 2013.

           The financial assumptions used for the purposes of IAS19 calculations are given 
below:

2015/16 2016/17
Mortality assumptions:

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:
Men 22.9 years 23 years
Women 25.3 years 25 years

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners
Men 25.2 years 25.1years
Women 27.7 years 27.4 years

Rate of inflation – RPI 3.2% 3.5%
Rate of inflation – CPI 2.3% 2.6%
Rate of increase in salary 4.1% 4.1%
Rate of increase in pension 2.3% 2.6%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 3.5% 2.6%

It has also been assumed that members will exchange half of their commutable 
pension for cash at retirement.

Sensitivity Analysis

The following table sets out the impact of a small change in the discount rate; salary 
increase; pension increase; and mortality assumptions on the defined benefit 
obligation and projected service cost.

£000 £000 £000
Adjustment to discount rate: +0.1% 0.0% -0.1%

Present value of total obligation 174,855 177,664 180,520
Projected service cost 3,010 3,078 3,148

146



54

Adjustment to long term salary increase: +0.1% 0.0% -0.1%
Present value of total obligation 177,984 177,664 177,345
Projected service cost 3,078 3,078 3,078

Adjustment to pension increases and 
deferred revaluation:

+0.1% 0.0% -0.1%

Present value of total obligation 180,197 177,664 175,170
Projected service cost 3,148 3,078 3,010

Adjustment to life expectancy assumption: +1 year None -1 year
Present value of total obligation 184,646 177,664 170,953
Projected service cost 3,176 3,078 2,983

Projected Pension Expense for the Year to 31 March 2018
These projections are based on the Actuary’s assumptions as at 31 March 2017.  

2016/17
Projection

£000
Service cost 3,078
Net interest on the defined liability (asset) 2,183
Administration expenses 59
Total 5,320
Employer’s contributions 3,148

Further Information
Information can also be found in Kent County Council's Superannuation Fund Annual 
Report which is available upon request from the Investment Section, Sessions 
House, County Hall, Maidstone, Kent, ME14 1XQ. 

20. DEMAND ON THE COLLECTION FUND – COUNCIL TAX

Council Tax Income
£000

2015/16
£000 £000

2016/17
£000

District council's council tax 5,946 6,251
Parish councils' council tax 2,176 2,243

8,122 8,494
Current year's actual Collection Fund 
surplus (Council Tax) 404. 422.
Reversal of the difference 
between:
Prior year's actual accumulated 
Collection Fund surplus 288. 404.
Share of estimated prior year surplus 
distributed in year (112) (145)

176. 259.
228 163

Council Tax S31 Grant – re 
discount for Family Annexes 0 4

147



55

Council Tax Income
£000

2015/16
£000 £000

2016/17
£000

Amount credited to the CIES from 
Council Tax 8,350 8,662

21. INCOME FROM NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES  (NNDR)

£000
2015/16

£000 £000
2016/17

£000
District council's share of NNDR 13,939. 13,785.
S31 Grant for NNDR Reliefs given 884. 625.
Tariff to Central Government (10,517) (10,604)
Levy Payable to Government (210) (288)
Current year's actual Collection Fund 
surplus/(deficit) - NNDR (1,464) (519)
Reversal of the difference 
between:
Prior year's actual accumulated 
Collection Fund surplus/(deficit) (1,411) (1,464)
Share of estimated prior year 
surplus/deficit contributed in year (200) 724.

(1,611) (740)
147. 221.

Income from NNDR 4,243. 3,739.

Enterprise Zone Relief:
Enterprise Zone Relief received from 
Government 1,012 1,024
Enterprise Zone Relief due from 
Government 57 92
Total Enterprise Zone Relief 1,069. 1,116.

Renewable Energy NNDR 12. 44.

Amount credited to CIES from 
NNDR (inc. Enterprise Zone Relief) 5,324. 4,899.

Business Rates (NNDR)

The NNDR included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(CIES) for 2016/17 is the accrued income. The difference between the income 
included in the CIES and the amounts required by regulation to be credited to the 
General Fund are taken to the Collection Fund, Enterprise Zone Relief and 
Renewable Energy NNDR Adjustment Accounts and are included as reconciling 
items in the Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS).  The amounts listed above 
that are treated this way are: the collection fund surplus arising in the year (£221k), 
which is offset by a £945k MIRS adjustment, changing the surplus to a deficit of 
£724k, which is the actual amount contributed by the council (in 2015/16 this was a 
surplus arising in the year of £147k, which was augmented by a further £53k MIRS 
adjustment, increasing this to the actual surplus distributed of £200k).  The accrued 
Enterprise Zone Relief Grant of £92k (2015/16 £57k) and the Renewable Energy 
NNDR of £44k (2015/16 £12k) are also reversed through the MIRS.

148



56

22. GRANT INCOME

The following grants and contributions were credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement:

2015/16 2016/17Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific 
Grant Income £000 £000
General government grants:

Revenue Support Grant 2,597 1,758
Community Housing Grant 0 509
New Burdens Grant 52 15
Council Tax Freeze Grant 69 0
New Homes Bonus 1,581 1,907

Total non-specific grant income 4,299 4,189

Capital Grants & Contributions 2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

 KCC Better Care Fund 599 859
 Green Deal 0 1
 Dept. of Environment & Climate Change 148 0
 Section 106 23 422
 Environment Agency 1,995 80
 Disabled Facility Grant repayments 75 36
 Other 0 0
Total capital grant contributions 2,840 1,398

Credited to Services 2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Rent Allowance Subsidy 26,757 26,152
Council Tax Benefit Subsidy 7 7
Benefit Administration Grant 336 314
Council Tax Administration Grant 361 314
Non-HRA Rent Rebate Subsidy 148 270
HRA Rent Rebate Subsidy 11,686 11,250
Discretionary Housing Payment Contribution 156 162
NNDR Cost of Collection Allowance 156 160
New Burdens – Council Tax Support 28 0
New Burdens – IER 109 97
Neighbourhood Planning Grant 15 0
Homelessness Grant 3 0
Coast Protection Grant
Universal Credit Grant

50
0

0
40

Other 230 175
Total Credited to Services 40,042 38,941

Total Grant Income 47,181 44,528

The Council has also received a number of developer contributions that have yet to 
be recognised as income as they have conditions that are yet to be met.  Further 
details can be found in Note 35 Developer Contributions.

149



57

23. OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS, ANNUAL LEAVE AND TERMINATION BENEFITS

Emoluments

The table below shows the number of Council officers, including senior employees, 
whose remuneration exceeds £50k grouped into £5k bands. Remuneration is defined 
as ‘the amount paid to or receivable by an employee, and includes gross pay (i.e. 
before deduction of employees’ pension contributions), redundancy payments, sums 
due by way of expenses, allowances and the estimated monetary value of benefits 
such as a leased car and other non-cash items’. Pension contributions made by the 
Authority are not included. Narrative has been provided to explain the movement of 
employee numbers between bands.  

Remuneration Band Number of Employees Movement in Bands
2015/16 2016/17 Note Ref

£50,000-£54,999 12 10 A / B
£55,000-£59,999 1 3 A / B
£60,000-£64,999 6 4 C
£65,000-£69,999 4 0 D
£70,000-£74,999 3 10 A / C / D / E
£75,000-£79,999 0 0 -
£80,000-£84,999 1 0 E
£85,000-£89,999 0 0 -
£90,000-£94,999 4 3 C
£120,000-£124,999 0 0 -
£125,000-£129,999
£130,000-£134,999
£135,000-£139,999
£140,000-£144,999

0
1
0
0

0
1
0
1

-
-
-
C

32 32

Note 
Ref

Movement in Bands

A Post reverted to 1FTE following end of maternity leave 
B Restructure impact
C Post redundancies
D Annual increment within pay grade
E Post changed to part time 

Exit Packages

The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of compulsory 
and other redundancies are set out in the table below. This includes those for which 
the Authority is demonstrably committed.

Total cost of exit 
packages

2015/16 
Exit 

package 
cost band

£000

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed

Total exit 
packages

Payable to 
employees

Actuarial 
Strain

150



58

0-20 2 0 2 £20,862 £300
20-40 1 - 1 £38,157 £0
40-60 - - - - -
60-80 - - - - -

Total 3 0 3 £59,019 £300

Total cost of exit 
packages

2016/17 
Exit 

package 
cost band

£000

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed

Total exit 
packages

Payable to 
employees

Actuarial 
Strain

0-20 7 2 9 £88,793 £18,872
20-40 2 - 2 £51,007 £4,200
40-60 - 1 1 £51,830 -
60-80 - - - - -

Total 9 3 12 £191,630 £23,072

Senior Officers’ Emoluments
Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Authority is required to include 
additional remuneration information in the Statement of Accounts about the senior 
officers, as shown below. These employees are included in the banding table; 
however, for the note there is an additional inclusion of the employer’s pension 
contributions.

2015/16
Post holder information

(Post title)

Salary 
(Including 

fees & 
Allow- 
ances)

Expense 
Allow- 
ances 

(Including 
Fuel)

Car 
Allowance 

(eg Benefits 
in Kind or 

Cash)

Total 
Remuneration 

excluding 
pension 

contributions 

Pension 
contrib- 
utions

Total 
Remuneration 

including 
pension 

contributions 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive 118 3 10 131 17 148
Dir of Finance, 
Housing & Comm 
(S.151 Officer) 83 3 7 93 12 105
Dir of Governance 
(Monitoring Officer) 83 3 7 93 12 105
Dir of Environment & 
Corp Assets 83 3 7 93 12 105
Head of Inward 
Investment 76 0 6 82 11 93
Head of 
Regeneration and 
Development 66 0 5 71 10 81

509 12 42 563 74 637

2016/17
Post holder information

(Post title)

Salary 
(Including 

fees & 
Allow- 
ances)

Expense 
Allow- 
ances 

(Including 
Fuel)

Car 
Allowance 

(eg Benefits 
in Kind or 

Cash)

Total 
Remuneration 

excluding 
pension 

contributions 

Pension 
contrib- 
utions

Total 
Remuneration 

including 
pension 

contributions 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

151



59

Chief Executive 119 3 10 132 18 150
Dir of Finance, 
Housing & Comm 
(S.151 Officer) 84 3 7 94 12 106
Dir of Governance 
(Monitoring Officer) 84 3 7 94 12 106
Dir of Environment & 
Corp Assets 84 3 7 94 12 106
Head of Inward 
Investment 67 0 5 72 10 82
Head of 
Regeneration and 
Development 69 0 5 74 10 84

507 12 41 560 74 634

Employee Adjustment Account (Accrued Annual Leave)
Dover District Council is no longer required to accrue for untaken annual leave at the 
end of the accounting period.  

24. CAPITAL RECEIPTS

Usable Capital Receipts

These are proceeds from the sale of capital assets that have not yet been used to 
finance new capital expenditure.  Capital receipts are as defined in the Local 
Government Act 2003 and the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003.  The latter provides for the payment to the Secretary of 
State of a proportion of the capital receipts from the sale of Housing Revenue 
Account assets.

2015/16
(restated)

2016/17

£000 £000
Balance at 1 April (4,567) (6,211)
Right to buy (retained) adjustment              0 (82)
Usable capital receipts received (3,534) (12,102)

(8,101) (18,395)
Less: usable capital receipts applied:-
Expenditure on non-current assets 724. 787.
Financing for Disabled Facilities 
and.Renovation Grants

138. 0.

Private Sector Housing Loans
Contribution to Affordable Housing

258. 
472.

0.
0.

Pooled housing capital receipts 299. 296.
Balance at 31 March (6,211) (17,312)

Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003, local authorities are required to pool a proportion of their capital 
receipts from the sale of Housing Revenue Account assets.  For the financial year 

152



60

2016/17 £296k has been paid to the DCLG in relation to capital pooling requirements 
(£299k in 2015/16).

DDC has entered into an agreement with Government to retain receipts above the 
level anticipated under Housing Finance Reform. These excess receipts (known as 
1:4:1 replacement) are ring fenced to provide part funding of the cost of new 
affordable / social housing.

25. GENERAL FUND AND HRA BALANCES

The Council’s policy is to maintain a General Fund balance above £2m and an HRA 
balance above £1m. 

26. EARMARKED RESERVES 

General Fund Earmarked 
Reserves:

Opening 
Balance

Receipts 
in year

Applied 
in year

Closing 
Balance

£000 £000 £000 £000
Special Projects & Events 2,918 528 (481) 2,965
Periodic Operations 2,775 989 (233) 3,531
Urgent Works 1,714 26 (565) 1,175
Dover Regeneration 1,555 720 (234) 2,041
ICT Equipment & Servers 866 58 (200) 724
Business Rates & Council Tax 1,812 450 (924) 1,338
District Regeneration & Economic 
Development

12,500 0 0. 12,500

Total 24,140 2,773 (2,637) 24,274

Special Projects & Events – This reserve is set aside to continue to fund one-off 
General Fund projects as they arise and to support major events in the district.  It can 
be used for both revenue and capital projects.  

Periodic Operations - This reserve is to cover costs of cyclical / periodic events 
such as elections, “carry forward requests” and to hold grants or other income 
streams for specific purposes, such as the Homelessness grant and On-Street 
parking surpluses.  

Urgent Works - This reserve is set aside to fund urgent works on corporate assets 
and for other urgent business requirements, for example for future restructures to 
meet likely on-going grant reductions.  The need for this reserve is greater than ever 
due to the ageing nature of our assets and the reduced levels of investment in them 
as reflected in the reduced revenue budget.  

Dover Regeneration - In order to support the Local Development Framework 
process and associated regeneration projects a Dover Regeneration Reserve has 
been established.  

ICT Equipment & Servers – The current ICT Equipment & Servers reserve is held in 
order to support the requirements of the current and future ICT Strategies. 

Business Rates & Council Tax Benefits – This reserve was established to allow for 
the risk of unforeseen pressures from the Redistribution of Business Rates and the 

153



61

Council Tax Support scheme and future changes for Universal Credit.  As there are 
still many uncertainties around these areas, in particular the unknown collection rates 
this reserve has been retained and will be reviewed on an annual basis.

District Regeneration & Economic Development – This reserve has been 
established to support the Council’s regeneration plans.  An element of the reserve 
has been allocated to fund new Leisure Centre provision and improvements to Dover 
Town Hall.

Housing Revenue Account 
Earmarked Reserves:

Opening 
Balance

Receipts 
in year

Applied 
in year

Closing 
Balance

   £000 £000    £000   £000
Major Repairs Reserve 0 5,087 (5,087) 0
Housing Initiatives 8,389 4,300 (190) 12,499
Total 8,389 9,387 (5,277) 12,499

Major Repairs Reserve – This reserve is ring-fenced for HRA capital expenditure or 
debt repayment of a housing nature. Any unspent balance in a year can be carried 
forward to finance expenditure in future years.

Housing Initiatives Reserve – This reserve has been established to provide a 
source of funding for special initiatives arising in respect of affordable housing.

27. DEBTORS

Long Term Debtors 31 March 2016 
£000

31 March 2017
£000

Loans to:
  Leaseholders 7 2
  Local organisations 19 14
  Local Authorities 181 162
Other:
  Housing benefit debtors 1 783 647
  EKH Single System Loan2 223 186
Total 1,213 1,011

1 Housing benefit debtors – housing benefit overpayments are often recovered through 
deductions from claimants’ future benefits over many years.  This debtor represents the value of 
housing benefit outstanding at 31 March 2017 which is expected to be recovered after one year. 
2 EKH Single System Loan – Dover District Council lent East Kent Housing £223k for the 
purchase of the new Single Housing System. The loan is to be repaid annually for six years 
commencing on 1 March 2017, therefore the movement from the previous year represents the 
first annual payment.

Short Term Debtors 31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2017
£000

General Fund
Housing rents and other charges 346 329
Central Government 2,081 1,005

154



62

Local Authorities 1,402 1,504
Payments in Advance 388 387
Other debtors 5,674 4,796

9,891 8,021

Collection Fund
Local tax payers (district council's share) 1,786 1,591
Central Government 71 115

1,857 1,706
Total 11,748 9,727

The carrying amount is also deemed to be the fair value (being the amount that the 
market is willing to exchange assets).

The decrease in debtors incorporates: a decrease in the Central Government debts 
(General Fund) relating to amounts owed by H.M.R.C. for VAT (£147k decrease), a 
decrease in the benefit subsidy due from Central Government (£761k), a clearing of 
the prior year debtor from the Environment Agency relating to a coastal project in 
2015/16 (£198k) and a decrease in Other General Fund debtors (£878k), offset by an 
increase in Local Authority debtors (General Fund) mainly due to an increase in the 
amount owed by Shepway District Council for the joint waste provision (£81k).  There 
is also a decrease in the Collection Fund debts relating to arrears for business rates 
and council tax (£195k), offset by an increase in Collection Fund debts owed by 
Central Government relating to Enterprise Zone Relief Grant (£44k).

Provision for Bad Debts Council 
Tax
£000

NDR
£000

General 
Debtors

£000

Housing 
Benefits

£000
HRA 
£000

Total
£000

Balance at 1 April 2015 460. 661. 294. 1,606. 446. 3,447.
Write-offs (23) (134) (90) (121) (83) (442)
Contribution to provision 6. 256. 361. 385. 79. 1,102.
Balance at 31 March 2016 443. 783. 565. 1,870. 446. 4,107.
Write-offs (37) (92) 0. (242) (84) (455)
Contribution to provision 72. 14. 54. 240. 79. 459.
Balance at 31 March 2017 478. 705. 619. 1,868. 441. 4,111.

The provisions for bad debts in respect of council tax and NNDR represent the 
Council's share only.  The total provision for bad debts in respect of council tax, 
together with the bad debt provision for NNDR, can be found on page 80.

Disclosure Requirements under IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Presentation)

Debtors are classified as financial assets under IAS 32 and as such require 
additional disclosures on the age profile and collectability of the debt. 

Age of Debt

An analysis of the age profile of trade debtors is given in the table below which form 
part of the other debtors figure shown above. 

155



63

At 31 March 2016 At 31 March 2017

Age of debt

General 
Debtors

£000
HRA
£000

Total
£000

General 
Debtors

£000
     HRA
    £000

Total
£000

< 1 month 1,143 195 1,338 374 180 554
1 – 3 months 89 126 215 133 95 228
3 – 6 months 95 53 148 65 38 103
6 – 12 months 73 144 217 20 10 30
1 year + 164 408 572 219 8 227

Total 1,564 926 2,490 811 331 1,142

Collectability of Debt

The Council does not generally allow credit for customers; however, it is prudent to 
establish a provision for non-payment of debt.  This calculation is based upon the 
type and age of the debtor and allows a percentage for the expected failure of 
collection. The Council's potential maximum exposure to default or uncollectability of 
the debt is shown as the provision balance as at 31 March in the Provision for Bad 
Debt table above.  

28. CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Under the IFRS Code investments which are considered to be of a liquid nature are 
to be included under the category of cash and cash equivalents.  Under the Council's 
accounting policies these are deemed to be internally managed investments with a 
maturity date within 100 days of the Balance Sheet date and net cash holdings in the 
Council's bank accounts. 

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Cash held by Authority 1 (107)
Bank call accounts 16,190 10,652.
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 16,191 10,545.

29. SHORT TERM CREDITORS

As at 31 March

2015/16
(restated)

£000

2016/17

£000
General Fund

Government departments (291) (637)
Other local authorities (390) (79)
Housing tenants (226) (268)
Other creditors – revenue (3,966) (2,438)
Other creditors – capital (817) (782)

(5,689) (4,204)
Collection Fund
   Government Departments (1,493) (663)

Local Authorities (2,271) (2,523)
Local tax payers (DDC's share) (1,423) (472)

(5,187) (3,658)
Total (10,877) (7,862)

156



64

The net decrease in creditors is due to changes in General Fund creditors, being a 
decrease in Other Revenue Creditors for the joint waste contract (£633k), amounts 
owed to East Kent Housing (£543k) and other revenue items (£278k).  £210k of the 
decrease in Local Authority creditors relates to the levy payable to Maidstone B.C.  
for 2015/16 under NDR pooling arrangements, whereas for 2016/17 the equivalent 
creditor is within amounts owed to Government Departments (Collection Fund) 
instead (£288k), as there is no pooling in place for 2016/17 and the levy is payable 
directly to Government.   Collection Fund creditors have reduced mainly due to a 
decrease in Transitional Protection Relief owed to Government (£759k). The Local 
Taxpayers’ creditor has reduced by £951k, which is made up of a decrease of £974k 
of business rates prepaid or overpaid, offset by an additional £23k of council tax 
prepaid or overpaid. 

30. PROVISIONS

Localisation of Business Rates

Under the localisation of business rates, the Council is required to calculate a 
provision for successful appeals made against NNDR debts based on disputes over 
rateable value, which includes an estimate based on appeals currently lodged 
against 2016/17 and prior years.  The Council includes only its share (40%) of the 
total appeals provision calculated within the Council’s own balance sheet. The full 
provision of circa £2.4m (2015/16 £2.8m) can be seen within the separate Collection 
Fund section.

The decrease in appeals provision is partly due to the settlement of appeals during 
the year and a reassessment of remaining outstanding appeals.  The likely reduction 
in business rates income arising from appeals is difficult to estimate accurately, as 
decisions by both the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) and Valuation Tribunal Service 
are difficult to predict.  This was seen recently with the Tribunal decision to value 
purpose-built doctors’ surgeries on a different basis than before (construction cost as 
opposed to rental value), which led to an average 66% reduction in rateable value 
and, therefore, income backdated to 1st April 2010 for all surgeries falling within this 
class, which had to be provided for in the 2014/15 accounts.  The current provision 
includes an estimate for the Council’s largest ratepayer that remains the subject of 
negotiation between VOA and the ratepayer (and its agent), with no decision yet 
made, but for which the impact could be significant.  

Municipal Mutual Insurance

In 1992 the company failed and went into solvent “run-off”. If a solvent “run-off” is not 
achieved the Council is liable to repay sums paid out on its behalf to settle claims.  
The maximum amount liable to clawback is the total claim payments of £182,782 less 
£50,000. In 2012/13 the scheme administrator indicated that a levy of between 9.5% 
and 28% would be required to achieve a projected solvent run off.  A provision of 
25% of the claim payment was therefore set aside. In 2013/14 the appointed 
administrators, Ernst & Young, set the amount liable to clawback at 15% and as a 
result a payment was made to MMI in the sum of £19,917. In 2016/17 another 10% 
levy (£13,278) was paid, and there may be a further levy of 15%. To provide for this, 
the provision has been set at 15% of the total claim.

157



65

As at 31 March

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

DDC Share of NNDR Appeals Provision (1,128) (962)
Municipal Mutual Insurance provision (33) (20)

Total (1,161) (982)

31. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE

As at 31 March
2015/16

£000
2016/17

£000
Government departments (974) (1,290)
Other local authorities (665) (294)
Other (906) (1,066)

Total (2,545) (2,650)

32. CAPITAL GRANTS UNAPPLIED

Capital Grants Unapplied holds grants and contributions received towards capital 
projects for which the Council has met the conditions that would otherwise require 
repayment of the monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure.  The 
balance is restricted by grant terms as to the capital expenditure against which it can 
be applied and / or the financial year in which this can take place.

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Balance at 1 April (4,620) (3,262)
Contributions received (822) (895)
Applied to projects 2,167.              989.

    Contribution to revenue 13.                  0.
Balance at 31 March (3,262) (3,168)

33. CAPITAL GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE 

Capital grants received which are subject to conditions relating to specific projects 
are held as Capital Grants received in advance.  These amounts are not credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to 
the grant or contribution have been satisfied.

2015/16
(restated)

£000

2016/17

£000
Balance at 1 April (754) (95)

Contributions received (1,584) (362)
Applied to capital projects 1,995.               80
Contribution to revenue 249.                 0

Balance at 31 March (95) (377)

34. CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 

The capital adjustment account provides a balancing mechanism between the 
different rates at which assets are depreciated under the Code and are financed 

158



66

through the capital controls system.  The account is credited with the amounts set 
aside to finance the cost of acquiring / enhancing non-current assets.  It is debited 
with the cost of acquisition / enhancement as the assets are depreciated / impaired to 
the CIES.  The account also contains accumulated gains or losses on investment 
properties and operational land and buildings pre-dating 1 April 2007.

2015/16
(restated)

2016/17Capital Adjustment Account

£000 £000
Balance at 1 April (130,339) (151,614)
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or 
credited to the CIES:

Charges for depreciation of non-current assets 4,630. 5,580.
Amortisation of intangible assets 85. 30.
Revaluation losses on property, plant and equipment 25. 9,182.
Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment (15,904) (12,471)
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under 
statute

2,311. 1,099.

 Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal 
or sale as part of the gain or loss on disposal to the 
CIES

2,421. 2,117.

Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve (1,711) (2,417)
Capital financing applied in the year:

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new 
capital expenditure

(1,591) (588)

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance new 
capital expenditure

(2,765) (3,000)

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES 
that have been applied to capital financing

(2,019) (502)

Application of grants to capital financing from the 
Capital Grants Unapplied Account
Receipt of capital income from long term debtors

(2,167)

335.

(989)

Capital expenditure charged against the General 
Fund and HRA balances

(1,722) (673)

Capital expenditure charged against Earmarked 
Reserves

(1,105) (762)

Movements in the market value of Investment Properties 
debited or credited to the CIES

(67) (16)

Loan Repayments Made (2,031) (2,095)
Prior year adjusting entry (76)
Balance at 31 March (151,614) (157,195)

35. DEVELOPMENT CONTRIBUTIONS 

Developer contributions received from landowners and/or property developers under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that as yet have not been 
applied to revenue or capital projects.  

159



67

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

Balance at 1 April 406. 1,521.
Contributions received 1,200. 630.
Transfers to third parties 0. 0.
Applied to capital 0. 0.
Applied to revenue (85) (591)
Balance at 31 March 1,521. 1,560.

36. REVALUATION RESERVE

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the council arising from 
increases in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment. The balance is reduced 
when assets with accumulated gains are:
 Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost;
 Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation; or
 Disposed of and the gains are realised.

2015/16 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17
£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance carried forward 37,606. 41,540.
15/16 Adjustment 29.
Balance at 1 April 41,569.

Revaluation gains 8,958. 7,640.
Revaluation losses (3,304) (377)

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets 5,654. 7,263.
Revaluations relating to disposals 
written out

(9) (10)

Historic cost depreciation written out to 
the capital adjustments account

(1,711) (2,417)

Balance at 31 March 41,540. 46,405.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

All Members and Chief Officers of the Council are required to disclose where they or 
any member of their family or household has an interest in a company, partnership or 
trust that has had transactions with the Council.  Disclosures of these transactions 
allow readers to assess the extent to which the Council might have been constrained 
in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another 
party's ability to bargain freely with the Council.

Returns were received from all Members and Chief Officers and there were no 
transactions of material significance to Dover District Council to warrant separate 
disclosure in the accounts, however the following may be significant to the recipient 
parties:

Organisation    Value Details

Deal Town Council £5,000 Five Members also Town Councillors.

160



68

Sandwich Toll Bridge Fund £37,829.05 Members of Sandwich Town Council are by 
definition Trustees of this Fund. Through this, two 
Members of Dover District Council are Trustees.

Dover, Deal & District £97,000 Two Members are Trustees of this local charity.
Citizens Advice Bureau

Canterbury Archaeological Trust £14,484 One Member is employed by the Trust

Dover District Council has also provided minimal administrative support to White 
Cliffs Country Tourism Association, of which one councillor is an Executive Member. 

Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the 
Authority – it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the 
Authority operates, provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants and 
prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Authority has with other 
parties (e.g. council tax bills, housing benefits). Grants received from government 
departments are set out in the subjective analysis in note 22 Grant Income on 
reporting for resources allocation decision.

The Council is joint owner of East Kent Housing Ltd, an arms-length management 
organisation, owning 25% of the company. 2016/17 was the sixth year of operation.

In 2016/17 £2.21m was paid to East Kent Housing in respect of management fees.  
Charges from DDC to East Kent Housing in respect of services supplied totalled 
£473k, Dover District Council made a loan to East Kent Housing in 2015/16, of which 
£37k was repaid in 2016/17. Please see note 27 Debtors for further details.

See also note 42 Interest in Companies and Other Entities for further financial 
information for East Kent Housing. 

38. MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES

The total paid in Members’ allowances, excluding travel and subsistence expenses, 
is shown in the table below:

2015/16 
£000

2016/17 
£000

Basic Allowance 176 178
Special Responsibility Allowance 85 94
Members’ National Insurance Contributions 4 3
Total 265 276

The Council also produces a statement, in accordance with provision 1021 15(3) of 
the Local Authorities (Members Allowance) (England) Regulations 2003, giving 
details of allowances paid to individual Members for the year.  This may be seen on 
notice boards at the Council’s main offices and on the Council’s website at: 
https://www.dover.gov.uk/Council--Democracy/Allowances/Councillor-
Allowances.aspx

39. EXTERNAL AUDIT FEES 

161

https://www.dover.gov.uk/Council--Democracy/Allowances/Councillor-Allowances.aspx
https://www.dover.gov.uk/Council--Democracy/Allowances/Councillor-Allowances.aspx


69

The Council’s auditors, Grant Thornton, are responsible for reviewing the Council’s 
procedures which ensure that money is spent economically, efficiently and 
effectively, to achieve high-quality local services for the public.  The Council incurred 
the following fees relating to external audit and inspection carried out during 2016/17:

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

External audit services – Grant Thornton 54 54
Certification of grant claims and returns 16 38
Other services 2 2
Total 72 94

In addition, during 2016/17 the Council incurred £4k of additional fees relating to 
2015/16 grant certification. The 2015/16 fee has been revised to reflect this additional 
cost.

40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Private Finance Initiative

In 2007/08 and 2014/15 the Council entered into partnership agreements with Kent 
County and other district councils within Kent to provide new homes for vulnerable 
people.  The projects are known as Better Homes Active Lives (BHAL) and Kent 
Excellent Homes For All (KEHFA). The scheme's assets are shown on Kent County 
Council's Balance Sheet and are being funded by Private Finance Initiative credits 
paid to the County Council over a thirty-year period.  

Under the agreements the Council will be jointly financially liable if the PFI contracts 
are terminated for reasons such as contractor default or force majeure. For BHAL the 
implications of a termination in year 10 was assessed as approximately £60m and 
the cost implication for KEHFA will be similar.  This would mean a contribution of 
£4.48m as at year 10 of the scheme in respect of BHAL and £8m for KEHFA based 
on the cost share percentages set out in the agreements. However, the risks of such 
an event occurring continue to be assessed as very remote.

Munich Municipal Insurance (MMI) 

Municipal Mutual Insurance Company (MMI) was the main local authority insurer for 
many years up until 1992 when the company failed and went into “run-off”.  At the 
present time MMI is still solvent and the known and anticipated liabilities arising from 
prior years’ insurance cover will be met from the company’s assets.  If a solvent run-
off is not achieved, councils (and other scheme creditors) would be liable to repay 
sums paid out on their behalf to settle claims.  

As at 31 March 2016, the estimated amount liable to claw-back if a solvent run-off is 
not achieved is the total carried forward claim payments of up to £183k less £50k. 
The Council are awaiting confirmation of the position as at the end of March 2017, 
however there is no indication of any changes.  

A provision of 25% of the claim was made in the balance sheet in 2012/13 (being 
£33k) from which a payment of £20k was made in 2013/14. In 2015/16, the provision 
was increased by £20k, returning it to £33k. In 2016/17 a further payment of £13k 
was made.  The £80k balance of the claim remains as a contingent liability.  

East Kent Housing Pension Deficit 

162



70

The Council is a joint owner of East Kent Housing Ltd, a company limited by 
guarantee. The Council has entered into an agreement with East Kent Housing that if 
the company is not able to make payments to the Kent Local Government Pension 
Fund in respect of the pensionable service of employees transferred from the 
Council, then the Council will meet such payments.

East Kent Housing Ltd’s total pension liability increased from £7.3m to £10.2m at 31 
March 2017, of which Dover District Council’s share would be £2.54m. The company 
remains able to meet its current pension obligations and will not be making calls on 
the four owner councils towards its pension liability. 

Revised future contribution rates will not be set until 2017/18, meaning that the 
company should be able to meet its pension obligations at least up to that point. The 
impact of any increase to its future contribution rate will have to be assessed within 
the context of the negotiation of future management fees. 

            Rent Deposit Scheme

The Council operates a rent deposit bond scheme as part of its homelessness 
prevention programme.  The bond scheme was started in 2006 after a change of 
legislation in which the rent deposit had to be held by a third party.  The scheme 
requires an agreement to be entered into where the Council holds a bond on behalf 
of the tenant, equal to an amount of a rent deposit. The potential liability of all bonds 
held by the Council on behalf of landlords is £62k.

41. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

In preparing these accounts the Council is required to consider events that may have 
an impact on the accounting statements since 31 March 2016. The Council does not 
consider there to have been any material post balance sheet events.

 
42. INTERESTS IN COMPANIES AND OTHER ENTITIES

The Council, together with Canterbury City Council, Shepway District Council and 
Thanet District Council, jointly owns East Kent Housing Ltd (EKH), an Arms Length 
Management Organisation, whose principal activity is to manage each of the four 
authorities’ council housing stock. For financial accounting purposes, EKH is 
regarded as neither a joint venture nor a joint operation and is therefore not required 
to be included within the statement of accounts.  This is because the day-to-day 
operations are managed by the Board and, at Board level, the member Councils only 
have one board member each out of twelve in total and so, at Board level, the 
Councils are a minority and do not have control of the Board, even if acting together. 

This Council therefore considers that its interest in EKH does not amount to a 
controlling interest and therefore Group Accounts do not need to be prepared. 

However, for information, the financial (draft unaudited) results of EKH for 2016/17 
and the Council’s share is as follows:

East
 Kent 

Housing 

DDC 
share
25%

East Kent 
Housing 

Ltd 

DDC 
share
25%

163



71

Ltd
2015/16 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

£000 £000 £000 £000
(8,760) (2,190) Turnover (8,653) (2,163)
9,629. 2,407. Expenses 9,554. 2,388.

869. 217. Operational (profit)/loss 901. 225.
286. 72. Finance costs 290. 73.

1,155. 289. (Profit)/loss after taxation 1,191. 298.
(1,855) (464) Re-measurement of post-

employment benefit obligations
1,927. 482.

(700) (175) Total comprehensive (income)/loss 
for the year

3,118. 780.

406. 102. Non-current assets 658. 164.
1,699. 425. Current assets 964. 241.
(893) (223) Current liabilities (806) (202)

(7,984) (1,996) Non-current liabilities (10,706) (2,676)
(6,772) (1,692) (9,890) (2,473)

(558) (141) Profit and loss reserve (285) (71)
7,330. 1,833. Pensions reserve 10,175. 2,544.

(6,772) (1,692) (9,890) (2,473)

Note 37, Related Party Transactions, sets out the transactions that took place 
between the Council and EKH in 2016/17.  Note 40, Contingent Liabilities, describes 
the guarantee the Council has entered into with EKH over certain pension 
obligations.

43.  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT YET TO BE ADOPTED

International Accounting Standard 8 requires the Council to disclose the expected 
impact of new standards that have been issued, but not yet adopted. 
Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted include: 

 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 
 IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with Customers 
 IFRS – Leases 

There are no new standards that have been issued but not yet adopted which, when 
adopted, are expected to have a material impact on the Council’s financial 
statements.

164



72

44.  PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT OF STATEMENT - TELLING THE STORY

This year the presentation of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement has changed. Up until this financial year the segments 
that made up the cost of services were set out in the Service Reporting Code for Practice, however this has now changed and the cost of 
services is now to be based on the Management Accounts of the Council.  The restatement of the 2015/16 CIES net cost of services is detailed 
below.

Central 
Services 

to the 
Public

Cultural 
and 

Related 
Services 

Environmental 
and 

Regulatory 
Services 

 Planning 
and 

Development 
Services 

  Highways 
and 

Transport 
Services 

  Local 
Authority 
Housing 
(HRA)

  Other 
Housing 
Services

  Corporate 
and 

Democratic 
Core 

  Public 
Health

  Non-
distributed 

Costs Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive 0 19 0 1,750 0. 0. 0 839 11 32. 2,651.

Director of 
Finance, Housing 
& Community

1,369 16 359 212 0. 0. 2,074 146 1 5. 4,182.

Director of 
Environment & 
Corporate Assets

0 4,318 3,648 355 (712) 0. 188 8 0 0. 7,806.

Director of 
Governance

575 0 1,295 0 0. 0. 0 752 0 0. 2,622.

Special Projects 0 23 0 94 31. 0. 106 0 0 128. 381.

Local Authority 
Housing (HRA)

0 0 0 0 0. (27,983) 0 0 0 0. (27,983)

Non-distributed 
Costs

0 0 0 0 0. 0. 0 0 0 (113) (113)

NET COST OF 
SERVICES

1,944 4,376 5,302 2,410 (681) (27,983) 2,368 1,744 12 53. (10,454)

165



73

45. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT OF STATEMENT – SOFT LOANS

It has been identified that Soft Loan balances were previously incorrectly accounted for as a 
Creditors in the balance sheet whereas they should have been charged to the Capital 
Adjustments Account.  In addition a small element of loan repayments had been incorrectly 
added to the capital grant income whereas it should have been treated as capital receipts.  
These changes are relating to the accounting treatment of the transactions and do not affect 
the Council’s financial outturn for previous years.  These changes have been made in the 
restated Balance Sheet showing both the revised opening and closing positions for the 
financial year 2015/16.  The changes made are summarised below.  

Balance Sheet (Extract)

2015/16 
Opening 

Balance – 
Original

£000

2015/16 
Opening 

Balance – 
Restated

£000

Balance Sheet Category 2015/16 
Closing 

Balance – 
Original

£000

2015/16 
Closing 

Balance – 
Restated

£000
(13,417) (10,064) Short Term Creditors 14,151 10,877

(1,514) (754) Capital grants received in 
advance

933 95

120,339 124,452 Net Assets 155,487 159,599

4,148 4,567 Usable capital receipts 
reserve

5,714 6,210

126,645 130,339 Capital adjustments account 147,998 151,614
120,339 124,452 Total Reserves 155,487 159,599

 
Capital Expenditure and Financing (Extract)

Sources of Finance 2015/16 
Original

£000

2015/16 
Restated

£000
Capital Receipts (including Excess RTB Receipts) (1,334) (1,591)
Government Grants (4,419) (4,162)

Usable Capital Receipts

2015/16
Original

2015/16
Revised

£000 £000
Balance at 1 April (4,148) (4,567)
Usable capital receipts received (3,199) (3,534)

(7,347) (8,101)
Less: usable capital receipts applied:-
Expenditure on non-current assets 724. 724.
Financing for Disabled Facilities and Renovation 
Grants

138. 138.

Private Sector Housing Loans 258.
Contribution to Affordable Housing 472. 472.
Pooled housing capital receipts 299. 299.
Balance at 31 March (5,714) (6,210)

166



74

Short Term Creditors (Extract)

2015/16 
Original

£000

2015/16 
Restated

£000
Government Departments  (3,565) (291)
Total (14,151) (10,877)

Capital Grants Received in Advance

2015/16 
Original

£000

2015/16 
Restated

£000
Balance at 1 April (1,514) (754)
Contributions received (1,920) (1,584)
Applied to capital projects 2,252. 1,995.
Contribution to revenue 249. 249.
Balance at 31 March (933) (95)

Capital Adjustments Account (Extract)

2015/16 
Original

£000

2015/16 
Restated

£000
Balance at 1 April (126,645) (130,339)
Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new 
capital expenditure

(1,334) (1,591)

Receipt of capital income from long term debtors 335.
Balance at 31 March (147,998) (151,614)

167



75

COLLECTION FUND

This account reflects the statutory requirement for billing authorities to maintain a separate 
Collection Fund, which shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation to Non-
Domestic Rates (NDR) and Council Tax, and illustrates the way in which these have been 
distributed to precepting authorities and the General Fund.  The billing authority’s share of 
the Collection Fund is consolidated with the other accounts of the billing authority.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

2015/16 2016/17
Business Council Total Business Council Total

Rates Tax Rates Tax
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income
Council tax:

0. (56,147) (56,147) Billed to Council Tax payers 0. (59,327) (59,327)
0. (3) (3) Grants Receivable 0. 0. 0.

National Non-domestic rates:
(34,775) 0. (34,775) Billed to NNDR payers (35,825) 0. (35,825)

(1,303) 0. (1,303) Enterprise Zone relief from Government (1,375) 0. (1,375)
0. 0. 0.    Transitional Protection Payments 0. 0. 0.

(36,078) (56,150) (92,228) Total Income (37,200) (59,327) (96,527)

Expenditure
Precepts, Demands & Shares:

17,674. 0. 17,674.    Central Government 16,326. 0. 16,326.
3,181. 39,222. 42,403. Kent County Council 2,939. 41,785. 44,724.

0. 5,295. 5,295. Police & Crime Commissioner for Kent 0. 5,609. 5,609.
354. 2,542. 2,896.    Kent & Medway Fire & Rescue Authority 327. 2,655. 2,982.

14,139. 6,059. 20,210.    Dover District Council 13,061. 6,396. 19,457.
0. 2,175. 2,175. Town and Parish Councils 0. 2,243. 2,243.

35,348. 55,293. 90,653. 32,653. 58,688. 91,341.
Enterprise Zone Relief Payable:

1,042. 0. 1,042.    Dover District Council 1,100. 0. 1,100.
235. 0. 235. Kent County Council 248. 0. 248.

26. 0. 26. Kent & Medway Fire & Rescue Authority 27. 0. 27.
1,303. 0. 1,303. 1,375. 0. 1,375.

Renewable Energy Retained
12. 0. 12.    Dover District Council 44. 0. 44.
12. 0. 12. 44. 0. 44.

Charges to the Collection Fund:
336. 123. 459.   Write-offs of Uncollectable Amounts 229. 222. 451.
305. (80) 225.   Increase/(decrease) in Bad Debt provis’n (197) 273. 76.

(2,036) 0. (2,036)   Increase/(decrease) in Appeals provision 569. 0. 569.
156. 0. 156.   Cost of Collection Allowance 158. 0. 158.

(1,239) 43. (1,196) 759. 495. 1,254.

787. 0. 787. Transitional Protection Payments 8. 0. 8.

36,211. 55,336. 91,547. Total Expenditure 34,839. 59,183. 94,022.

133. (814) (681) (Surplus) or Deficit for the Year (2,361) (144) (2,505)

3,526. (1,922) 1,604. Balance brought forward at 1 April 3,659. (2,736) 923.

3,659. (2,736) 923. Balance Carried Forward at 31 March 1,298. (2,880) (1,582)

168



76

NOTES TO THE COLLECTION FUND ACCOUNTS

1. COUNCIL TAX

Council tax income derives from charges raised according to the value of residential 
properties, which have been classified into eight valuation bands estimated at their 
1 April 1991 values for this specific purpose.  The property valuations are carried out 
by the Valuation Office Agency.  Individual charges are calculated by estimating the 
amount of income required to be taken from the Collection Fund by Kent County 
Council (KCC), The Police and Crime Commissioner for Kent (PCCK), Kent and 
Medway Fire and Rescue Authority (KMFRA) and the District Council (DDC), and 
dividing this by the council tax base.  

Council tax benefit (CTB) was abolished by Government from April 2013 and billing 
authorities were required to implement a local ‘Council Tax Reduction Scheme’ 
(CTRS).  Council Tax Benefit was previously administered by local authorities, but 
fully funded by central government subsidy, so that money paid to claimants for CTB 
was fully recovered through subsidy income and there was no impact on the billing 
authority or preceptors.  However, under the Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(CTRS), Government grant funding to local schemes was reduced by 10% compared 
to its funding for CTB.         

CTB was a “benefit” scheme. CTRS is a “discount” scheme.  With a discount 
scheme, instead of raising Council Tax bills to claimants and then settling the debts 
with benefit, the bills are reduced through the use of a discount instead.  In principle, 
there is little difference between the two methods, but the reduction in funding by 
Government means that if the level of discount given to claimants under CTRS was 
equivalent to the level of CTB previously awarded, there would be a shortfall in 
overall Council Tax income (including grant/subsidy) by the proposed 10% funding 
cut by Government.  In arriving at a local scheme that could offset the loss of funding, 
the level of discounts awarded (both to prior benefit claimants and recipients of other 
types of discounts) would need to be reduced.  However, Government stipulated that 
pensioners must not be disadvantaged and incentives to work should not be 
removed.  

The East Kent CTRS (covering the billing authorities of Dover District Council, 
Canterbury City Council and Thanet District Council) has the following features:

 A reduction in ‘benefit’ to claimants of circa 6% (DDC figure, increasing to 10% 
from 2017/18). That means that claimants who weren’t paying Council Tax are 
now required to pay 6% of the bill (increasing to 10% from 2017/18);

 Empty homes discounts were reduced to 0% for Class C empty properties from 
1 April 2013, in order to meet the costs of the discount to claimants over and 
above the reduced level of Government funding;

 Second home discounts were removed from 1 April 2013, in order to meet the 
costs of the discount to claimants over and above the reduced level of 
Government funding.

169



77

           Precepts

Authorities who made a precept on the Collection Fund for Council Tax are as 
follows, including their share of the surplus paid:

Preceptor 

2015/16 
Precept 

£000

2015/16
Surplus

£000

2015/16 
Total 
£000

2016/17 
Precept 

£000

2016/17
Surplus

£000

2016/17 
Total 
£000

Kent County Council 38,699 523 39,222 41,093 692 41,785
Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Kent

5,224 71 5,295 5,516 93 5,609

Kent and Medway Fire & 
Rescue Authority

2,508 34 2,542 2,610 45 2,655

Dover District Council 5,947 112 6,059 6,251 145 6,396
52,378 740 53,118 55,470 975 56,445

Parish councils 2,175 - 2,175 2,243 - 2,243
Total Demand on the 
Collection Fund 54,553 740 55,293 57,713 975 58,688

Authorities who made a precept on the Collection Fund for Business Rates are as 
follows, including their share of the surplus paid:

Preceptor

2015/16 
Precept 

£000

2015/16
Surplus

£000

2015/16 
Total 
£000

2016/17 
Precept 

£000

2016/17
Deficit
£000

2016/17 
Total 
£000

Kent County Council 3,136 45 3,181 3,101 (162) 2,939
Kent and Medway Fire & 
Rescue Authority

349 5 354 345 (18) 327

Dover District Council 13,939 200 14,139 13,785 (724) 13,061
17,424 250 17,674 17,231 (904) 16,327

Central Government 17,424 250 17,674 17,231 (905) 16,326
Total Demand on the 
Collection Fund 34,848 500 35,348 34,462 (1,809) 32,653

170



78

Council Tax Base

The council tax base, i.e. the number of chargeable dwellings in each valuation band 
(adjusted where discounts apply) converted into an equivalent number of Band D 
dwellings, was calculated as follows: 

2015/16 2016/17

Band

Estimated
 no. of 

Properties Multiplier

Band D 
Equivalent 
Dwellings

Estimated 
no. of 

Properties Multiplier

Band D 
Equivalent 
Dwellings

Disabled A 2.62 5/9ths 1.46 2.36 5/9ths 1.31
A 3,627.93 6/9ths 2,418.62 3,752.37 6/9ths 2,501.58
B 11,362.47 7/9ths 8,837.48 11,612.42 7/9ths 9,031.88
C 10,660.27 8/9ths 9,475.80 10,880.68 8/9ths 9,671.72
D 5,884.71 9/9ths 5,884.71 6,059.17 9/9ths 6,059.17
E 3,714.94 11/9ths 4,540.48 3,773.44 11/9ths 4,611.99
F 2,072.66 13/9ths 2,993.84 2,118.36 13/9ths 3,059.86
G 1,273.82 15/9ths 2,123.04 1,265.82 15/9ths 2,109.70
H 48.81 18/9ths 97.62 46.17 18/9ths 92.34

38,648.23 36,373.05 39,510.79 37,139.55
Estimated Collection Rate 97.61% 97.61%

Council Tax Base 35,503.73 36,251.91

Band D Council Tax
2015/16 

£000
2016/17 

£000
Kent County Council 1,089.99 1,133.55
Police and Crime Commissioner for Kent 147.15 152.15
Kent and Medway Fire & Rescue Authority 70.65 72.00
Dover District Council 167.49 172.44

1,475.28 1,530.14
Parish councils (average) 61.28 61.86
Total 1,536.56 1,592.00

This basic amount of council tax for a Band D property of £1,592.00 for 2016/17 
(£1,536.56 for 2015/16) is multiplied by the proportion specified within the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 for the particular band to give an individual amount 
due.  In addition to this, special expenses are charged specifically in relation to the 
precepts of parish councils.

2. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES (NNDR)
Non-domestic rates are set on a national basis, but the Council is responsible for 
collecting rates due from the ratepayers in its area.  The Government specifies an 
amount of ‘rate poundage’ of 49.7p (49.3p) for large businesses or 48.4p (48.0p) for 
small businesses in 2016/17 (2015/16) and, subject to the effects of transitional 
arrangements, local businesses pay rates calculated by multiplying their rateable 
value by that amount.

On 1 April 2013 the Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) was introduced. 
Under the BRRS, cash collected by the billing authority from NNDR debtors belongs 
proportionately to the government (50%), the billing authority (40%) and the major 
precepting authorities, being Kent County Council (9%) and Kent & Medway Fire and 

171



79

Rescue Authority (1%). There will be a debtor or creditor position between the billing 
authority, the government and the major preceptors to be recognised at the end of 
each year, as the net cash paid to the government and the major preceptors during 
the year will not exactly match its share of the cash collected from NNDR payers.

However, from April 2013 the Department of Communities and Local Government 
has calculated a tariff payable by the billing authority (Dover District Council) that 
reduces its retained funding significantly from the 40% share.  There is also a 
separate calculation of a pre-determined baseline funding level for the billing 
authority.   Further arrangements to limit the loss of income to the billing authority (or 
restrict the retention of income above the baseline) result in safety net payments from 
Government or levy payments to it.  Dover is in a levy position for 2016/17 and pays 
a levy, estimated to be £288k.  This is slightly different from 2015/16 when Dover 
was paying a reduced levy rate by being part of a Kent-wide ‘business rates pool’ for 
that year (£211k), but volatility in expected business rates income led Dover to 
withdraw from the pool for 2016/17.  Similar arrangements exist for the other major 
preceptors.  Tariff, levy and safety net calculations form part of the Core Statements, 
but are not shown in the collection fund itself.    

The NNDR income, after reliefs, of £35.825m for 2016/17 (£34.775m for 2015/16), 
was based on the total rateable value for the Council's area, which at the year-end 
was £89.405m (£89.541m in 2015/16).

Separately, there has been a revaluation of the rateable values of businesses as at 
1st April 2017 (the “2017 valuation”).  Such revaluations take place at intervals and 
are carried out by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA).  This is the first revaluation 
since 2010.  Initially it appeared that the total rateable value of the Council’s area 
would increase significantly (from £89.8m to about £111.3m) with a proportionate 
increase in NNDR income, but this is not the case as the Government have 
introduced higher thresholds to exempt or reduce payments by small businesses, 
lower multipliers to calculate the amounts payable by all businesses, as well as 
transitional arrangements to phase in increases for those businesses whose rateable 
values have increased, all of which reduce the NNDR income.  Additionally, the tariff 
payable by Dover on its 40% share of business rates income has been increased by 
Government by circa £2m to keep its net funding similar to the old basis (i.e. under 
the “2010 valuation”).  Since the revised higher tariff was set, a significant reduction 
in RV has been agreed by VOA for a major ratepayer, resulting in a reduction in 
expected income from business rates (calculated on a lower RV of £103.6m).  There 
are provisional arrangements in place in a Government consultation document 
intended to reduce the impact on Dover (and other authorities) of such changes, by 
adjusting the tariff for 2018/19 and subsequent years.  These arrangements, which 
have yet to be exactly determined by Government and evaluated by the advisory 
accounting body, CIPFA, may create short term timing differences and, possibly, 
unexpected results that may impact future years.    

  

172



80

3. PROVISION FOR BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS 

2015/16 2016/17
Council 

Tax 
£000

NNDR 
£000

Total 
£000

Council 
Tax 
£000

NNDR 
£000

Total 
£000

Balance at 1 April 3,091 1,653 4,744 3,011 1,958  4,969
Write-Offs (123) (336) (459). (222) (229) (451)
Contribution to Provision 43. 641. 684.. 495. 32. 527.
Balance at 31 March 3,011 1,958  4,969 3,284 1,761  5,045

4. COLLECTION FUND SURPLUSES AND DEFICITS 
Council Tax
The District Council was required to estimate by 16 January 2016 the amount of the 
surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund for the financial year in respect of council 
tax.  Where a surplus is estimated, it is to be shared in the following year between 
the District Council, Kent County Council, The Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Kent, and Kent and Medway Fire & Rescue Authority in proportion to their respective 
precepts.  The distributable surplus was calculated as £975k for 2015/16, so there 
was an additional payment to major preceptors of this amount in 2016/17.  The 
distributable surplus for 2016/17 was estimated as £1,603k and will be distributed to 
major preceptors during 2017/18.  The actual surplus of £2.88m at 31 March 2017 
exceeds this figure but does not represent a cash surplus.  However, it will be taken 
into account when estimating the distributable surplus for 2017/18 (N.B. “Council Tax 
Cash” in note 5  shows cash surpluses at 31 March 2016 and 2017, but these 
surpluses are mainly due to prepayments on account of the following years’ debts).  
Each of the major precepting authorities' shares of the surplus relating to council tax 
is shown in the table below.

Surplus at 
31 March 

2015 
£000

Movement 
in Year 

£000

Surplus at 
31 March 

2016
 £000

Movement 
in Year 

£000

Surplus at 
31 March 

2017
 £000

Kent County Council (1,362) (584) (1,946) (108) (2,054)
Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Kent (184) (78) (262) (13) (275)
Kent & Medway Fire & 
Rescue Authority (88) (36) (124) (5) (129)
Dover District Council (288) (116) (404) (18) (422)
Total (1,922) (814) (2,736) (144) (2,880)

National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR)
The District Council was required to estimate by 31 January 2016 the amount of the 
surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund for the financial year in respect of 
non-domestic rates.  Where a surplus (or deficit) is estimated, it is to be shared (or 
recovered) in the following year by (or from) the District Council, Kent County 
Council, Kent and Medway Fire & Rescue Authority and Central Government in 
proportion to their shares of non-domestic rates income.  The District Council 
estimated that the fund would have an accumulated deficit of £1,809k for 2015/16 
and this was collected from major preceptors during 2016/17.  The District Council 
estimated that the fund would have an accumulated deficit of £1,820k for 2016/17 
and this will be collected from major preceptors during 2017/18.  The actual deficit of 
£1,298k is a favourable position at 31 March 2017.  Therefore the amount collected 
during 2017/18 will be £522k higher than strictly required (i.e. DDC should be 

173



81

recovering a deficit of £1,298k rather than £1,820k).  This will be adjusted against the 
2018/19 proportionate shares of non-domestic rates income.  The main reason for 
the reduction in the deficit is that the amount of “part occupied relief” estimated as 
being owed to a major ratepayer at the end of the 2015/16 year was higher than the 
final figure agreed by the VOA, resulting in a bigger sum being due (and paid) by the 
ratepayer during 2016/17 of approximately £900k.  This is offset by other adverse 
reductions from appeals/revaluations.  

The proportionate shares (prescribed by legislation) of the actual collection fund 
deficit for non-domestic rates are shown below: 

Proportionate 
Shares

Deficit at 
31 March 

2016
 £000

Movement 
in Year 

£000

Deficit at 
31 March 

2017
£000

Central Government 50% 1,830 (1,181) 649
Kent County Council 9% 329 (212) 117
Kent & Medway Fire & Rescue 
Authority 1% 36 (23) 13
Dover District Council 40% 1,464 (945) 519
Total 100% 3,659 (2,361) 1,298

174



82

5. ALLOCATION OF ARREARS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER BALANCES
Each of the major precepting authorities' shares of the arrears, prepayments and 
other balances are shown below:

KCC 
£000

PCCK 
£000

KMFRA 
£000

DDC
£000

Gov't 
£000

Total 
£000

Council Tax:
Council tax arrears 3,220. 432. 204. 666. 0. 4,522.
Council tax provision for 
bad debts (2,144) (288) (136) (443) 0. (3,011)
Council tax overpayments 
& prepayments (895) (120) (57) (185) 0. (1,257)
Council tax cash 1,765. 238. 113. 366. 0. 2,482.
Collection Fund surplus (1,946) (262) (124) (404) 0. (2,736)

0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.
Business Rates (NNDR):
NNDR arrears 252. 0. 28. 1,120. 1,401. 2,801.
NNDR provision for bad 
debts (176) 0. (19) (783) (980) (1,958)
NNDR provision for 
appeals (254) 0. (28) (1,128) (1,410) (2,820)
NNDR overpayments & 
prepayments (278) 0. (31) (1,238) (1,547) (3,094)

A
t 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

6

NNDR cash 127. 0. 14. 565. 706. 1,412.
Collection Fund deficit 329. 0. 36. 1,464. 1,830. 3,659.

0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.
Total 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.

KCC 
£000

PCCK 
£000

KMFRA 
£000

DDC
£000

Gov't 
£000

Total 
£000

Council Tax:
Council tax arrears 3,458. 461. 215. 704. 0. 4,838.
Council tax provision for 
bad debts (2,347) (313) (146) (478) 0. (3,284)
Council tax overpayments 
& prepayments (1,024) (136) (64) (208) 0. (1,432)
Council tax cash 1,967. 263. 124. 404. 0. 2,758.
Collection Fund surplus (2,054) (275) (129) (422) 0. (2,880)

0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.
Business Rates (NNDR):
NNDR arrears 200. 0. 22. 888. 1,109. 2,219.
NNDR provision for bad 
debts (158) 0. (17) (705) (881) (1,761)
NNDR provision for 
appeals (217) 0. (24) (962) (1,203) (2,406)
NNDR overpayments & 
prepayments (59) 0. (7) (264) (329) (659)

A
t 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

7

NNDR cash 117. 0. 13. 524. 655. 1,309.
Collection Fund deficit 117. 0. 13. 519. 649. 1,298.

0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.
Total 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.

175



83

6. BUSINESS RATES RELIEFS

The Council has received applications for mandatory relief from business rates on behalf 
of NHS Trusts, but it considers the basis of these applications to be unfounded and has 
made no allowance for them in its financial statements.  This is a national issue and 
remains unresolved.

176



84

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shows the economic cost in the year of 
providing social housing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices, rather than the amount to be funded from rents and government grants. 
Authorities charge rents to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be 
different from the accounting cost. The increase or decrease in the year, on the basis of 
which rents are raised, is shown in the Movement on the HRA Statement. 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

2015/16 Note 2016/17
£000 £000

  Income
(19,767)   Dwellings rents 10 (19,258)

(490)   Non-dwelling rents (483)
(413)   Tenant charges for services and facilities (413)
(321)   Leaseholder charges for services and facilities (249)
(178) Contributions towards expenditure (170)

(21,169)   Total Income (20,573)

    Expenditure
2,732.   Repairs and maintenance 2,964.
3,905.   Supervision and management 3,938.

53.   Rent, rates, taxes and other charges 44.
1,730.   Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets 5 1,956.

(15,814)   Exceptional Item – revaluation gain, reversal of prior year loss 9 (12,449)
25.   Debt management expenses 28.
89.   Increase (decrease) in impairment of debtors 12 (5)

 (7,280)         Total Expenditure (3,524)

(28,449)
Net Cost of Services Included in the Whole Authority 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (24,097)

450.    HRA share of corporate and democratic core 476.

16.

   HRA share of other amounts included in the whole authority
     net expenditure of continuing operations but not allocated to 
     specific services 15.

(27,983) (23,606)     Net Cost of HRA Services 

(1,388)   (Gain) or loss on sales of HRA non-current assets (1,003)
2,843.   Interest payable and similar charges 2,783.

(49)   Interest and investment income (79)
459.   Net Interest on Defined Benefit Liability 13 473.

(26,118)   (Surplus) or Deficit for the year on HRA Services (21,432)

177



85

MOVEMENT IN THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT STATEMENT

2015/16 2016/17
      £000    £000 £000 £000

(1,094)  Balance on the HRA at the end of the previous 
year (1,013)

(26,118) (Surplus) or deficit for the year on the HRA 
Income and Expenditure Statement

(21,432)

Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding under Statute:
15,814. Impairment of non-current assets 12,449.

3,066. Voluntary Excess depreciation over Major      
.Repairs Allowance charged to the HRA

3,143.

1,388. Gain on disposal of non-current assets 1,003.
(38) Net charges made for retirement benefits (20)

2,370. Capital expenditure funded by the HRA 632. 17,206.
(3,518) (4,226)
3,599. Transfers to earmarked reserves 4,192.

81. (Increase) or decrease in year on the HRA 
Balance

(34)

(1,013)   Balance on the HRA at the End of the Current 
Year (1,047)

178



86

 NOTES TO THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

1. NUMBER AND TYPES OF DWELLING 

Movement in Housing Stock 2016/17

Stock at 
1 April 2016 Sales Acquisitions

Stock at 
31 March 2017

Houses/bungalows 2,759 28 0 2,731
Flats 1,615 9 0 1,606
Total 4,374 37 0 4,337

Total Value of Assets
1 April 2016 31 March 2017

£000 £000

   Dwellings 183,498 196,029
   Garages 3,339 3,376
   Other land and buildings 319 462
   Equipment 45 248
   Investment properties 442 455
   Assets under construction 247 0
 187,890 200,570

2. HOUSING STOCK

The vacant possession value of dwellings within the Authority’s HRA as at 31 March 
2017 was £594m (£573m as at 31 March 2016).  The difference between the vacant 
possession and Balance Sheet value of dwellings reflects the economic cost to 
Government of providing council housing at less than open market rents.

3. ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENT ON THE MAJOR REPAIRS RESERVE

The Major Repairs Reserve is ring-fenced for HRA capital expenditure or debt 
repayment of a housing nature. 

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Balance as at 1 April 0. 0.
Major Repairs Allowance:

Depreciation
Voluntary Excess Depreciation charge to HRA
Transfer from reserve for capital expenditure
Repayment of principal on loan

(1,721)
(3,066)
2,765.
2,022.

(1,945)
(3,142)
3,000.
2,087.

Balance at 31 March 0. 0.

179



87

4. OTHER EARMARKED RESERVES

Housing Initiatives

This reserve has been established to provide funding for investment in housing 
initiatives including “Affordable Housing” and has a balance of £12.5m at 31 March 
2017 (£8.39m at 31 March 2016).

5. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

The Housing Revenue Account includes a charge for depreciation of non-current 
assets and amortisation of intangible assets of £1,964k (£1,729k at 31 March 2016) 
as detailed below.

 2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

  Council dwellings 1,587. 1,797
Garages   134 148
Equipment 0 7
Intangible assets 8 4
Total 1,729 1,956

6. SUMMARY OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

 2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

  Capital expenditure:
  Dwellings 4,108. 3,477.
  Other Land & Buildings 1,670. 259.
Total 5,778. 3,736.
Financed by:
  Funded by HRA (2,370) (632)
  Transfer from Major Repairs Reserve (2,765) (3,000)
  Capital Grants (148) (0)
  Excess RTB Receipts (472) (15)
  S106 Contribution (23) (89)

(5,778) (3,736)

7. SUMMARY OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS

2015/16         
£000

2016/17       
£000

Receipts from sales during the year:
Dwelling sales  (3,175) (2,607)   
Other HRA sales (86) (11)
Sub total (3,261) (2,618)
Amount pooled to Government 299. 296.

(2,962) (2,322)

180



88

8. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE FUNDED BY THE HRA

£632k (£2,370k in 2015/16) of the improvement works to the Housing Revenue 
Account properties have been funded by the Housing Revenue Account as shown in 
Note 6.

9. REVALUATION GAIN ON HRA STOCK

The gain of £12.449m is due to the reversal of prior year losses. The housing market 
has started to make a recovery resulting in an increase in value this year. (£15.814m 
in 2015/16) 

10. RENT OF DWELLINGS

This is the total rent income collectable for the year after an allowance is made for 
empty properties. 

The average weekly rent at 31 March 2017 was £85.67 compared with £86.56 at 31 
March 2016.

11. RENT ARREARS

The position for rent arrears is shown below:

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
Former
Tenant
Arrears

Current
Tenant
Arrears

Total
Rent

Arrears 

Former
Tenant
Arrears

Current
Tenant
Arrears

Total
Rent

Arrears
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

90 255 345 89 241 330

12. IMPAIRMENT OF DEBTORS

The following provision has been made against possible non-collection of debt:

2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000

Balance brought forward as at 1 April 426) 446.
Provision made in the year 89) 79.
Less amounts written off (69) (83)
Balance carried forward at 31 March 446. 442.

13. IAS19 (RETIREMENT BENEFITS) AND THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

181



89

A proportion of the pension costs, as identified by the fund’s actuary, have been 
charged to the Housing Revenue Account.

The costs of retirement benefits are recognised when they are earned by employees, 
rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.  However, the charge 
to be made against the HRA Balance is based on the cash payable in the year, so 
the real cost of retirement benefits is reversed out in the Statement of Movement in 
the HRA Balance.

The following IAS19 adjustments have been made:

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

HRA Income and Expenditure Statement
Cost of Services

Curtailments and past service costs 6. 6.
Administrative expense 10. 9.

Net Operating Expenditure
Net Interest on the Defined Liability (Asset) 459. 473.

Charge to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 475. 488.

Movement in Reserves Statement
Reversal of net charges made for retirement benefits 
in accordance with IAS 19 (475) (488)

Actual amount charged to the HRA for pensions in 
the year:

Employers' contributions payable to scheme 437. 468.
Contribution (From) or To Pensions Reserve (38) (20)

182



90

CHARITIES ADMINISTERED BY DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL

Dover District Council is the sole trustee for the three charities named below and has 
appointed a Committee to carry out the operational functions of administering them:

 Sir Ernest Bruce Charles Charity No 1021750
 The Salter Collection Charity No   288731
 Frederick Franklin Public Park Charity No 1092171

Summarised accounts for each charity are set out below.  All accounts are submitted 
to the Charity Commission as they prescribe.  These accounts do not represent 
assets of the Council and are not included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Investment of charitable funds is governed by the Trustee Investments Act 1961.

SIR ERNEST BRUCE CHARLES 
Purpose of charity - income (after expenses) to be applied for the benefit of Deal and 
surrounding area inhabitants:

2015/16 2016/17
£ £

Income 204. 155
Expenditure             0 0
Surplus or (deficit) for year 204. 155
Fund balance at 1 April 69,033. 69,237
Fund balance at 31 March 69,237. 69,392
Represented by:
  Investments 69,237. 69,392

69,237. 69,392

THE SALTER COLLECTION CHARITY

Purpose of charity - to maintain a collection of costumes and accessories for display 
to the public or for research:

 
2015/16 2016/17

£ £
Income 2287. 162
Expenditure 0. 0

Surplus or (deficit) for year 228. 162
Fund balance at 1 April 270,745. 270,973
Fund balance at 31 March 270,973. 271,135
Represented by:
  Collection 180,000. 180,000
  Investment 90,973. 91,135

270,973. 271,135

183



91

CHARITY OF FREDERICK FRANKLIN FOR A PUBLIC PARK
Purpose of charity - land at Marke Wood and Victoria Park to be used for recreational 
activities by the inhabitants of Walmer:

This charity was set up on 22 April 2002 and replaced the Frederick Franklin Charity 
for a Public Park (Charity No 299470) and Charles Sports Ground Charity (Charity 
No 1015537).

2015/16 2016/17
£ £

Income 433. 308.
Expenditure 0. 0.
Surplus or (deficit) for year 433. 308.
Fund balance at 1 April 496,358. 496,791.
Revaluation Gain / (Loss) 0. 0.
Fund balance at 31 March 496,791. 497,099.

Represented by:
  Land and other buildings 323,822. 323,822.
  Investment 181,085. 179,732.
  Creditor (8,116) (6,455)

496,791. 497,099.

184



92

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF DOVER DISTRICT 
COUNCIL

We have audited the financial statements of Dover District Council (the "Authority") for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). 
The financial statements comprise the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the 
Collection Fund, the Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement, the 
Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement, and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17.

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with 
Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of 
Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Director of Finance, Housing and Community and 
auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Director of Finance, 
Housing and Community is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, 
which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17, which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice 
published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the 
“Code of Audit Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment 
of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Director of Finance, Housing and Community; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the Narrative Report, and the Annual Governance Statement to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report.

185



93

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:
 the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Authority as at 31 March 2017 and of its expenditure and income for the year then 
ended; and

 the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17 and applicable law.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited financial statements 
in the Narrative Report, and the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:
 in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance 

included in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’ 
published by CIPFA and SOLACE; or

 we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have made a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Act 
in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Act.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources

Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and 
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the Authority has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of 
the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively.

Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in November 2016, as to whether the Authority had proper arrangements to ensure 
it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General 

186



94

determined this criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice 
in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2017.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether in all significant respects the Authority has put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by 
the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, we are satisfied that in all significant 
respects the Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of the Authority in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice.

Elizabeth Jackson
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

30 Finsbury Square
London
EC2P 2YU

XX September 2017 

187



95

GLOSSARY

ACCOUNTING PERIOD

This is the period covered by the accounts.  For local authorities this is the 12 months 
commencing 1 April.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Accounts, for example, the method 
of depreciation used, policies in respect of provisions and reserves and accounting for 
pension costs.

ACCOUNTS

This is a statement aggregating items of income and expenditure and assets and liabilities.  
The accounts may show detailed transactions for every activity (generally used for 
management and control purposes during a financial year) or be summarised to show the 
overall position at the end of the period.  The latter are known as final accounts and show 
both the net surplus (profit) or deficit (loss) and a Balance Sheet of the assets, liabilities and 
other balances at the end of the accounting period.  Authorities are required to publish a 
Statement of Accounts as specified in the Accounts and Audit Regulations (England).

ACCRUALS

This is an accounting concept which ensures that income and expenditure are shown in the 
accounting period in which they are earned or incurred, not when cash has been received or 
paid.

AMORTISATION

This is the measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other reduction in the useful 
economic life of an intangible non-current asset, whether arising from use, passage of time 
or obsolescence through technological or other changes.

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
This Statement accompanies the Statement of Accounts, but is not part of the accounts.  
The purpose of the Annual Governance Statement is to assess and demonstrate that there 
is a sound system of corporate governance throughout the organisation.

ASSETS

An asset is something the Council owns that has a monetary value. Assets are either current 
or non-current.

BALANCES

Capital or revenue reserves of an authority made up of the accumulated surplus of income 
over expenditure on the General Fund or any other account.  Revenue balances may be 
utilised to provide for unforeseen circumstances, to ensure that payments can be made 
pending the receipt of income, and if justified they may be used to reduce the Collection 
Fund levy.

188



96

BUDGET

This is a statement defining the Council’s policies for a year in terms of finance.

CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT

This account provides a balancing mechanism between the different rates at which assets 
are depreciated under the Code and are financed through the capital controls system.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Spending on the acquisition, construction, enhancement or replacement of tangible assets 
such as land, buildings or major items of equipment, which will be used to provide services 
for a number of years. Under statutory determination expenditure on assets not belonging to 
the council can be treated as capital expenditure. 

CAPITAL FINANCING

This is the raising of money to pay for capital expenditure.  Usually the cost of capital assets 
is met by borrowing, but capital expenditure may also be financed by other means such as 
leasing, contributions from the revenue accounts, the proceeds of the sale of capital assets, 
capital grants, reserves and other contributions.

CAPITAL FINANCING COSTS

Annual charges to the revenue accounts of council services to cover the interest on and 
repayment of loans raised for capital expenditure.

CAPITAL RECEIPTS

These are proceeds from the disposal of land and other assets. Capital receipts can be used 
to finance new capital expenditure within the rules set down by the Government, but they 
cannot be used to finance revenue expenditure. Capital receipts can be used for debt 
repayment.

CAPITAL RESERVE

This is an internal reserve to finance capital expenditure without resort to borrowing.  It can 
be built up by contributions from the revenue account, capital receipts, and repayments of 
principal and interest.

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash equivalents is defined as internally managed short-term highly liquid investments of 
three months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

COLLECTION FUND

This is a statutory fund maintained by a billing authority, which is used to record local taxes 
and non-domestic rates collected by the Authority, along with payments to precepting 
authorities, its own General Fund and, for national non-domestic rates only, a further share 
payable to Central Government.

189



97

COMPONENTISATION

An accounting term that covers the practice of splitting an asset into its component parts 
(e.g. walls, roof, boiler, lift) to determine the appropriate value and depreciation basis for 
each component.

CONTINGENT ASSETS

A contingent asset is defined as a possible asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the entity's control.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A contingent liability is defined as either a possible obligation that arises from past events 
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the organisation's control or a present obligation that arises 
from past events but is not recognised because either it is not probable that a transfer of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

CORE / SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The core financial statements consist of the following four statements: Movement in 
Reserves Statement; Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement; Balance Sheet 
and Cash Flow Statement.  Supplementary statements for the Collection Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account are also prepared.  A description of each can be found in the 
Overview of Statement of Accounts section of the Explanatory Foreword.

CREDITORS

Amounts owed by an authority for work done, goods received, or services rendered but for 
which payment had not been made at the date of the Balance Sheet.

CURRENT ASSETS

A current asset is one that is expected to be consumed or realised by the end of the next 
accounting period.

CURRENT LIABLITIES

A current liability is one that is expected to be consumed or realised by the end of the next 
accounting period.

DEBTORS

Debtors are sums of money due to the authority but unpaid at the Balance Sheet date.

DEPRECIATION

This is the measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other reduction in the useful 
economic life of a tangible non-current asset, whether arising from use, passage of time or 
obsolescence through technological or other changes.

190



98

GENERAL FUND

This is the main revenue fund of the Authority.  Day-to-day spending on services is met from 
the fund.  Spending on the provision of housing, however, must be charged to a separate 
Housing Revenue Account.

FAIR VALUE

The amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

FORCE MAJEURE

A common clause in contracts which essentially frees both parties from liability or obligation 
when an extraordinary event or circumstance beyond the control of the parties, such as war, 
strike, riot, crime, act of nature e.g. flooding, earthquake, volcano, prevents one or both 
parties from fulfilling their obligations under the contract

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

This is an account which sets out the expenditure and income arising from the provision of 
housing.  The HRA is funded by specific housing grants and rents payable by the Council’s 
tenants.

IMPAIRMENT

Impairment is where the value of an asset exceeds the amount that could be recovered 
through use or sale.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Council’s external auditors provide an independent opinion on whether the financial 
statements present a “true and fair view” of the financial position of the Council at the 
Balance Sheet date and its income and expenditure for the year. They also report on 
whether the Council has made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)

These are accounting standards that have been produced and adopted to govern accounting 
and move to a globally similar basis.

INVESTMENTS

Investments fall into the following categories depending on when the investment is due to be 
repaid:
 Short-term investments are those where the duration between the Balance Sheet date 

and the date the Council intends to redeem the investment is less than one year.
 Internally managed short-term highly liquid investments of three months or less from the 

date of acquisition are recognised as cash equivalents.
 Long-term investments are those where the duration between the Balance Sheet date 

and the date the Council intends to redeem the investment is more than one year.

191



99

LEASES

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment or 
series of payments the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.  Leases fall into 
two categories.  A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset.  Title may or may not eventually be transferred.  
An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.

LIABILITIES

A liability is something that the Council owes that has a monetary value. Liabilities are either 
current or long term.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tangible assets are those that yield benefits to the local authority and the services it 
provides for a period of more than one year. Classes of non-current assets held are 
property, plant and equipment; council dwellings; other land and buildings; vehicles, plant 
and equipment; infrastructure assets; community assets; assets under construction; surplus 
assets not held for sale; Heritage Assets and Investment property.

Intangible assets are assets that do not have a physical substance but are identifiable and 
controlled by the Authority, e.g. computer software licences and patents for goods or 
services.

PRECEPT 

The levy made by precepting authorities on Billing Authorities, requiring the latter to collect 
income from Council taxpayers on their behalf. County councils, police authorities, fire and 
rescue authorities are major precepting authorities and Parish Councils are local precepting 
authorities.

PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE (PFI)

PFI arrangements involve the operator undertaking an obligation to provide infrastructure 
and/or related services that is used to provide services to the public (irrespective of who 
provides those services to the public).  By extension, this includes providing infrastructure 
and/or related services for the direct use of a public sector entity where these services 
contribute to the provision of services to the public (e.g. office and administrative buildings).

PROVISIONS

These are amounts set aside in the accounts for liabilities which are anticipated in the future, 
but which often cannot be accurately quantified.

RESERVES

Reserves fall into two categories - usable reserves (those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure including capital expenditure and/or to reduce local taxation) and unusable 
reserves (those that the Council is not able to use to provide services e.g. the revaluation 
reserve).

REVALUATION RESERVE

192



100

This reserve records unrealised revaluation gains arising (since 1 April 2007) from holding 
non-current assets.

REVENUE/CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Revenue expenditure is, for example, the running costs of a leisure centre whereas capital 
expenditure is the costs of building and fitting out the leisure centre.

REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE

Capital payments that do not give rise to an asset such as house renovation grants.

REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT

A general grant paid by central government to local authorities to help finance the cost of 
services.  

SUPPORT SERVICES

An allocation of the net cost of the administrative and professional departments which 
provide support for all the Council's services (e.g. Executive Services, Finance, Personnel), 
together with the costs of pooled administrative buildings.

TEMPORARY LOANS

Money borrowed for an initial period of less than one year.

USABLE CAPITAL RECEIPTS

Funds received by an authority from the sale of capital assets that have yet to be used to 
finance capital expenditure or repay debt.

WORK IN PROGRESS

This is the cost of work done at the year-end which had not been recharged at the Balance 
Sheet date.

193



APPENDIX 2

Dear Sirs,

Dover District Council
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements 
of Dover District Council for the year ended 31 March 2017 for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and applicable law. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements

i We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 ("the Code") which give a true and fair 
view in accordance therewith.  

ii We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the Council and 
these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the financial statements.

iii The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has been 
no non-compliance with requirements of regulatory authorities that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance.

iv We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those 
measured at fair value, are reasonable.

vi We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the financial 
statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in the 
financial statements. There are no other material judgements that need to be disclosed.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Grant Thornton House
Melton Street
Euston Square
London NW1 2EP

Finance
White Cliffs Business Park
Dover
Kent CT16 3PJ
Telephone: (01304) 821199
Fax: (01304) 872300
DX: 6312
Minicom: (01304) 820115
Website: www.dover.gov.uk

Contact: Mike Davis
Direct line:  01304 872107
e-mail: mike.davis@dover.gov.uk
Our ref: Statement 2015/16
Your ref:
Date: 28th September 2017

194



2

vii Except as disclosed in the financial statements: 
a) there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b) none of the assets of the Council has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged
c) there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring 

items requiring separate disclosure. 

viii We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation of 
pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits disclosures are 
consistent with our knowledge.  We confirm that all settlements and curtailments have been 
identified and properly accounted for.  We also confirm that all significant post-employment 
benefits have been identified and properly accounted for. 

ix Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

x All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Code requires 
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.  

xi Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance 
with the requirements of the Code. 

xii We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures 
changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The financial statements have 
been amended for these misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure changes and are 
free of material misstatements, including omissions.

xiii We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xiv We believe that the Council’s financial statements should be prepared on a going concern 
basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than 
adequate for the Council’s needs. We believe that no further disclosures relating to the 
Council's ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements.

xv We confirm that we have informed you of all information available to us for the valuation and 
sale of land in relation to the Aylesham project. Management assumptions are materially 
reasonable. 

Information Provided

xvi We have provided you with:
a) access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 

financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;
b) additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit; and
c) unrestricted access to persons within the Council from whom you determined it 

necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xvii We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management is 
aware.

xviii All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the 
financial statements.

195



3

xix We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial 
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xx We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Council 
involving:

a) management;
b) employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c) others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

xxi We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, 
affecting the Council’s financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, 
regulators or others.

xxii We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing 
financial statements.

xxiii We have disclosed to you the identity of all the Council's related parties and all the related 
party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxiv We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects 
should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement

xxv We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the Council's 
risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any 
significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.

Narrative Report

xxvi The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of the Council's 
financial and operating performance over the period covered by the financial statements.

Approval

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Council's Governance 
Committee at its meeting on 28 September.

Yours faithfully

Signed: Signed:

Name: Name:

Position: Position:

Date: Date:

 Signed on behalf of the Council

196



DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL    
 
 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28 SEPTEMBER 2017                

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

Recommendation

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded 
from the remainder of the meeting for the remainder of the business on the grounds that the 
item(s) to be considered involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
paragraph of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the 1972 Act set out below:

Item Report Title Paragraphs 
Exempt 

Reason Exempt

11 Annual Debt Collection Report – 
East Kent Services 

3 Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information)

12 Annual Debt Collection Report – 
East Kent Housing

3 Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information)

197

Agenda Item No 10



Document is Restricted

198

Agenda Item No 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

211

Agenda Item No 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Quarterly Internal Audit Update Report
	6 Treasury Management Quarter One Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1 - Q1 TM Outturn 2017-18
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	7 Audit Findings Report
	8 Financial Outturn Report 2016/17
	9 Statement of Accounts 2016/17
	Appendix 1 - Dover Statement 16-17 - Governance
	Appendix 2 - Letter of Representation

	10 Exclusion of the Press and Public
	11 Annual Debt Collection Report - East Kent Services
	12 Annual Debt Collection Report - East Kent Housing

